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COMPANY PROFILE
AL bl

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Solargiga”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code:
757) is a leading supplier of upstream and downstream vertically
integrated solar energy services. Its products are not only sold to
customers in the upstream and mid-stream industries, but also
directly to end users.

During the year,
businesses:

the Group was mainly engaged in four main

(@)  the manufacture of, trading of and provision of processing
services for monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers;

(b)  the manufacture and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar
cells;

(c)  the manufacture and trading of photovoltaic modules; and
(d) the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants.

Currently, our integrated business model includes monocrystalline
silicon solar ingot production with annual capacity of approximately
3.6GW, solar wafer production with annual capacity of
approximately 3.6GW, as well as photovoltaic cells production and
modules production with annual capacity of approximately 400MW
and 2.3GW, respectively.

Through vertical integration and strategic partnerships, the Group
actively expanded the business of end-user market apart from its
efforts in stabilizing its upstream and midstream business
development, direct contact with end-users, thereby driving demand
for products from downstream to upstream, covering the entire
industry chain of the photovoltaic sector.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B 5 2

Five-Year Financial Summary TEMBEME
RMB'000 ARETT
2015 2016 2017 2018

“T-RF ZT-RF ZT—+tF ZT-N\F
Revenue WA 2,899,550 3,020,976 3,999,616 4,022,452 4,425,552
Gross profit EH 242,538 329,077 657,873 397,550 341,368
Operating profit/(loss) mERE/ (BR) 152,548 (74,289) 251,595 (95,271) (184,107)
Profit/(loss) attributable to BB REERE/

equity shareholders (B#8) 15,653 (239,149) 107,462 (222,402) (355,492)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share FREXREF / (FE)

(RMB cents) (ARED) 0.49 (7.45) 3.35 (6.92) (11.07)
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,158,228 1,990,045 1,789,319 1,811,054 1,606,272
Current assets REEE 2,554,539 2,284,503 2,821,891 2,754,947 2,822,908
Current liabilities mEasE 2,949,853 2,937,233 3,170,491 3,431,772 3,578,792
Non-current liabilities ERBAR 600,051 458,627 405,290 326,238 394,822

Net assets EESE 1,162,863 878,688 1,035,429 807,991 455,566
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Dear honourable shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited, |
hereby present the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019.

ENEHHRER :

RKAERKRBE X E?Pﬁ@“?%%ﬁﬂL 2]
EUBRRREZEXAQAEHE —hWE+ZA=+-—
ALFEZRERE -

TAN Wenhua,
Executive Director and Chairman
BNE JTEERER



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TE®RESE

Asia is still the main source of demand in the photovoltaic industry,
in which China continues to lead the market. China’s installed
capacity surged far beyond expectations and has ranked first in the
world for six consecutive years. 2019 was the first year for the new
photovoltaics subsidy bidding mechanism in China’s photovoltaics
market. It was also the first year of parallel development of grid
parity and bidding projects. The industry was gradually shifting from
bidding photovoltaics to grid parity. The market is undergoing a
structural transformation. Industry players generally hold a wait-and-
see attitude, resulting in a year-on-year decrease in Chinese domestic
photovoltaic installation. Demands in 2019 is expected to be

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3§ 7
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deferred to 2020. However, due to epidemic of the new coronavirus,
this deferred demand may not be immediately apparent in early
2020. It is judged that the impact of the short-term deferral caused
by the new coronavirus should be limited.

The monocrystalline technology has been regarded by the market as
the mainstream of the future. Effective cost reduction has led to the
rapid reduction of monocrystalline costs and the strong demand has
driven the expansion of production capacity. The future development
trend of monocrystalline is becoming clearer. Demand is increasing
and the market share continues to grow rapidly. In the future, as the
Group focuses on monocrystalline photovoltaic products, and
manufacturing high-quality upstream monocrystalline silicon ingots
and wafers in-house, the Group will continue to develop the
Chinese, Japanese and other overseas markets, and vigorously
promote the Group’s monocrystalline photovoltaics product.

—E-NEFENFRBEEEE_T_TF - AW
ARXIMERSRBEELCTE  HELENFR
MFRELMR B _TFNEE  BHEBER
MEREMEKZBERLEETRENTERBARIR

ERRMBREHTBER/RKIN  BUBERE
AR AR S ERKAREREE - FRERE
EHEERENE ERTERRERBL UM
B 2RWSHESREMNBRIEZM TG
MBAEHREER KRR ERBEINERLNK
Embt¥ YTAREERMEERLEENLKE
mEBEMER SERSEEFREHE  BEAN
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Chairman's Statement
FEREE

With regard to our capacity allocation strategy, after the continuous
adjustment of new capacity during the year and the technical
transformation of existing capacity, from 2020, the Group has
increased its annual production capacity of mono-crystalline silicon
ingots and mono-crystalline wafers to 3.6GW. The annual production
capacity of photovoltaic modules has also been increased to 3.5GW
through an equity cooperation in 2020. Through focusing on
upstream mono-crystalline silicon ingots and wafers and increasing
downstream module production capacity, the Group has formed
strategic partnership between the Group and large manufacturers
focusing on the production of mid-stream solar cells. These external
solar cell manufacturers purchase mono-crystalline silicon wafers from
the Group and in turn sell the solar cells they manufactured to the
Group for the Group’s manufactures the downstream modules for
external customers. This will drive the demand for upstream niche
self-produced mono-crystalline silicon ingots and wafers.

In 2019, total shipment increased from 2,797MW last year to
4,134MW, a growth of around 48%, of which external shipments of
the main products of mono-crystalline silicon wafers and photovoltaic
modules of the year increased by 137% and 27% respectively.
Revenue increased from RMB4,022 million last year to RMB4,425
million, a growth of around 10%. Yet, an increased loss of RMB355
million was recorded, as compared to the RMB222 million in 2018.

The main reason of the loss was (1) unit selling prices has dropped
rapidly during 2019 and China’s photovoltaic power subsidy policy
was introduced later than expected, industry players generally hold a
wait-and-see attitude, resulting in a year-on-year decrease in Chinese
domestic photovoltaic installation; (2) Further, despite the significant
increase in module external shipment, adjustment phase of the
Group's low-cost and high-efficiency production capacity located in
Yunnan Qujing was only completed at the end of 2019, where the
mass production was not achieved during the year; (3) the Group's
production equipment was committed to the technological upgrading
and transformation. While they were completed by the end of 2019,
it has affected production efficiency and economy of scale was not
demonstrated.

During the year, except for the above-mentioned capacity utilisation
rate affecting the gross profit margin leading to the Group’s loss,
the Group's inventory turnover has continued to improve, receivables
turnover day has decreased, and financing costs have decreased. In
addition, the net cash inflow from operating activities during the
year was RMB411 million, and the year-end cash balances has also
been improved for two consecutive years, rising to RMB397 million,
which will help the Group cope with the sudden market changes.
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Chairman's Statement
FEREE

Although the average unit selling price of the product in the future
is still expected to gradually decline with the advent of grid parity,
the Group can rely on (1) the new production base having low
external electricity costs, which directly and indirectly reduces the
production costs; (2) the commencement of mass production by the
new equipment and the completion of upgrades to the old
equipment; (3) technological integration advantages of its various
product lines; and (4) strong client base in China and overseas. It is
expected to lead to continuous growth in the Group’s future
external shipment volume and revenue, it is also expected that the
magnitude of decrease in cost of the Group’'s products will be
greater than that of the decrease in unit selling price, hence driving
the Group’s gross profit ratios to return to a normal level.

As a clean energy source, photovoltaic power generation replacing
traditional petrochemical energy sources has become a global trend.
Even though the current coronavirus epidemic has delayed demands
temporarily, the trend of rapid growth in the demand for
photovoltaic products is unwavering. The road to grid parity may be
a painful change, but the expected explosive growth in the market
after reaching grid parity will provide an opportunity for the
industry. The Group is fully prepared and will do its utmost, to
embrace the growth and development in the photovoltaic industry in
the good times after reaching grid parity.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3§ 9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEBNWN DN

Market Overview

2019 was the first year for the new photovoltaics subsidy bidding
mechanism in China’s photovoltaics market. It was also the first year
of parallel development of grid parity and bidding projects. The
industry was gradually shifting from bidding photovoltaics to grid
parity. The market is undergoing a structural transformation,
improving production capacity and product quality, encouraging
high-end and high-efficiency products, promoting technological
progress, reducing power generation costs, reducing subsidy
dependence, promoting the industry to high-quality development,
and accelerating the achievement of comprehensive affordable grid

parity.

However, the bidding policy has led to a temporary slowdown in the
deployment of the photovoltaic market. Looking back at 2019, the
cumulative installed capacity of photovoltaic power generation in
China was 204.3GW, which continues to maintain its number one
position in the world. However, due to the above market policies,
China’s photovoltaic market had fallen rapidly and product prices
had fallen. The industry had gradually pursued the development of
scale and refinement, pursued of quality transformation, and
continued steady development trend. IHS Markit said that despite the
decline in installations in China in 2019, other international markets
such as Netherlands, Spain, Germany, Italy, Turkey or Ukraine are
growing faster than expected. It is initially estimated that global solar
installations will reach 129GW in 2019 (a 25% increase from

103.3GW in 2018).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S kT

Market Overview (Continued)

According to the latest data from the China Photovoltaic Industry
Association (CPIA), the newly installed capacity of China’s
photovoltaic industry in 2019 was 30.1GW (a decrease of 32%
compared to 44.26GW in 2018), of which the newly-installed
capacity of centralised photovoltaic was 17.9GW (down 23% year-
on-year), and the newly-installed capacity of distributed photovoltaic
was 12.2GW (down 41% year-on-year). In 2019, with the significant
decrease in newly-installed capacity, the production scale of
photovoltaic manufacturing has increased significantly. Polysilicon
production was 342,000 tonnes (up 32% year-on-year), wafer
production was 134.6GW (up 25.7% year-on-year), which mono-
crystalline wafers accounted for about 65%, cell production reached
108.6GW (up 27.8% year-on-year), module production 98.6GW
(17% year-on-year increase). In 2019, China’s total export of
photovoltaic products (wafers, cells, modules) reached USD20.78
billion, the second highest in history.

* for identification only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BHEE T wm Mo

Market Overview (Continued)

In 2019, the energy poverty alleviation work was carried out steadily
and effectively. According to the report of the National Energy
Administration, 4.07 million poverty-stricken households across the
country obtained stable income through photovoltaic poverty
alleviation projects, with a cumulative scale of 19.1GW. “The First
Batch of Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation Projects of the “13th Five-
Year Plan"” (("+Z=ZRH"FE— KX KKEBE T 2E)) with a total
installed capacity of 4.186GW (3.85GW after revision), and “The
Second Batch of Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation Projects of the
“13th Five-Year Plan”” ({"+=F"5F —#t %R B E B 5t 21)) with
a total of 1.67GW, jointly issued and distributed by The National
Energy Administration and The State Council Leading Group Office of
Poverty Alleviation and Development* (Bl &R B & B 7% b X &
FECEE/NEPEANRE), should be completed and connected to the grid
by the end of 2019. The National Energy Administration expected to
establish the “14th Five-Year Plan” and subsequent energy
development plans as soon as possible in 2020.

According to the U.S. Solar Market Insight Report jointly issued by
Wood Mackenzie Power & Renewables and the Solar Energy
Industries Association, in the third quarter of 2019, the United States
solar market installed 2.6GW of photovoltaic capacity (up 45% year-
on-year), the cumulative installed capacity increased to 71.3GW. The
U.S. residential solar market reached record high in the third quarter
of 2019 with an installation of 712MW, of which California, the
largest residential solar market, installed nearly 300MW, breaking its
quarterly record. The total installed photovoltaic capacity in the
United States in 2019 is expected to reach 13GW, an increase of
23% over 10.6GW in 2018. Although the United States finally
decided to waive the 201 tariff on bifacial solar modules at the end
of 2019, due to sensitive China-US trade relationship and strong
opposition from American domestic manufacturing companies,
uncertainty hovers over the waiver decision. With the declining cost
and gradual reduction of the investment tax credit policy (“ITC
policy”) for residential systems, the total installed capacity of
photovoltaics in the United States will more than double in the next
five years. By 2021, the installed capacity will reach 20.1GW before
the expiration of the ITC policy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Market Overview (Continued)

2019 was a challenging year for India, with the Prime Minister
election in the first half and religious riots in the second half. In
addition to the impact of political instability on the Indian
photovoltaic market, factors such as falling power demand, financing
difficulties, tax ceilings, land acquisition issues, weak power
infrastructure, rising solar module prices, and high bidding costs
leading to reduction in the number of bids, have affected the
growth of the photovoltaic market in 2019. According to the Indian
photovoltaic market report released by Mercom India Research,
India’s new photovoltaic installed capacity in 2019 was 7.3GW (a
12% decrease from 8.3GW in 2018), and the cumulative
photovoltaic installed capacity reached 35.7GW. To expedite the
completion of the 100GW installation target by 2022, the Indian
government has vigorously promoted the development of the solar
manufacturing industry by putting on place a more investor-friendly
mechanism and also adjusting the bidding prices. The Indian
government has also launched several large flagship projects that
require the use of domestic solar photovoltaic modules. In addition,
the government has approved a grid-connecting photovoltaic plan
proposed by the Ministry of New and Renewable Energy to complete
photovoltaic power generation projects of 12GW between 2019 and
2023.

2019 was the strongest year for solar energy growth in the
European Union. According to data from SolarPower Europe, the
newly-installed capacity reached 16.7GW, a 104% increase from
8.2GW in 2018. The main markets include Spain 4.7GW, Germany
A4GW, Netherlands 2.5GW, France 1.1GW and Poland 784MW. It is
expected that the overall newly-installed capacity in the European
Union will continue to grow, reaching 21GW in 2020, 21.9GW in
2021, 24.3GW in 2022, and 26.8GW in 2023.
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Market Overview (Continued)

Looking ahead to 2020, according to the PV-Magazine, due to the
impact of a new Coronavirus outbreak in China, the Chinese
government has adopted measures in extending the New Year
holidays in some affected provinces and shutting down major global
solar production areas in order to control the spread of the
epidemic. The epidemic has severely affected productivity, resulting in
a shortage of solar wafers and glass for modules. Solar prices,
including the cost of photovoltaic modules, may rise in the short
term. The Chinese Photovoltaic Industry Association (CPIA) has urged
the government to delay the deadline for large-scale solar projects to
31 March and 30 June 2020. If the virus is brought under control in
the first half of 2020, recovery may begin in the third quarter. At
present, the Chinese market is in the transitional stage to the
development of unsubsidised solar energy, compounding the impact
of the virus epidemic, the CPIA estimates that China’'s new
photovoltaic installations in 2020 will be between 35 and 45GW,
lower than the 40-50GW forecast in early 2019.

According to EnergyTrend analysis, although the domestic demand is
weaker than before, overseas demand has grown steadily. Domestic
companies have accelerated their overseas deployment. With the
recovery of the European market, and the rise of emerging
photovoltaic markets in Southeast Asia, the global market will
become more decentralized, which may help upturn the demand of
the entire photovoltaic industry in 2020, driving a significant increase
in the export volume of Chinese photovoltaic manufacturing
enterprises. It is estimated that the global newly-installed capacity

will reach 125GW in 2020. The top five global photovoltaic markets
are: China continues to rank first, followed by the United States,
India, Japan and the Netherlands. The global photovoltaic market will
show a slight growth from 2020 to 2025, with an annual growth
rate of about 7%.
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Operations Review

The Group focuses on the vertical integration for photovoltaic mono-
crystalline products, providing one-stop solutions for the photovoltaic
industry ranging from the manufacturing and sales of silicon ingots
and wafers, photovoltaic cells and photovoltaic modules, the
installation of photovoltaic system and the development, design,
construction, operation and maintenance of photovoltaic generation
plants. Apart from not self-manufacturing polysilicon, the scope of its
business covers the whole industry chain of the photovoltaic
industry.

Although the Group possesses the capacities to manufacture the
aforementioned mono-crystalline silicon ingots, mono-crystalline
silicon wafers, solar cells and modules, the production capacity of
each is not exactly the same.

After the continuous adjustment of new capacity during the year and
the technical transformation of existing capacity, from 2020, the
Group has increased its annual production capacity of mono-
crystalline silicon ingots and mono-crystalline wafers to 3.6GW. The
annual production capacity of photovoltaic modules has also been
increased to 3.5GW through an equity cooperation in 2020. Under
the consideration of limited resources that need to be coordinated
and allocated, the annual production capacity of mono-crystalline
silicon solar cells remains unchanged at 400MW. However, through
the strategies of focusing on upstream mono-crystalline silicon ingots
and wafers and increasing downstream module production capacity,
the Group forms strategic partnership between the Group and large
manufacturers focusing on the production of mid-stream solar cells.
These external solar cell manufacturers purchase mono-crystalline
silicon wafers from the Group and in turn sell the solar cells they
manufactured to the Group for the Group’s manufactures the
downstream modules for external customers. This will drive the
demand for upstream niche self-produced mono-crystalline silicon
ingots and wafers.
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Operations Review (continued)

Secondly, the Group’s vertical integration of upstream and
downstream capacities, by adopting a dual-track strategy of
continuous development of upstream mono-crystalline silicon ingots,
silicon wafer niche products and downstream module products, while
not proactively expanding the capacity for the mid-stream solar cell,
effectively focuses the Group’s resources and withstands the
fluctuations in upstream mono-crystalline silicon wafer market or
mitigate any instability in the supply of mid-stream solar cells. For
example, strategic partnership formed between the Group and
external manufacturers focusing on the production of mid-stream
solar cells, where in the event of a poor sales market for mono-
crystalline silicon wafers, the Group can outsource these mono-
crystalline silicon wafers to these strategic partners and work them
into solar cells, which is then returned to the Group for continued
production into modules, and then sold to downstream third-party
large module customers. On the other hand, if the sales market for
mono-crystalline silicon wafers is good, the Group can directly sell
the mono-crystalline silicon wafers to these strategic partners, and
then purchase solar cells from these strategic partners in order to
meet the production needs of the downstream modules of the
Group. Therefore, in the market situation where the industry is
changing drastically, the Group can properly arrange the use of self-
produced mono-crystalline silicon wafers, and the solar cells required
for the Group’s module production can also be fully guaranteed. In
summary, the Group can not only give full demonstrate to the
existing manufacturing advantages of upstream mono-crystalline
silicon ingots and silicon wafers niche products, but also establish a
stable sales channel for the terminal module market, so that the
advantages of vertical integration of mono-crystalline products can be
fully realised.

Regarding the production of upstream mono-crystalline silicon ingot
and wafer products, the Group’s low-cost high-efficiency production
capacity located in Yunnan Qujing has completed its adjustment
phase in 2019. Its results are now showing gradually. With the lower
local electricity cost in Yunnan Qujing, its gross profit margins are
recorded at 15% and is expected to reach improved levels. After the
Group's transformation and upgrading work performed on the
original production bases in Jinzhou, Liaoning and Xining, Qinghai
during the year, they are expected to demonstrate their advantages
in production capacity increase and cost reduction from 2020
onwards, which can further improve the Group’s overall gross profit
margin.
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Operations Review (continued)

Since our photovoltaic module customers are mostly domestic state-
owned enterprises or large multinational corporations, the market
position and strength possessed by these module customers are the
most powerful in the overall photovoltaic industry chain. Therefore,
the Group has established a direct supply relationship with large
module customers through significant module production capacity,
which not only maintains a more stable terminal product estuary, but
also drives the utilisation rate of each production segment of the
Group from the bottom up. As such, in order to meet the needs of
module customers, in addition to the 2.3GW module capacity owned
by its wholly-owned subsidiaries, the Group has participated in a
newly-established module manufacturing base of 1.2GW in
Yancheng, Jiangsu. It only invested a small amount of cash for a
direct equity investment of 15%, however, through strategic
alliances among strategic investors and employees of the Group, the
1.2GW module capacity will co-ordinate with the manufacturing
needs of the Group and it has already begun production in 2020.
The Group's effective module production capacity has been increased
to 3.5GW in 2020, which can greatly increase the economic scale
advantage of module products.

In terms of operating results, reaping the benefits of the results from
strengthening the customer relationship of downstream module
products over the years, the Group’s high-end photovoltaic products
continued to be welcomed by domestic state-owned enterprises and
multinational corporations. Total shipment increased from 2,797MW
in 2018 to 4,134MW in 2019, a growth reaching 48%. However,
unit selling prices has dropped rapidly during 2019 and China’s
photovoltaic power subsidy policy was introduced later than
expected, industry players generally hold a wait-and-see attitude,
resulting in a year-on-year decrease in Chinese domestic photovoltaic
installation. Further, since the production capacity of the Group's
new low-cost high-efficiency mono-crystalline silicon ingots and
wafers was in adjustment phase most time during the vyear,
production capacity has not been fully utilised, the advantages of its
economy of scale has not yet been displayed. This forced the Group
to continue to rely heavily on the monocrystalline ingot and wafer
products from its production base in Liaoning Jinzhou. While the
local electricity cost in Liaoning Jinzhou is more than double that of
Yunnan Quijing, it has directly and indirectly contributed to higher
production cost of monocrystalline silicon ingots and wafers. As
such, the Group’s overall gross profit was greatly compressed.
Further, although external shipments of the main products of mono-
crystalline silicon wafers and photovoltaic modules of the year
increased by 137% and 27% respectively compared to last year, the
Group was committed to the technical transformation and upgrading
of the existing production equipment for mono-crystalline silicon
ingots and mono-crystalline silicon wafers and also modules in
Jinzhou, Liaoning. It affected the utilisation rate of production
capacity during the year and hence led to the benefits of economy
of scale not being fully demonstrated. In summary, the gross profit
margin was therefore reduced from 9.9% in 2018 to 7.7% in 2019,
which resulted in an operating loss of RMB184.107 million in 2019,
compared to an operating loss of RMB95.271 million in 2018.
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Operations Review (continued)

As a clean energy source, photovoltaic power generation replacing
traditional petrochemical energy sources has become a global trend.
Even though the current coronavirus epidemic has delayed demands
temporarily, the trend of rapid growth in the demand for
photovoltaic products is unwavering. During the year, due to the
comprehensive upgrade of existing production capacity and the
efficient adjustment of new equipment in 2019, benefits of
production efficiencies could not be fully displayed, resulting in an
increased operating losses. In 2020, relying on (1) the new
production base having low external electricity costs, which directly
and indirectly reduces the production costs; (2) the commencement
of mass production by the new equipment and the completion of
upgrades to the old equipment; (3) technological integration
advantages of its various product lines; and (4) strong client base in
China and overseas, the Group expects its gross profits to return to
a normal level.

While maintaining its own leading technological advantage in mono-
crystalline products, and adhering to the vertical integration strategy,
through external customer demand for the Group’s downstream
modules driving the internal demand of its upstream mono-

crystalline wafers, also through further strengthening its strategic
partnerships with third party mid-stream solar cell manufacturers, the
Group and its partners will be able to leverage their respective
strengths and experiences in laying a solid foundation for broader
co-operation in the future.
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Operations Review (continued)
Silicon ingot and wafer business

Apart from not producing its own polysilicon, a chemical product, in
the scope of its business, the Group covers an all-rounded
photovoltaic industry production chain under its vertically integrated
business model. Among this model, mono-crystalline silicon ingot
products are mostly used for the internal production of mono-
crystalline silicon wafers within the Group, and are less engaged in
external sales. In addition, due to insufficient production capacity of
the Group’s midstream solar cell production, mono-crystalline silicon
wafer products of the Group are mostly sold to third-party
professional solar cell manufacturers. During the year, with the
advantages in application of mono-crystalline products over multi-
crystalline products in photovoltaic power generation, the market
share of mono-crystalline products has continued to increase rapidly.
As such, demand for what the Group has been focusing on all
along, mono-crystalline products, has continued to increase. Its
market share is fast growing. Further, in addition to the traditional
mono-crystalline P-type products, shipment volume of mono-
crystalline N-type products with higher conversion efficiencies are
also increasing. With the continued realisation of advantages in
better improvement in conversion efficiency, more stable decay rate
in its photovoltaic systems, continued reduction in unit costs, etc. of
mono-crystalline products, it is expected that the advantages of
mono-crystalline products will become more obvious in the field of
photovoltaic power generation. Guided by this advantageous
environment in the industry, through its long-term strategic
partnerships with well-known solar cell-focused manufacturers, not
only enjoys priority distribution channels for the sales of its mono-
crystalline wafers, but also ensures the long-term stable utilisation of
the Group’s capacity and shipment volume. The benefits of the
Group’s upstream and downstream vertical integration are fully
realised.

The Group have consolidated its leading position in the mono-
crystalline silicon solar ingot and wafer manufacture industry in
terms of technology and product quality. The quality stability of its
mono-crystalline silicon products is amongst those of the industry
leaders. During the year, since most of the ingot products have been
reserved for internal use, the external shipment volume of mono-
crystalline silicon ingots has dropped to 204.2MW (413.8MW in
2018). Conversely, external shipment volume of mono-crystalline
silicon wafers has rose significantly to 2,014.6MW (850.3MW in
2018). Major customers of external sales included Aikosolar Group
(BB KIZEELEE), TW Solar Group (B E AFZ A% E), Sumin New
Energy Group (B R #TEEJR S E) and huge state-owned enterprises
in China, such as State Power Investment Corporation (FEIERE
NEEEERF) ("SPICT).
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Operations Review (continued)
Silicon ingot and wafer business (continued)

In addition, the Group has completed the testing and adjustments of
its newly invested low-cost high-efficiency mono-crystalline silicon
solar ingot and wafer project, located in Qujing City, Yunnan
Province, China. It has not only enabled manufacturing in scale from
2020 onwards. With the lower local electricity costs, being lower
than that at previous major production base in Jinzhou, Liaoning, by
more than 50%, it will lift the Group’s overall gross profit and gross
profit margin. Therefore, The Group is currently actively planning the
expansion of the mono-crystalline silicon solar ingot and wafer
capacities in Yunnan, Qujing, in order to take advantage of the local
external production environment, and enable the Group to fully
demonstrate its current technological advantages in production.

Solar cell and module businesses

The Group’s production lines of solar cells are located at the Group’s
manufacturing base in Jinzhou, Liaoning. During the year, the annual
production capacity of solar cells was maintained at 400MW (2018:
400MW). Apart from providing internally to the downstream module
manufacturing subsidiaries of the Group, the solar cells are also sold
to our selected customers in China and Japan. In order to keep
abreast of the latest trends in the photovoltaic industry, the Group
has also been collaborating with university teams of the highest
levels in the field of global perovskite (&5 $K##) research in projects
to jointly develop perovskite solar cells, paving the way for the
development of upstream and downstream products in the next
decade.

Regarding photovoltaic module business, during the year, the Group
recorded external shipments of photovoltaic modules of 1,855. 7MW,
which grew by 27% when compared to external shipments of
1,466.2MW in 2018. Although the market prices has continued to
drop from that of previous years, the Group’s module sales of the
year still increased from RMB3,070.65 million last year to
RMB3,199.10 million in 2019. Even with this significant increase in
shipments of photovoltaic modules, the production has been in fact
been hindered by the technical transformation and equipment
upgrades on the existing module manufacturing capacity during the
year, the advantages of economy of scale have hence not been fully
realised. However, after the completion of the comprehensive
technical upgrade, with the excellent product quality and price
competitiveness, the Group is expected to continue to record rapid
growth in external shipments and total sales, and to make full use of
the expected economies of scale. External sales was mainly made to
huge Chinese state-owned enterprises and Japanese multinational
enterprises, such as SPIC, China Huadian Corporation (A Bl & &£ &
A Al) ("Huadian”), Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (1b &% 2 j% 2
B B B 2~ &) (“BEGCL"), SHARP Corporation (“SHARP”) and
SANSHIN ELECTRONICS CO., LTD., etc.
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Operations Review (continued)
Solar cell and module businesses (continued)

On the other hand, following the increasing awareness of the
benefits of higher conversion efficiency and more competitive costs
offered by the Group’s focused monocrystalline photovoltaic
modules, and responding to the opportunity offered by grid parity,
market share of monocrystalline module products continues to grow
quickly. Demand for N-type mono-crystalline and P-type PERC
photovoltaic modules have surged. In addition to flexibly supporting
the manufacturing of mono- and multi-crystalline photovoltaic
modules, the Group will continue to expand and strengthen the
development and sales of monocrystalline silicon high-efficiency
module products such as N-type double-sized glass photovoltaic
modules, half-cell photovoltaic modules, P-type monocrystalline solar
cell Passivate Emitter and Rear Cell (PERC), smart photovoltaic
modules, and related high-end products. Among them, installation of
the new production lines of our BS modules of N-type
monocrystalline IBC solar cell, which produces higher current output,
open circuit voltage, fill factor and other electrical performance
advantages, have been completed. Product quality and conversion
has been stable. External sales has been recorded since the first half
of 2019. BS modules utilises, first in the country, this
internationally-leading FPC manufacturing technique, with SHARP,
the Group’s key strategic partner, being its major sales customer.

As a company focusing on monocrystalline silicon photovoltaic
products, equipped with high-quality, self-produced upstream mono-
crystalline silicon ingots and mono-crystalline silicon wafers,
customers’ demand for the Group’s mono-crystalline modules has
always remained high. Currently, proportion of sales of the Group’s
mono-to-multi-crystalline silicon photovoltaic modules has remained
at 85:15 and the market share of mono-crystalline silicon
photovoltaic products is expected to rise continuously.
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Operations Review (continued)
Solar cell and module businesses (continued)

In summary, through customer demand for the Group’s downstream
modules, it has not only driven the demand for the Group's
upstream mono-crystalline ingots and mono-crystalline wafers, but
also helps to realise the benefits arising from the Group's vertical
integration strategy, and to better mitigate the market risks arising
from fluctuant sales of upstream silicon wafers or unstable supply of
mid-stream solar cells.

Construction and operation of photovoltaic system
business

To consolidate its advantages of the business model of vertical
integration, the Group actively expanded the business of end-user
market apart from its efforts in stabilising its upstream and
midstream business development, thereby driving demand for
products from downstream to upstream. As such, in respect of the
business opportunity derived from the construction of distributed
power plants, apart from establishing internal photovoltaic power
plant system companies of the Group, the Group also plans to
establish joint venture companies with companies from other
industries in order to share the profits and also provide extra
distribution channels for the Group’s module sales.
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Financial Review
Revenue

The cost of photovoltaic power generation must continue to decline
as technology continues to improve in order to replace traditional
petrochemical energy in a larger scale and to effectively achieve the
goal of green and clean energy. As such, although the average
selling price during the year declined substantially over last year, as
a result of successful customer development, the size of the
customer base and the purchases by individual customers are
showing continuous growing trends. The external shipment volume
increased significantly by 48% compared to last year. The Group has
also continued to maintain its growing trend and recorded revenue
of RMB4,425.552 million for the year ended 31 December 2019, a
10% increase from RMB4,022.452 million in 2018.

Cost of sales

Up to 31 December 2019, cost of sales increased from
RMB3,624.902 million last year to RMB4,084.184 million,
representing an increase of 12.7%, which was mainly resulted from
the increase in shipment volume. Cost of sales represented 92.3% of
total revenue, representing an increase of 2.2 percentage points
from 2018. The increase in this ratio was mainly due to the
continuous decline in market prices during the year compared to last
year, and the failure to mass-produce as a result of the testing and
adjustment of new production capacity, and the fact that the
existing production capacity was upgraded, which affected the actual
output, hindering the demonstration of the Group’s advantages of
economy of scale.
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Financial Review (continued)
Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of RMB341.368 million and a
gross profit margin of 7.7% in 2019, as compared to a gross profit
of RMB397.55 million and a gross profit margin of 9.9% in 2018.
Both gross profit and the gross profit margin recorded declines. The
main reason was unit selling prices has dropped rapidly during 2019
and China’s photovoltaic power subsidy policy was introduced later
than expected, industry players generally hold a wait-and-see
attitude, resulting in a year-on-year decrease in Chinese domestic
photovoltaic installation. Further, despite the significant increase in
module external shipment, the Group’s low-cost and high-efficiency
production capacity located in Yunnan Qujing was still in adjustment
phase during the year, production capacity was not fully utilised. This
forced the Group to continue to rely heavily on the mono-crystalline
ingot and wafer products from its production base in Liaoning
Jinzhou. While the local electricity cost in Liaoning Jinzhou is more
than double that of Yunnan Qujing, it has directly and indirectly
contributed to higher production cost of monocrystalline silicon
ingots and wafers. As such, the Group’s overall gross profit was
being affected. Further, although the main products shipment of
mono-crystalline silicon wafers and photovoltaic modules during the
year increased by 137% and 27% respectively compared with last
year, the Group was committed to the technological upgrading and
transformation of production equipment has affected production
efficiency and led to gross profit performance to be below
expectation.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised packaging
expenses, freight charges and insurance expenses. Selling and
distribution expenses increased to RMB84.583 million in 2019 from
RMB77.447 million in 2018. The increase in selling and distribution
expense was mainly due to the increase in volume of external
shipment in 2019.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs and research
and development expenses. The administrative expenses in 2019
amounted to RMB409.458 million, as compared to RMB377.609
million in 2018. The increase was mainly due to the commissioning
of the new Yunnan Qujing project in 2019 and continued
investment in related research and development expenses.
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Financial Review (continued)
Finance costs

Finance costs represented mainly bank loan interests. The Group’s
finance costs decreased from RMB136.012 million in 2018 to
RMB123.13 million in 2019, a decrease of 9.5%. As mentioned
above, external shipment of the Group has grown significantly by
48%. With an increase in amount of relevant purchases, the Group’s
finance cost, however, did not increase correspondingly. This was due
to the Group’s continued better financial control on the use of funds
during the year. Our banks were also showing greater confidence in
the Group and have increased their facilities during the vyear
respectively, which included China Zheshang Bank increasing its
facilities of pledged borrowings for the Group to RMB800 million.
The Group expects to control its finance costs effectively, and will
obtain various different financing channels in the future.

Income tax

Income tax expense was RMB41.308 million in 2019, while an
income tax credit amounted to RMB12.157 million was recorded in
2018. The income tax expense recorded in 2019 was mainly due to
the Group reversing the recognition of deferred tax assets in
previous years.

Loss attributable to the equity holders

In 2019, the Group recorded a loss attributable to the equity
shareholders of RMB355.492 million, as compared to a loss
attributable to the equity shareholders of RMB222.402 million in
2018.

Inventory turnover days

In order to replace traditional petrochemical energy in a larger scale
and to effectively achieve the ultimate goal of green and clean
energy, continuous technological advancement has driven down the
prices of photovoltaic products over the years. This led to declining
trends in prices of many related raw and auxiliary materials for
production and finished products. Hence, in terms of inventory
reserve strategy, the Group has been focusing its efforts in raising
inventory turnover and lowering the inventory turnover days in order
to mitigate the risk of a sudden decline in inventory prices, help
reduce committed capital and, at the same time, further strengthen
the Group’s operation working capital. As a result, the Group's
inventory turnover days has been lowered to 33 days during the year
(31 December 2018: 37 days).
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Financial Review (continued)
Trade receivable turnover days

The Group completed the vertical integration of upstream and
downstream mono-crystalline silicon products since 2011. Apart from
not producing polysilicon in-house, the scope of the Group's
business covers self-production of mono-crystalline silicon ingots,
mono-crystalline silicon wafers, solar cells and solar modules.
However, due to the large capacity of upstream products in earlier
years, external sales were at the time dominated by mono-crystalline
silicon wafers. Hence, to get closer to the customer needs of the
module end-user market, the capacity of module production rapidly
increased from 400MW in 2013 to 2.3GW in 2019. Under the rapid
growth of the capacity of module production, the solar modules
sales accounted for over 70% of the Group’s overall sales.

According to the terms of the industry’s general module sales
contract, the recovery of module receivable depends on the
construction progress of the photovoltaic power plant. For instance,
some trade receivables can only be recovered after the customer’s
photovoltaic power plant is connected to the grid. In addition, 10%
of the total amount of receivables are retained as warranties. These
warranties will generally be recovered in around one year. As a
result, the trade receivables turnover days of module business are
generally longer. Even so, due to the continuously effective
management of accounts receivable, the collection has been
improved, resulting in the Group’s trade receivables turnover days
being reduced to 113 days in 2019 (2018: 141 days).

Trade payable turnover days

The trade payables turnover day was 130 days, which rose
comparing to 124 days of last year, was mainly due to the strategic
partnerships established with our major suppliers, under stable and
frequent co-operations, and the suppliers have gradually increased
our lines of credits and payment terms.

Bt 7% [B] B8 ()

eI E ZERFEE H

AEERN - —ENENTESESLTHE
EEA—BBALELN HEBBERT A
BTEESQEN  BREE EREN B
AHEEATAE BVHER I HEREGE
EBRA MEBHNEENAESELS AT A
i ATEETRELRAETENESER
YR BE Bt = T — = 400K FL B 48 1 E B bR R IR
BT NFEMIEE CHEEELHAR
MET BAAMHHEL SR T EmBByE
70% LA | o

RIBITH — B HE S R - 48 4 B UIR 3K
MEWEBR AR B BERNER  flm: BoHE
WIE R T EFREEN BT BEKREWE - B
HEBERKIRREENIONA LIEAERSE
MEERSAFTR —FERA LR - A ER
BREZRZEBEEZTRERE - BEML R
ERERREFNERERE  KABRAMmMSEE
Bt ER T NFArAEERKEZRRES
BRAZENBB(ZZE—N\F:1418) -

ENESERERAEHEAR
AFEEMNESERAEH A130B K EF124H IR
B ERAEEETEHEBREOHKARBEEHS
FOAERBTHBENAGET HEFZRHRSY
REBERNFEREEHEIRE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

BHEE T m MO

Financial Review (continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

The principal sources of working capital of the Group during the
year were cash flows from bank borrowings. As at 31 December
2019, the current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of
the Group was 0.79 (31 December 2018: 0.80). The Group had net
borrowings of RMB1,010.194 million as at 31 December 2019 (31
December 2018: RMB1,125.436 million), including cash in bank and
on hand of RMB396.854 million (31 December 2018: RMB239.712
million), pledged deposits of RMB403.191 million (31 December
2018: RMB425.309 million), bank loans due within one year of
RMB1,680.914 million (31 December 2018: RMB1,773.140 million)
and non-current bank and other loans of RMB129.325 million (31
December 2018: RMB17.317 million). The net debt to equity ratio
(net debt divided by total equity) was 221.7% (31 December 2018:
139.3%).

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA")

During the period, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA") was RMB49.126 million (1.11% to revenue)
(2018: RMB136.938 million, 3.4% to revenue). The main reason for
the decrease in EBITDA was due to the Group’s net loss during the
year.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, cash, bank deposits and bank loans that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency,
Renminbi, of the operations to which they relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily the US Dollar and Euro. The
Directors do not expect any significant impact from the change in
exchange rates since the Group uses foreign currencies received from
customers to settle the amounts due to suppliers which naturally
mitigates the exchange rate risk. In addition, the Group will consider
the difference in interest rates and fluctuations in the exchange rates
of foreign currency denominated and local currency-denominated
loan balance, and the need to mitigate the risk through low-risk
forward contracts, in order to strike a balance between the exposure
to the variations in interest costs and fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates.

Human resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 4,036 (31 December 2018:
3,669) employees.
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Future prospects and strategies

As a clean energy source, photovoltaic power generation replacing
traditional petrochemical energy sources has become a global trend.
The market is now undergoing a structural transformation. In
addition to the technological advantages of mono-crystalline silicon
products, which has been the Group’s focus, being proven to be
superior to multi-crystalline products, through the continued
reduction of government subsidies, or even without subsidies, it is
also advancing technological progress and reducing power
generation costs, to promote the acceleration of the industry in the
achievement of comprehensive grid parity.

After years of rapid development, the Chinese photovoltaic industry
is leading its peers in the world. Its annual output in China has
exceeded RMB400 billion, and it has provided millions of jobs. It has
made a significant contribution to China’s economic growth. It is
expected that the Chinese government will continues its long-term
support to the photovoltaic industry. Year 2019 is the first year of
implementing a new mechanism for photovoltaic subsidy bidding,
and it is also the first year of parallel development of grid parity and
bidding projects. Compounded with the effect of the later-than-
expected introduction of China’s photovoltaic power subsidy policy
during the year, industry players generally hold a wait-and-see
attitude, resulting in a year-on-year decrease in domestic
photovoltaic installation of 30.1GW in China compared with last
year. This is expected to be a short term response. Demands in 2019
is expected to be deferred to 2020. However, due to epidemic of the
new coronavirus, this deferred demand may not be immediately
apparent in early 2020, but it is estimated that the global new
photovoltaic installation in 2020 may still reach 140 to 150GW.
Among them, China is expected to account for around 40GW. It is
judged that the impact of the short-term deferral caused by the new
coronavirus should be limited.

As for the technology of photovoltaic products, due to the
advantages of high conversion ratios, stable decay rate in its
photovoltaic systems, continued reduction in unit cost, etc. of mono-
crystalline products are highlighted, market share of monocrystalline
products will continue to rise. Therefore, monocrystalline products
has become the popular choice in solar project. Hence, the
proportion of solar plants installing mono-crystalline photovoltaic
systems and the mono-crystalline products used by distributed power
plants have been increasing as a result.
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Future prospects and strategies (continued)

The Group focuses on mono-crystalline silicon products in
photovoltaic products and has industry-leading production
technology of mono-crystalline products. In the upstream and
downstream of the vertical integration of the photovoltaic industry,
while not producing chemical raw material polysilicon, its business
form covers the entire photovoltaic industry. The chain can fully
leverage the synergies between the Group’s businesses. The focus is
on the production of upstream mono-crystalline silicon ingots and
silicon wafers, and planning the downstream module production
capacity, in order to focus on the production of upstream niche
products, mono-crystalline silicon ingots and wafers, retaining only a
small scale solar cell manufacturing capacity, and through significant
module production capacity, the Group not only maintains direct
contact with downstream module customers with huge market
power, establishes stable supply and demand relations but also keeps
a finger on the pulse of the end-user market, and can also bring out
the upstream high-end mono-crystalline silicon ingot and wafer
products. Through the potential of continuous improvement in
production costs of the upstream high-end mono-crystalline ingot
and wafer products, the Group’s innate advantage will be
demonstrated. As such, in order to meet the needs of module
customers, in addition to the 2.3GW module capacity owned by its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, the Group has participated in a newly-
established module manufacturing base of 1.2GW in Yancheng,
Jiangsu. It only invested a small amount of cash for a direct equity
investment of 15%, however, through strategic alliances among
strategic investors and employees of the Group, the 1.2GW module
capacity will co-ordinate with the manufacturing needs of the Group
and it has already begun production in 2020. The Group’s effective
module production capacity has been increased to 3.5GW in 2020,
which can greatly increase the economic scale advantage of module
products, and also provide a more stable outlet of the Group’s
3.6GW upstream mono-crystalline silicon ingots and wafers
production capacity.
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Future prospects and strategies (continued)

Although the average unit selling price of the product in the future
is still expected to gradually decline with the advent of grid parity,
the Group can rely on (1) the new production base having low
external electricity costs, which directly and indirectly reduces the
production costs; (2) the commencement of mass production by the
new equipment and the completion of upgrades to the old
equipment; (3) technological integration advantages of its various
product lines; and (4) strong client base in China and overseas. It is
expected to lead to continuous growth in the Group’s future
external shipment volume and revenue, it is also expected that the
magnitude of decrease in cost of the Group’s products will be
greater than that of the decrease in unit selling price, hence driving
the Group’s gross profit ratios to return to a normal level.

The road to grid parity may be a painful change, but the expected
explosive growth in the market after reaching grid parity will provide
an opportunity for the industry. The Group is fully prepared and will
do its utmost, to embrace the growth and development in the
photovoltaic industry in the good times after reaching grid parity.

Event after reporting period

Given the dynamic circumstances and uncertainties across the global
markets to be recovered from the outbreak of the coronavirus
disease 2019 (“COVID-19"), as of the reporting date, there was no
material adverse effect on the financial statement as a result of the
outbreak. However, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
development of the situation and accordingly evaluate the impact on
the financial position and performance, which will be reflected in the
Group’s 2020 interim and annual financial statements.

Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and the Group’s
consolidated financial results for the year ended 31 December 2019,
and has discussed and reviewed the risk management, internal
control and reporting matters.

Dividend

No final dividend was paid in 2019 (2018: Nil). The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2019 (2018: Nil).
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Delisting of Taiwan Depositary Receipts

The Company received a notice from the Taiwan Stock Exchange on
2 October 2019, whereby the Taiwan Stock Exchange indicated that
it shall require the TDRs to be delisted with effect from 12
November 2019 pursuant to the relevant rules of the Taiwan Stock
Exchange as the net assets value of the Group fell below one-third
of the sum of the share capital and the share premium of the
Company as set out in the unaudited consolidated interim financial
results of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2019. As
such, the last trading day of the TDRs shall fall on 11 November
2019.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 23
June 2020 to 30 June 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 22 June 2020.
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Overview

The board of Directors (the “Board”) strived to uphold good
corporate governance and adopted sound corporate governance
practices. This report outlines the principles and the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), as
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which have been adopted by
the Group.

The Company has established the audit committee (the *“Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Code to oversee the financial
reporting procedures and internal controls of the Group so as to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company has also
established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
(collectively, the “Board Committees”) with defined terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board Committees have
been posted on the websites of Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Group has implemented a compliance manual which covers areas
such as ongoing compliance obligations of the Company and the
Directors, business operations of the Group, financial management
systems, human resources management systems, internal control
systems, quality assurance and property management systems. In the
opinion of the Board, all the code provisions set out in the Code
were met by the Company throughout the financial year ended 31
December 2019.

Compliance with the Model Code for
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities
transactions entered into by Directors. The Company has made
specific enquiries of all the Directors and all the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions throughout the financial year ended 31
December 2019.
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The Board of Directors

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of overall business
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitoring the performance of the senior management. The
Directors have the responsibility to act objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Directors also assume the following
responsibilities for corporate governance as set out in code provision
D3.1 of the Code:

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e)  to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

As at 31 December 2019, the Board comprises seven Directors,
including three executive Directors: Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman),
Mr. TAN Xin (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. WANG Junze (Chief
Financial Officer), one non-executive Director: Mr. HSU You Yuan,
and three independent non- executive Directors: Dr. WONG Wing
Kuen, Albert, Ms. FU Shuangye and Ms. FENG Wenli. The names and
biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to 49
of the annual report. The Board has a strong independent element in
its composition with over half of the board members being non-
executive Directors to ensure that all decisions of the Board are
made in the best interest of the Group’s long-term development.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
Committees. Further details of these committees are set out below
on pages 38 to 40.
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Board Meetings

The Company holds Board meetings regularly, at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board
meeting will be sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a
regular Board meeting. Reasonable notices will be given to the
Directors for ad-hoc Board meetings. Directors may participate either
in person or through electronic means of communications. The
Company will provide relevant materials to all the Directors relating
to the matters brought before the meetings. All the Directors will be
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and,
upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 8 Board meetings and 1
Shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual

Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Board Shareholders

Name of Directors meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) 8/8 iVAl
Mr. TAN Xin 8/8 171
Mr. WANG Junze 8/8 171
Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 8/8 1Al
Independent non-executive

Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 8/8 iVAl
Ms. FU Shuangye 8/8 171
Mr. ZHANG Chun

(retired with effect from

18 June 2019) 3/3 0/1

Ms. FENG Wenli
(appointed with effect from
18 June 2019) 5/5 0/1
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Independent Non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors possess a wealth of
professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have provided their professional advices to the Board. They have
played a significant role in the Board by virtue of their independent
judgment and their views carry significant weight in the Board's
decision. In particular, they bring impartial views to the Board on
issues of the Company’s strategy, performance and control. The
Board also considers that independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Company’s business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of shareholders are
taken into consideration, and the interests of the Company and its
shareholders are taken into account in all business decisions. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
the criteria Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any re-election of an independent non-executive director who has
served the Board for more than nine vyears, his/her further
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders.

Where an individual is proposed to be elected as an Independent
Non-executive Director at the general meeting, the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice
of the relevant general meeting will include:

o the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

o if the proposed Independent Non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

o the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

o how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

Each of Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU Shuangye has
served as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company for
more than ten years. As Independent Non-executive Directors with
extensive experience and knowledge and in-depth understanding of
the Company’s operations and business, each of them has expressed
objective views and given independent guidance to the Company
over the past years, and they continue to demonstrate a firm
commitment to their role.

The Nomination Committee and the Board consider that the long
service of Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU Shuangye
would not affect their exercise of independent judgement and are
satisfied that each of Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU
Shuangye has the required character, integrity and experience to
continue fulfilling the role of an Independent Non-executive Director.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. TAN Xin has been appointed as
an executive Director for a specific term of three years commencing
from 18 June 2019 and 28 June 2017 respectively. Mr. WANG Junze
has been appointed as an executive Director for a specific term of
three years commencing from 21 June 2018. Such terms are subject
to re-appointment by the Company at an annual general meeting
upon retirement.

Mr. HSU You Yuan has been appointed as non-executive Director for
a specific term of three years commencing from 21 June 2018. Such
terms are subject to re-appointment by the Company at an annual
general meeting upon retirements.

Ms. FU Shuangye has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director for a specific term of three years commencing
from 21 June 2018, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. Feng
Wenli has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
for a specific term of three years commencing from 18 June 2019.
Such terms are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Mr. ZHANG Chun, being in advanced age, did not offer himself for
re-election at the AGM held on 18 June 2019 and will retire as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Board and chairman
of the nomination committee of the Board with effect from the
close of the AGM held on 18 June 2019. Mr. ZHANG confirmed that
he has no disagreement with the Board of Directors and is not
aware of any matters relating to his resignation that need to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. TAN Xin, Mr. WANG Junze and Mr. HSU You Yuan
will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and
being eligible, and will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

Training and Professional Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Directors have been given relevant guideline materials to ensure that
they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and
regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s businesses, and
to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and
duties of a listed company director.
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Training and Professional Development
(continued)

All Directors had provided a record of training they received during
the year to the Company. According to the training records provided
by the Directors, the trainings attended by them during the
reporting period is summarised as follows:

Trainings on corporate
governance and
Directors regulatory development

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) v
Mr. TAN Xin v
Mr. WANG Junze v

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan v

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert v
Ms. FU Shuangye v/
Ms. FENG Wenli v

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ") should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual.

The role of the Chairman was performed by Mr. TAN Wenhua. Mr.
TAN Wenhua is an executive Director who is responsible for the
management of the Board and he also involves in the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business. The role of CEO is performed
by Mr. TAN Xin.

The overall management of the Company was performed by the
CEO, executive Directors and senior management of the Company.
The executive Directors (Mr. TAN Wenhua, Mr. TAN Xin and Mr.
WANG Junze) who have extensive experience in the solar energy
industry and their respective areas of profession, spearhead the
Group's overall development and business strategies.
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Board Committees
Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of and
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include overseeing the financial reporting processes and
internal control procedures of the Group, reviewing the financial
information of the Group and considering issues relating to the
external auditor. Currently, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen,
Albert (Chairman), Ms. FU Shuangye and Ms. FENG Wenli.

In 2019, the Audit Committee met 2 times and the attendance of
individual Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Name of Directors meetings
Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) 2/2
Ms. FU Shuangye 2/2
Mr. ZHANG Chun (retired with effect from
18 June 2019) 171
Ms. FENG Wenli (appointed with effect from
18 June 2019) 171

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim financial
report for the six months ended 30 June 2019 and annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and has also discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters with the management. The Audit
Committee also monitored the Company’s progress in implementing
the Code as required under the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant
to Rules 3.25 to 3.27 of and Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration. Currently, the Remuneration
Committee consists of four members; three of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. FU Shuangye
(Chairman), Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FENG Wenli, and
one is an executive Director, namely, Mr. TAN Wenhua.
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Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)
In 2019, the Remuneration Committee met once and the attendance

of individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:
Attendance/
Number of
Name of Directors meetings
Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. FU Shuangye (Chairman) 171
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 11
Mr. ZHANG Chun (retired with effect from
18 June 2019) 11
Ms. FENG Wenli (appointed with effect from
18 June 2019) 0/0
Executive Director
Mr. TAN Wenhua 1Al

The Remuneration Committee has made recommendations to the
Board regarding the remuneration policy of the Company. In
addition, it has also reviewed and approved management’s
remuneration proposal and directors’ service contracts by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board, and ensured
that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant to
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for recruiting Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of formal and
transparent procedures for nomination procedures and process and
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship and senior management.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of four members;
three of whom are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms.
FENG Wenli (Chairman), Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU
Shuangye, and one is a non-executive Director, namely, Mr. HSU You
Yuan.

In 2019, the Nomination Committee met once and the attendance

of individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:
Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Chun (retired with effect from

18 June 2019) 1
Ms. FENG Wenli (appointed with effect from

18 June 2019) (Chairman) 0/0
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 11
Ms. FU Shuangye 171
Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 11
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Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee has discussed matters relating to the
appointment of senior management members during the year. The
Nomination Committee also considered and resolved that all the
existing Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
Company.

Board Diversity

The Board has a board diversity policy which is available on the
Company’s website. In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives
among members of the Board, it is the policy of the Company to
consider a number of factors when deciding on appointments to the
Board and the continuation of those appointments. Such factors
include gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and the
legitimate interests of the Company’s principal shareholders. The
Board considered the Company has achieved the objective of board
diversity during the year.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in note 9 to the Financial Statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report for the year ended 31
December 2019 by band is set out in note 10 to the Financial
Statements.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

During the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, none of
the Directors nor their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might
compete with the business of the Group.

Mr. TAN Wenhua has confirmed to the Company of his compliance
with the non-competition undertakings provided to the Company
under a non-competition undertaking dated 27 February 2008
(“Non-competition undertaking”). The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that
all the undertakings under the Non-competition undertaking had
been complied with and duly enforced from 1 January 2019 and up
to 31 December 2019.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control
Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Finance
Department of the Company, is responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company and the Group. In the
preparation of financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards have been adopted and the appropriate accounting
policies have been consistently used and applied. The Board aims to
present a clear and balanced assessment of the Group’s performance
in the annual and interim reports to the shareholders, and make
appropriate disclosure and announcements in a timely manner.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The performance and remuneration of the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees paid
and payable to Ernst & Young and other external auditors in respect
of audit services amounted to approximately RMB3,070,000 (2018:
RMB2,791,000). In addition, approximately RMB295,000 (2018:
RMB272,000) was charged for other non-audit services.

Risk management and internal control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and the internal
control of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The
Company conducted regular review to monitor the Company’s
internal management and operation during the year. Procedures have
been designed to review the risk management functions and to
ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
ensure compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

During the year, the Board supervised the management’s design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group; such
review covered all major control aspects of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls.

The Group’s internal audit team plays an important role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Company. The internal
audit team mainly monitors and reviews the matters relating to the
internal control and compliance of the Company, and provides
regular risk-oriented internal audits for its subsidiaries. The internal
audits cover sales, financial reporting and information security and so
on. The internal audit team reports to the Board once a year. The
review covered each of the twelve months of 2019.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Risk management and internal control (continued)

In order to fulfil their fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and
diligence, the Directors will constantly seek advice and assistance
from the Company’s internal legal team and if necessary, seek advice
from external legal advisors in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Company also adopted internal control procedures relating to,
among others, signing authority and procedures since February
2007. The Company has an Audit and Legal Department consisting 3
members with extensive experience in the legal field. The main duties
of the Audit and Legal department include:

o providing legal advice on major business decisions

o reviewing and drafting legal documents

o handling legal disputes

o advising on legal issues related to daily operations

o conducting internal training for compliance matters

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board considered that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective and the Company has complied with the
Corporate Governance Code.

Directors’ responsibility on the financial statements

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019, which
were prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company,
Ernst & Young, on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 70
to 77.

Going concern

Other than the events stated in note 2.1 to the Financial Statements
on pages 92 to 94, there are no material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

Investors Relations

The Company places strong emphasis on its communications with
investors, and considers that maintaining on-going and open
communications with investors can promote investors’ understanding
of and confidence in the Company. The Company disclosed all
necessary information to the Shareholders in compliance with the
Listing Rules and met with media, securities analysts, fund managers
and investors on a regular basis to respond to their enquiries so as
to provide them with a clearer picture of the Company’s
achievements in busmessitmanagement and other aspects.
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The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders. The
Company will meet with the Shareholders and respond to their
enquiries in the general meetings. The executive Directors attended
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 2019.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company (“EGM")

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law (2011 Revision) or the articles of association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post or by
facsimile, together with his/her contact details, such as postal
address, email or fax, addressing to the Board at the head office of
the Company at the following address or facsimile number:

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited

Room 1402, Harbour Centre

25 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Attention to: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Fax: 852 3416 2111

Changes to Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these
documents are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (3 X #), aged 63, an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board. He was one of the founders of the Jinzhou
Plants in 2001. He was conferred various honours including the
Model for the Labour of the Building Materials Systems of the
Nation, the medal of “May 1st” Labour of Liaoning Province, the
Builders Merit award of Liaoning Province, the Outstanding
Entrepreneur of the Building Materials Industry of the Nation, the
Venture Entrepreneur of the Liaoning Province and First Prize
Entrepreneur of Jinzhou. Prior to the founding of Jinzhou Plants, he
was the Chairman of |WMFEAREH(EEH) AREE QA
(Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.) and the Director of
881 — A A (Jinzhou 155 Factory), a state-owned factory engaging
in quartz crucibles manufacturing. He has been granted a special
subsidy by the State Council in 2004 for his contribution in
engineering technology. He is the father of Mr. Tan Xin, the
executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Mr. TAN Xin (%), aged 36, is an executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He holds a bachelor’s degree of
Marketing from the Macau University of Science and Technology,
and a master’s degree of Business Administration from University of
East Anglia, the U.K. Mr. Tan is also the representative at the 11th
and 12th member congress of the National Association of Industry
and Commerce (& B T 5HE), Representative at the 17th National
Congress of the Communist Youth League (% ), Standing
Committee Member of the 11th and 12th Liaoning Province
Association of Industry and Commerce (EE % TR ¥4 ®), and
the Vice President of the Liaoning General Chamber of Commerce
(GEE LB E), Standing member of the 10th and 11th Liaoning
Province Youth Federation (BEZEAEFHMAGEIKEZETKE),
Member of the 12th and Standing Member of the 13th Jinzhou
Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (BMMETZEBRIHZEE, FT=ERHEKZE), and
President of the Jinzhou Youth Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Tan was
awarded the Liaoning “Excellent Entrepreneur” (2FHE % %), the
4th Constructors’ Medal (55 70 JE &% & € &), the “May 1st Labour
Medal” (FL—# 8/ 485), the Jinzhou “Model Workers” (4 &) &),
“Meritorious Entrepreneur” (37 &) 1 % %), “Outstanding Private
Entrepreneurs” (BFHFRE %K) and “Top 10 New Industrial
Enterprises” (L % + K ¥ i 1 ¥ X) and “Top Ten Young

Entrepreneurs” (T{E& F %) and other honorary titles. Mr. TAN
took up the position of Chief Executive Officer of the Group since
October 2016. Before taking the role of the Chief Executive Officer,
Mr. Tan also worked in other subsidiaries within the Group and
accumulated plenty of experiences from his prior positions. He is the
son of Mr. TAN Wenhua who is an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company.
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Directors (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WANG Junze (E#9)2), aged 48, is an executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He joined the Company on
1 January 2007 and was the Company is deputy general manager of
China region, who was responsible for the accounting and finance
matter of the Group. He obtained a Master of Business
Administration from the State University of New Jersey (Rutgers). He
is a certified public accountant in Maryland, the United States. Prior
to joining the Group, he was a Special Assistant to President &
Deputy Spokesman of The Office of General Manager of WWX, the
Spokesman and Chief Financial Officer of Panram International
Corp., a company listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan.

Non-executive Director

Mr. HSU You Yuan (FF %5 i), aged 65, a non-executive Director of
the Company. He joined the Group on 6 February 2007 and was
appointed an executive Director on the same date. He graduated
with a master degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
Culture University in 1980. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HSU was
the Managing Director of Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX") from 1998
to 2003 and later became the Vice-Chairman of WWX in 2003.
WWX is a manufacturer of silicon wafer for the semiconductor
industry and is listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan in
2002. He was the managing director of Silicon Technology
Investment (Cayman) Corp. and was appointed the Chief Executive
Officer of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp., responsible
for overseeing, amongst others, WWX’s investment in the solar
energy industry. In March 2006, he was appointed a director and he
was subsequently appointed as the Chairman of the board of
Jinzhou Youhua in September 2006. Mr. HSU’s previous work
credentials also include acting as Deputy General Manager of Mosel
Vitelic Inc., a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and as
a director and Executive Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic (Hong Kong)
Limited, a subsidiary of Mosel Vitelic Inc. Mr. HSU had also made
contributions to non-commercial sectors in the past. He served as a
researcher, a deputy director, and the director of Business
Department of the Executive Yuan Development Fund of Taiwan
(Note: Executive Yuan Development Fund is now known as National
Development Fund, Executive Yuan). He was also a lecturer of
Statistics and Managerial Mathematics for the Business
Administration department at the Chinese Culture University. Mr.
HSU has been an independent non-executive director of China
Shanshui Cement Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since September 2018.
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Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (£ 5k#E), aged 68, was appointed an
Independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Dr. Wong is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Chartered Institute for
Securities and Investments, UK, Association of International
Accountants, Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong,
The Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Ireland, UK, as well
as a member of Hong Kong Securities Institute, The Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators, Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants and an associate member of The Chartered Institute of
Bankers in Scotland, UK. Dr. WONG had been a director and Chief
Executive Officer of Minghua Group International Holdings Limited, a
listed public company in the United States, until 30 September
2004. Dr. WONG had also been an independent non-executive
director of Rare Earths Global Limited, a company listed on the
London Stock Exchange — AIM Market, since March 2012, and
retired as an independent non-executive director on 2 May 2014
because of the cancellation of admission on AIM of the ordinary
shares of Rare Earths Global Limited. According to the filings made
available to public through the EDGAR database in U.S., for the
quarterly period ended 30 September 2005, Minghua Group
International Holdings Limited was “a small business issuer” and “a
development stage company”. Dr. WONG was the Chief Consultant
of KND & Co. CPA Limited. KND & Co. CPA Limited was
deregistered on 31 December 2017.

Since 1 January 2018, Dr. WONG was appointed as the Principal
Consultant of KND Associates CPA Limited. Dr. WONG has been an
independent non-executive director of APAC Resources Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, since July 2004; an independent non-executive director of
China Merchants Land Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since June 2012; an independent
non-executive director of China VAST Industrial Urban Development
Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, since August 2014; an independent non-
executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, since September 2017; an independent non-executive
director of Capital Finance Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
GEM board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since January 2018;
an independent non-executive director of China Medical &
HealthCare Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since December 2018; an
independent non-executive director of China Medical & HealthCare
Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, since December 2018; and an independent
non-executive director of Dexin China Holdings Company Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, since February 2019.
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WONG is an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company and has served on the Board for more than 10 years. As
an Independent Non-executive Director with extensive experience and
knowledge and in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations
and business, Dr. WONG has expressed objective views and given
independent guidance to the Company over the past years. He
continues to demonstrate a firm commitment to his role.

Pursuant to code provision A.5.5 of the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination
Committee and the Board consider that Dr. WONG, being a Certified
Public Accountant, is able to complement the professional
background of the composition of the Board in terms of expertise in
accounting and financial reporting. Notwithstanding Dr. WONG holds
various company directorships in listed companies in Hong Kong, he
devoted sufficient time in fulfilling his role in the Company. During
the past year, he attended and actively participated in the
discussions in all the Board meetings and committee meetings which
he was eligible to attend.

The Nomination Committee and the Board consider that the long
service of Dr. WONG would not affect his exercise of independent
judgment and are satisfied that Dr. WONG has the required
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of
an Independent Non-executive Director and consider Dr. WONG to be
independent.

Ms. FU Shuangye (fF% %), aged 51, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Ms. FU graduated from
Wuhan University with a bachelor degree in English Literature in
1990 and obtained her further legal studies certificate in the Law
School of China Politics and Law University in 1997. She was
qualified as a PRC lawyer in 1998. She was a partner of Zhong Lun
W&D Law Firm in Beijing. Ms. FU is now the Managing Director
Partner of Zhong Hao Attorneys-at-Law. She has extensive experience
in the legal profession.

Ms. FU is an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
and has served on the Board for more than 10 years. As an
Independent Non-executive Director with extensive experience and
knowledge and in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations
and business, Ms. FU has expressed objective views and given
independent guidance to the Company over the past years. She
continues to demonstrate a firm commitment to her role.

Pursuant to code provision A.5.5 of the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination
Committee and the Board consider that Ms. FU, being a practising
solicitor, has extensive experience in legal profession. She is able to
complement the professional background of the composition of the
Board in terms of law and compliance.

The Nomination Committee and the Board consider that the long
service of Ms. Fu would not affect her exercise of independent
judgment and are satisfied that Ms. Fu has the required character,
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an
Independent Non-executive Director and consider Ms. Fu to be
independent.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EEMEREEABRKE

Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. ZHANG Chun (5k#&), aged 87, an independent non-executive
Director, joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Mr. ZHANG
graduated from Tianjin University in 1955 and conducted research on
semiconductor silicon material in it RE G & B RELT (Beijing
Non-Ferrous Metal Research Institution) in the same year. During
1965 to 1979, he was involved in the establishment of the
semiconductor materials factory in Emei and the monocrystalline
silicon factory in Luoyang and their production and technological
management. During 1979 to 1998, he was the supervisor of a
semi-conductor material research unit of Beijing Non-Ferrous Metal
Research Institution, the supervisor of the [ 5% 3 & 82 b1kl T2 52
F 0y (State Semi-conductor Material Engineering Research Centre)
and he also acted as the general manager of € &FEEM K AR

72 A] (Jinxin Semi-conductor Material Company Limited). The (a)
project on 3 to 4 inches monocrystalline silicon for the use in
integrated circuit and (b) the research project on the manufacture of
125mm monocrystalline silicon wafer for the use in 2 to 3um
integrated circuit organized and led by Mr. ZHANG received &£
fi #E 26 — S 42 (the Science and Technology Progress First Prize) by
the China National Non-Ferrous Metals Industry Corp. Mr. ZHANG
was granted a special subsidy of government from the State Council
since 1992, was awarded the title of Supreme Model for the Labour
of the Non-ferrous Metals Industry of the Nation in 1993 and was
awarded as a Bl %t# T{E¥% (National Pioneer) by the State
Council in 1995.

Mr. ZHANG Chun, being in advanced age, did not offer himself for
re-election at the AGM held on 18 June 2019 and will retire as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Board and chairman
of the nomination committee of the Board with effect from the
close of the AGM held on 18 June 2019. Mr. ZHANG confirmed that
he has no disagreement with the Board of Directors and is not
aware of any matters relating to his resignation that need to be
brought to the attention of the shareholders.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile
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Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Ms. FENG Wenli (532 %), aged 63, graduated from Northeastern
University in 1982 with a major in semiconductor materials. From the
same vyear, she worked in & 5 8 & £ B I {F (Luoyang
Monocrystalline Silicon Factory*). She was mainly engaged in
semiconductor-grade monocrystalline silicon ingot-pulling technology
and technical quality management. In 1990, she served as Chief
Engineer of Luoyang Monocrystalline Silicon Factory. In 1993, she
served as the Secretary of Party Committee of Luoyang
Monocrystalline Silicon Factory and from 1995 onwards, she
concurrently served as General Manager of Sino-US joint venture
company ZEHrm & FHM A AR A A (MCL Electronic Materials Co.,
Ltd.*) and has received training on monocrystalline silicon ingot and
wafer technologies and management training from MEMC of the
United States. In October 2000, she worked as Deputy General
Manager of A £ EZ A& (GRINM Silicon Guotai Co., Ltd.*)
under dt R E LB ITAPT (Beijing General Research Institute For
Nonferrous Metals*). She was responsible for the technical quality
and production of heavily blended monocrystalline silicon ingots and
wafers, and participated in the national science and technology
research and development project work on 8-inch heavily arsenic
blended monocrystalline silicon. She served as the Deputy General
Manager of g B 1 2 5 & F # £ 2 & (Shanghai Shenhe
Thermomagnetic Electronic Materials Co., Ltd.*) in March 2003,
where she was responsible for monocrystalline ingot and wafer
production. She has also received training on wafer production,
technology and management from HZARZFZE Q& (Toshiba
Ceramics Co., Ltd.*) of Japan. She was the General Manager of K
SHEMEXRAMEEBR2AQE (Inner Mongolia Minaji Photovoltaic
Materials Co., Ltd.*) in 2006, where she was responsible for the
production of solar monocrystalline silicon and the production of
heavily blended monocrystalline silicon. She retired in 2016 and was
appointed an Independent non-executive Director on 18 June 2019.

The Directors’ interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") are set out in the section
headed “Interest and Short Positions of the Directors and the Chief
Executives of the Company in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” in this
annual report. Each Director has been appointed for a term of three
years. The Directors’ emoluments, the basis of determining the same
(including any bonus payments, whether fixed or discretionary in
nature, irrespective of whether the Director has or does not have a
service contract) and the Directors’ fees are set out in note 9 to the
Financial Statements and the section headed and “Report of the
Directors — Emolument Policy” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed above, each Director confirmed that there are no other
matters that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company and there is no other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

Senior Management

Mr. YUEN Kin Shan (3 #1l), aged 38, is the Financial Controller,
Company Secretary and Investor Relations Director of the Company.
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Accounting from
the University of New South Wales in Australia and a Master of
Business Administration from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia. He joined the
Company in September 2014 and has over 10 years of experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

Mr. LI Hongbang (Z 3§ #), aged 47, the General Manager of Ingot
Pulling and Wafer Slicing Business Department of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2003. He graduated from Zhejiang University in
2010 with a bachelor’'s degree in marketing. From 2005, Mr. LI
served as the office supervisor. Mr. LI was the head of Sales
Department since 2007 and the supervisor of Shanghai Marketing
Center and the head of Sales Department since 2009. Later, he
became the director of Group Production Planning Department in
2013. He has served as the General Manager of Ingot Pulling
Business Department since May 2014, and also served as the General
Manager of Wafer Slicing Business Department since August 2015.

Mr. WANG Lixin (E32%7), aged 52, the General Manager of Cell and
Module Business Department of the Group. He graduated from the
Party School of Liaoning Province in 2000. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. WANG was the Chief Engineer of Jinzhou Thermal Power
Corporation (82 M Z4E 422 &) from April 1990 to May 2008. He
joined the Group as the head of Cell Business Department and
Equipment Department in 2008 and later became the plant head of
Cell Business Department since 2012 and the general manager of
Cell Business Department since 2014. He also served as the General
Manager of Module Business Department since January 2018.

Mr. ZHANG Hai (58/8), aged 37, the Vice General Manager and
general manager of R&D quality assurance centre of the Group. He
joined the Group in May 2009. He graduated from Northeastern
University in 2006 with a bachelor's degree in information
technology and business management and is an electrical engineer.
In 2010, Mr. ZHANG was employed by Huachang Photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd (¥ & % KEHZ B R A 7)) as the head of Quality
Assurance Department. He served as the head of Group Quality
Control Department in 2012 and the director of Group Quality
Management Department in February 2014. In August 2014, he
became the general manager of Module Business Department. Since
January 2018, he served as the Vice General Manager and General
Manager of R&D Quality Assurance Centre of the Group.

Ms. CHEN Linlin (FR¥KHF), aged 42, is the General Manager of the
Group’s Service Assurance Center. She graduated from Dalian
University of Technology in 2000 with a bachelor's degree in
chemical engineering. She obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Dalian University of Technology in 2006. She
joined the Group in 2006 and has held various positions including
project manager, project director, production planning director,

planning director, and administrative director. Since February 2018,
she serves as General Manager of the Group’s Service Assurance
Center.

BREEANER

REBINFKE - 3858 0 RARBIMBRE  REWE
&&ﬁ%%%%%°ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬂﬁﬁﬁ@%kﬂ
BEANBXBLI2U(EREE )&%%ﬂ&ﬁ

ﬂ%&mIﬁﬁﬁﬁiQU°ﬁﬁﬁ§/ & &AM
ARERBMEHMAEEE - KR T — 4 7
ARMARRE  BEE+FET S5 BBE
EREEBELR-

FWAELE 4758 - NEB LA &wﬁ%%%
IR o N — EEEEM%K%E°&F
TERERNHIRE %%m%%%migf
$%$Ef$$£$ﬁE%Q§ﬂIE 572
TLFEEHE BT TAFELBEHET
uz&%%%%ﬁﬁ HEN_—_T—=FF&H
FEEAE BT -WFRATNRAFE
BB YR - FNRAREVRFHE
B ARARIE o

TUMALE 2 AEBEEBL KA EES
RER -BR_TZRFRENFELTRR M
BAEEN EEEB - NANTFHAZ_TZE
NERALERMATL AR HEE TIEA - E
EZNFEMBLREE TEOF FEHEES
ERREMBE ﬁ&%_g—_itﬁﬁﬂﬁ
FEHHE —T— EE@E*&#$¥$D%
BB YR _FT-N\F-AFRCEFETERE
AR o

RBRL 375 AKBERIRKERFERRT

DREE-BR_FZNFRAMBAREE - K
R-CFERNEZERRUEAE  BERELSRME
HHEBRELEM RERIEM - REE_-Z
—EFERBER/ESHANKAR A A MR

R ZZE——FESEERHIT R T —0OF
“AISEEEEEESRE —E—NFENAE

EHEENRELE-—B IR _ZT-N\F-A&
SEBREEFRMEMEDOALE-

PRI 2 I - 425% - ANEE RIS RE AR O AALLIE -
® 20004 - %%Fk@ﬁlﬁa EErETE

B8 R_TETRNFESKREETAETRH
A@ﬁimu°ﬁﬂ_7vﬂimﬁ$ﬁl i
AEEXTE BEHHE L£EIGEE I

T Y
S5 8 IR 745 42 8 o ) AR ©

E-NF-AR - EE



Directors and Senior Management Profile
EEMRREEAEHE

Senior Management (continued)

Dr. LIU Aimin (%]E R), aged 51, is a member of the Group's
Corporate Strategy Committee. He joined the Group in 2017. He
graduated from Lanzhou University in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree
in Physics and, in 1997, obtained a Ph.D. in Semiconductor Materials
and Devices from the Institute of Semiconductors, Chinese Academy
of Sciences. Thereafter, he studied abroad in Israel, Japan and New
Zealand. After returning to China in 2002, Dr. Liu was appointed
professor at the School of Physics of Dalian University of Technology
and also the Director of its Solar Cell Research Centre. In 2014, co-
operating with the Group’s companies, they accomplished the “863”
Black Silicon Solar Cell Technology Project (“863" it A B &
first2l) (the “Project”) under the National High-Tech Development
Research Program (BIR & i B#FCErEl) of the Ministry of
Science and Technology (%2 17 #F). The Project covers the
research on improving solar cell efficiency through nano-structures
and passivation of the surface of black silicon. Dr. Liu was the Chief
Scientist of the Project. He is also a Review Expert for the National
Science and Technology Progress Award.

Mr. LUO Qian (# %), aged 51, the General Manager of Solargiga
Energy (Qinghai) Co., Ltd of the Group. He is a delegate of the 15th
People’s Congress and the 16th National People’s Congress Standing
Committee of Xining City. He joined the Group in 2010. He
graduated from the Faculty of Chinese of Qinghai Normal University
in 1992. From 1992 to 1997, he worked in the labour service
company of Qinghai Provincial People’s Political Consultative
Conference (B /8% B i # 8 4 8 k7 A Al). He served as General
Manager of Xining Zhanging Electronics Co., Ltd. (A ESE T A
fR A a]) from 1997 to 2009. In 2009, Mr. Luo invested in Qinghai
Chenguang New Energy Co., Ltd. (B8R XFEERERETAF)
(“Qinghai Chenguang”). In 2010, the Group acquired Qinghai
Chenguang and changed the name to Solargiga Energy (Qinghai)
Co., Ltd. He then was appointed by the board of directors of the
Company as the General Manager of Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) Co.,
Ltd.

Mr. ZHANG Yubo (38 £14), aged 39, is the General Manager of
Qujing Yangguang Energy Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. of the Group.
He joined the Group in 2005. He graduated from Shenyang Ligong
University in 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in Metalic Materials. Mr.
Zhang became the Group's Head of Technical Department in 2007
and then the Head of the Group’s Yangguang manufacturing plants
in Jinzhou in 2009. Later in 2014, he served as the Production
Planning Director. Since 2017, he was appointed General Manager of
Qujing Yangguang Energy Silicon Material Co., Ltd. (Bh3E[5 5 2R
EEM B R R A).

Mr. SATO Masanobu (B IEiE), aged 50, is the Quality Director of
Solar Cell Business Department and Technology and Quality Director
of Module Business Department of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked in Sharp Corporation from 1988 and had worked
in the semiconductor field for 18 years. After which, for 10 years
from 2006, he served as the Quality Manager in the Department of
Photovoltaic Systems in Sharp Corporation. Since 2016, he serves as
the Quality Director of Cell Business Department and Technology and
Quiality Director of Module Business Department of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEWMES

The Directors present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company of the Group.
The principal activities of the Group are the trading of,
manufacturing of and provision of processing services for polysilicon
and monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, and the producing of
and trading of photovoltaic cells and modules, the installation of
photovoltaic systems and the operating of photovoltaic power plants.
The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of
the operations of the subsidiaries during the financial year are set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. Further
discussion and analysis of these activities, including a description of
an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on
pages 10 to 31 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this directors’ report. The description of the Group’s Environmental,
Social and Governance aspects during the financial year can also be
found in the Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG")
Report set out on pages 63 to 69 of this annual report.

Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

As far as the directors are aware, the group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group's top five customers are mainly silicon solar wafer, cell or
modules manufacturers or traders. In aggregate, the largest and five
largest customers did not exceed 11% (2018: 16%) and 38% (2018:
52%) of the Group’s total sales in 2019 respectively.

The Group currently procures raw materials from about 142 major
suppliers (2018: 116). In aggregate, purchases from its largest and
five largest suppliers did not exceed 13% (2018: 18%) and 39%
(2018: 53%) of the Group’s total purchases in 2019 respectively.
Save for WWX, at no time during the year have the Directors, their
close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had any interest in these major suppliers and/or
customers.

EFREAFRERNBE_ZT-NF+_A=1+—
BLEFENKEERSAVBERR -

FEEK
RAARAAEEREERAFA - AEEXTBEK
EEEREEABGREESMEE HH - A RIEH
KIGEEEREE TERNNIRE TEERE
BEXARBUORMAME  TEAREHFUARLE KR
B e A HFEANNBAG 2 EBEK RIRH
EDOBEDZEEIMEARMEHREN T - 5 H
ZEFINE— LR EIT (BERAEBEERF
A AT R R BE RN R AR M) SR A FRSE
10E3BEEBETSMERIT LR BRAES
EREEN o -MEBAATHRFEARNAREE
RIRB e RERFTEZEML  THEHRANFR
FO3EE9HIRE LS RERHRE °

BFHEBERERER

BEEMA AEECESERTHAETTHAS
BEGMELBEAZENHBEIRZIR BE
TR -NEFEFT A=t -RIEFE EERFH
HEERERBEREBERNTR -

FEXFRHERS
NREBRAABRFTEAABGEEN Bl
BAERSE IR BRARAATENR 2 —NEF
RHEBEED BT BAAEBEEEEMNI% (=
T— )\ :16% ) %38% (- F—\4F :52% ) °

REBEBBRFRNLR(ZE—N\F  116K) T E4#
ERARBEMHE -ZARAAHERIR=Z— A
FHRBEFESNTBEAEERBAENIZ%
(ZZ— N\ 1 18% ) %39% (= F— \4 :53%) °
BRABRHEN  EF  FENBERHEALIRE
ERTMEA AR BB AS% A 2 F/ AR TR
HOBMERAKREENEMERE ERSTEHER
E/SEBEEPHEEEMERS-



Report of the Directors
FESHEE

Financial Statements and Dividends

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 78 to 204. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018.

Transfer to Reserves

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2019 was RMB355,492,000 (2018: loss of
RMB222,402,000) had been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 82.

As at 31 December 2019, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB1,136,994,000 (2018: RMB1,131,488,000).

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to RMB192,000 (2018: RMB659,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2019 are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the
annual report.
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Report of the Directors
FESHEE

Directors

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua, Chairman
Mr. TAN Xin
Mr. WANG Junze

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. FU Shuangye

Mr. ZHANG Chun (retired with effect from 18 June 2019)
Ms. FENG Wenli (appointed with effect from 18 June 2019)

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. TAN Xin, Mr. Wang Junze and Mr. HSU You Yuan
will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
Mr. TAN Xin, Mr. Wang Junze and Mr. HSU You Yuan, being
eligible, and will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service agreement with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Related Party Transactions BHMAIRS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, transactions with the  E—E—NF+-_A=+—HBLFE HT7
following parties are considered to be related party transactions: ATHRGHER BB TS
Name of party &7 &% Relationship %
Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited Controlled by Tan Wenhua, Chairman of the Company
BMERYEERERDA RARRNEEFEEXEES
Jinzhou Youlin Semi-Conductor Material Co., Ltd. Controlled by spouse of Tanxin, an executive director of the
Company
BMERFERBMHERA A RENRATERESORBES
Jiangsu Oriental Huida New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (“Huida”) Associate of the Group
THRABENMEREBRERRA(HED AEEMBE QA
Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Property Development Co., Ltd. Controlled by Tan Wenhua, Chairman of the Company
BMNEEXREHEREZERDA RARREEREEXEES
Liaoning Little Giant Energy Technology Co., Ltd. Associate of the Group
BENEAFERBMEERAA REEMBE QA

Details of the related party transactions are disclosed in note 40 to A BB 77X 5 H B B R R W 5E40H 5 -
the financial statements.

Continuing Connected Transactions BFEBERXS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure AARAER  HERE LHRANELVAZR AR A
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in &M EX S BT EBIFEERT
respect of the Company’s continuing connected transactions.

Connected Transaction BAEXS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the related party transactions #®HE - T—HNWF+-_A=+—HILtFE HKERH
disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements did not constitute 3% MJ #H40FT I B AU RE 8 75 &2 5 I N1 AK £ 48 Bl
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under FTAAZB THEEXIFAFTEBREIFINLS °
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Share Option Scheme i RETE

The Company did not have a share option scheme as at 31 RZ-ZZ—ALF+-_A=+—H A2 8EERK
December 2019. EETE -
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in
the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
associates had the following interests in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

BE HEIWEEALQA LHES

REBEEZZE—NF+ZA=+—HLEFE &R
T&EEHWE AIMEREE HEXBOAR
Al ETmESH -
EERAARRBAHRABREL
AREEBAENRG  HERG
FEFHNEZEAXR
%:%—n¢+—ﬂ_+ H BEEME &

ERAR BITBRABRBEEZHEALRA
QT&E*H swfl(i%ﬁ 7 R EIR GBI (TE %

REE &P BEXVER) BB D - H BB K&
o BEECRERRIEE S A EHRDIE35216 R
EFENELMIARBEETUAEAZTHAEAR
AR B FTH) R AN T

Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage of

shares held shareholding
(Note 1) (%)
Name of Director Nature interest FiEEEREE BHAERES L
BN EEME (P 5E1) (%)
Mr. TAN Wenhua Beneficial interest (Note 2) 556,924,443 (L) 17.34%
BN EL A B g m (M 5E2)
Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2) 155,320,308 (L) 4.84%
Ry EE R (M FE2)
Mr. WANG Junze Beneficial interest 100,500 (L) 0.01%
THELE EmEs
Mr. HSU You Yuan Beneficial interest 15,591,016 (L) 0.49%

AP EE BEmfga

Notes:

(1 The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

(2) As at 31 December 2019, Mr. Tan Wenhua is interested in an aggregate
of 712,244,751 share of the Company, of which (i) 556,924,443 share
of the Company are directly held by Mr. Tan Wenhua; and (ii)
155,320,308 share of the Company are held by You Hua Investment
Corporation, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Tan Wenhua.

GEX
1) PEILERALRESESNGR -

2) R-E-AFE+-_A=+—0 BXELX4LEH
M712,244 751\ A AR RMHFEARETS - B P(>)
556,924,443 RN N AR M B EXELEEER
A X&(i) 155,320,308 AN A A P 0 R B S E S A&
EEMBZHEREBRARAFE -
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the following substantial shareholders (not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO or have otherwise notified to the Company:
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TERERRORMEERADPHE
mRARR

 E_T—NF+_A=1+—8 BEEHMT
BEXHEEN ATTERR(LFEEEHAN
AREITHRAE)RARAR KN RABERG S - %
EERBRBEES M EKRFIFEBKREETE
MELHIESTHEARANERIOAE

Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage of

shares held shareholding

(Note 1) (%)

Name Capacity FIEEBEREE BABERBES X

BB HR ) (M &E1) (%)

Hiramatsu International Corp. Beneficial owner 304,261,692 (L) 9.47%
BEmEAA

Hiramatsu Hiroharu (Note 2) Interest of a controlled 304,261,692 (L) 9.47%

(B 5E2) corporation
REEEER
Notes: B 7% -
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities. 1. FRMLIEEBZATRZEZSNGTFAE -
2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having 2. BEEREE YA EBERERNTIHN 2 &
made all reasonable enquiry, Hiramatsu International Corp. is wholly- KHEE N AR S B H 0 Hiramatsu Hiroharu®

owned by Hiramatsu Hiroharu as at the date of this report. By virtue of
the SFO, Hiramatsu Hiroharu is deemed to be interested in the shares
of the Company held by Hiramatsu International Corp.

Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions’
in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the other persons or corporations (not being a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company)
who have interest or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to the
Company were as follows:

& A Hiramatsu International Corp. ° RIEZEH K
HAE &I - Hiramatsu Hiroharu## 18 & 7 Hiramatsu
International Corp. 358 MAR AN P ELE EZ ©

@&i#?ﬁ&ﬁ@?ﬁ¢m%
E&/KF'

 E_E-NE+-_A=+—R0 BEEMRE
BEXHEEEN UTEMALREZELIFE
F O ARABESTHRAERTERE) RARQ AR
DEBERDT BEAELHENBEZRSALBE
GBI E336IEBEFENELMAERITANES AR
A ER TR E
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Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions’
in Shares and Underlying Shares (continued)

HMWALTHARGORBBERSG S HORE
mRRE @

Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage of

shares held shareholding

(Note 1) (%)

Name Capacity FEEBEREE BARFRE D

2B KR g9 (B 3E1) (%)

Wafer Works Investment Corp. Beneficial owner 248,759,822 (L) 7.75%
("WWIC") EnEA A

Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX") (Note 2) Interest of a controlled 248,759,822 (L) 7.75%

corporation

AEBMEROERATD(EREBED(ME2) S xmes

Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.
2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having

made all reasonable enquiry, WWIC is wholly-owned by WWX as at the
date of this report. By virtue of the SFO, WWX is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by WWIC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or
short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
which fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO.

Directors’ Interest in Potentially Competing
Businesses

Mr. TAN Wenhua, being the executive Director, is interested in other
related businesses, particulars of which are set out below:

Previously, Mr. Tan held approximately 40% interest in Jinzhou
Changhua. On 13 June 2018, Mr. Tan disposed of all his
shareholdings in Jinzhou Changhua to an independent third party.
After the disposal, Mr. Tan does not hold any interest in Jinzhou
Changhua. Jinzhou Changhua is engaged in the manufacturing of
graphite and graphite related products. The business of Jinzhou
Changhua does not compete with that of the Group. lJinzhou

Changhua, as a company which manufactures graphite and graphite
related products, is not a competitor of the Group because (a) the
Group is not engaged in the manufacturing of graphite or any
graphite related products; and (b) graphite is not a substitute for
polysilicon in the manufacturing of solar products currently produced
by the Group.

B
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Non-competition Undertaking

The Directors confirm that they have no interest in any business
(apart from the Group’s business) which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business. The
Directors have also signed a non-competition undertaking with the
Company.

Disclosure on how the non-competition undertaking has been
complied with and enforced would be consistent with the principles
of making voluntary disclosures under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Non-competition undertaking, Mr. TAN Wenhua shall
continue to be bound by the terms of the non-competition
undertaking in the event that he ceases to be a Director but remains
a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is
actual or potential conflict in interest.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company had not
received any information in writing from Mr. TAN Wenhua in respect
of any new business opportunity which competed or might compete
with the existing and future business of the Group which were
offered to or came to be the knowledge of the Mr. TAN Wenhua or
their associates (other than any member of the Group), and the
Company has received an annual written confirmation from Mr. TAN
Wenhua in respect of him and his associates in compliance with the
non competition undertaking. The independent non-executive
Directors have also reviewed and were satisfied that Mr. TAN
Wenhua had complied with the Non-competition undertaking.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director or an entity connected with a director is or
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2019.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts

As at 31 December 2019, no contract of significance and no
contract of significance for the provision of services had been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and as at the date of this
report, the Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Director's and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Retirement Benefit Schemes
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association, or the law of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Special enquiries have been made by
the Company to confirm that all Directors have been complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the corporate governance report on pages 32 to 43.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of
references adopted in compliance with the Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The members of the Audit
Committee are the three independent non-executive Directors, and
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert, an independent non-executive
Director, is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditor and the internal
auditor (where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as
regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal
controls, external and internal audits and such other financial and
accounting matters as the Board determines from time to time.

The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management system of the Group,
overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and
responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board from time to time
and the Company considers these systems effective and adequate.
The audit committee has reviewed the Group’s interim and annual
consolidated financial statements for the year 2019, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group.

Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the Group’s business
and rewarding the shareholders of the Company. The Board shall
take into account the following factors, among other factors:

(@) the Group’s overall results of operation, financial position,
liquidity position, capital requirements, cash flow and future
prospects;

(b)  the amount of distributable reserves of the Company;

(c)  the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans
of the Group;

(d)  the general business and regulatory conditions, the business
cycle of the Group and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group;

(e)  the statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(f) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the
Company to the Company;

(g) the Shareholders’ interests; and

(h)  other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed
with the Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

Auditors

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct audit on
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to reappoint Ernst & Young as the auditors
of the Company.

By Order of the Board
TAN Wenhua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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ABOUT ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

FERIRE - ERERIKSE

This Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG") Report
published by the Group is in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by the Stock
Exchange (the “ESG Reporting Guide”). This ESG report mainly
covers the policies, initiatives and performance of the Group’s
business for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions

As for environmental protection, the Group continues to invest in
energy-saving equipment and emphasize green production while
constantly advancing its technology in energy saving, emissions
reduction and clean production. The Group also controls stringently
the emission of wastes. According to its waste management policy,
wastes have to be minimized, reused and recycled before the last
resort of disposal. The Group regularly keeps track of the latest
national and regional environmental laws and regulations, complies
with relevant laws and rules such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China (Ff#E A R MBI IRBIREE),
the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic
of China (F#E AR KMBEIIREF EFEE) and the Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Environmental Noise Pollution (A ZE A R A0 R H M5 2008
/%), and takes various measures to achieve better performance in
environmental protection amid daily office activities and specific
business operations. During the year, the Group was not subject to
any fines or related litigation in relation to environmental pollution.

Air pollutant emissions

Air emissions include NOx, Fluoride, and other pollutants regulated
under national laws and regulations. Pollutants are primarily emitted
from the raw material cleaning process. The fumes produced during
the acid treatment of silicon feedstock by hydrofluoric acid and nitric
acid are eventually treated and emitted through the acid mist
towers.

Air pollutant emissions of the Group are detailed below:

ABESARBERBBIMABMCRE HER
ERBERIDTNENENRE HEREAR
HFoARE HEREARRETEIEREAKEE
EE-NAF+T_A=T-BHIFENEBRE -
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EBEAT : i
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BEE WTEHBEENEEE BEMBREE
FEOR K AEETREAR G B PN R
BEHEERRX ALEER) ZERARERBE
R RERAEETLENRE - AEBETHE
ERFMBEREMERFEEESR  BT(REA
REMBERRBREZR) (PEARKMBEREY
EFBER (R EARAMBRFHER ISR A
F)ERBERRBAR YRS AEE  BRE
BEMRREHNARBEHDREGEERNRRBR
FA - AKE I E R IRES M E R E A SR K
R B AR A o

ZERTRYWHER

BRAEREEAALY, ALHERELIERL
BROERBENSRY < SRNEBRFRE S
TFHN IAOARMREYERETREES
BB RKEBRBEREN -

AEEZZRSRMBEBAT

2019 2018
—ZE-Hh =N

Fluorochemicals &1t 41
Hydrogen fluoride &1L &
Hydrogen chloride & {t &
Chlorine gas & &
Nitrogen oxides @& 1LY

1.39 tonnesME
0.05 tonnesMg
7.25 tonnesMg
7.25 tonnesMi
0.14 tonnesMg

0.60 tonneshi
0.03 tonneshi
0.13 tonneshif
0.25 tonneshi
0.63 tonneshi
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Greenhouse gas emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions reflect the impact of our businesses on
climate change. Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane,
nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur
hexafluoride. Our greenhouse gas emissions were mainly attributable
to the indirect emissions from purchased electricity.

Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (scope 2):

carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emissions
2018: Approximately 231,688 tonnes
2019: Approximately 303,290 tonnes

Note: An emission factor of 0.88 tonnes CO,-e/MWh was used for calculating
electricity consumption.

Hazardous wastes

The hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly included:

7]
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Spent activated carbon felt cartridges [ /& It fi% 8% J8 /i
Waste EVA/TPT edge strips EEEVA/TPTZ f&
Waste oil [

Spent activated carbon felt cartridges are generated during the solar
cell etching process and contain mainly activated carbon. Filtration
through the activated carbon-based organic gas flaring towers gives
rise to fluorochemical residues. Ethylene vinyl acetate (“EVA") is
produced by our module assembly companies during the trimming of
redundant edge strips in the process of module encapsulation. Tedlar
polyester tedlar (“TPT"”), a solar panel material, is also produced by
our module assembly companies during the trimming of redundant
edge strips in the course of module encapsulation, involving
materials such as polyvinylidene fluoride and PMMA copolymers,
polyethylene terephthalate and tetrafluoroethylene/vinyl ester
copolymers.

Non-hazardous wastes

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly included:

0.5 tonneshif 0.12 tonnesMg
0.5 tonneshif 6 tonneslif
93.6 tonneshif —
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Xylene — F

Waste steel wire B ] 4%
Packaging waste %5 )
Plastic waste ¥8 & G
Waste oil &

12.2 tonnesHf
169.3 tonnes
160.5 tonnes
115.4 tonnesMH

2019 2018
—E—-Hh AN
— 0.2 tonneli#

95.3 tonneshi
299 tonnesh#
173.1 tonnesi#
64.5 tonnesld
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Xylene is used in module experiments primarily for cleaning filters,
upon which waste materials are left behind as residues. Waste steel
wire is the major consumable used for cutting during the wafer
slicing process, and the waste materials left behind are recovered by
professional recycling companies. The Group's four major production
operations all involve packaging equipment, raw materials, auxiliary
raw materials and so forth, which produce paper, wood and plastic
packaging waste, among others. Plastic waste is produced during
plastic packaging in the production process. Waste oil is mainly a
result of the replacement of air compressor lubricants, in particular
during the ingot pulling process.

Prevention of emissions

We pursue to utilize energy efficiently and take this as the primary
approach to reducing greenhouse gas emissions. In order to
continuously improve energy performance and lower carbon
footprint, we have implemented various energy-saving as well as
emission and waste reduction measures such as the air compressor
frequency conversion transformation and air compressor heat
recovery projects. Frequency conversion transformation of air
compressors can ensure not only the effective controls of frequency
conversion in air compressors but also real-time monitoring of
pressure conditions in production systems, therefore saving energy
while coping with systems’ energy demands. This can save us
approximately RMB400,000 on electricity fee per year. Likewise, the
air compressor heat recovery project can ensure effective recovery of
heat energy and reduce energy use by recovering approximately
24,000 tonnes of hot water every year.

Reduction of hazardous wastes and
non-hazardous wastes

The Group has specially set up the Environmental and Safety
Department for monitoring and administering its various eco-friendly
facilities to ensure compliance with national standards for pollutant
and waste emissions. All wastes shall be minimized, reused and
recycled before the last resort of disposal. As for the hazardous
wastes generated during the production process, industry
professionals are engaged to handle their recovery and transposition,
whereas non-hazardous wastes are sold to external parties to
minimise disposal volume.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group strictly executes the policies, regulations and standards on
energy conservation provided by national, local and industrial
authorities, such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Energy Conservation (FFZE AR HEMBEE 498ERE). In order to
achieve better efficiency of resources, the Group emphasizes on
saving energy, water, materials and land, comprehensive use of
resources, and development of circular economy. The Group also
facilitates its sustainable development with better management
measures, an enhanced awareness of saving resources, and efficient
and cyclic use of resources. It strictly manages its use of resources to
ensure reasonable use of resources in the course of operation and
avoid waste. Upon assessment by our Environmental and Safety
Department, there is no significant impact brought by the Group’s
environmental and natural resource use. The Group is active in
practicing the concept of green development and promoting the
green development of the production chain.

Electricity

In 2019, electricity consumption of the Group totaled 344,648 MWh
(2018: 263,282 MWh). Electricity consumption of our four major
production operations is detailed below:

BEA2 : &R
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Power average Power average
consumption consumption consumption consumption
(MwWh) (kWh/unit) (MWh) (kWh/unit)
ERFEE FHEERN BREHEE FHFEER
(kEE) (TR E) (KEE) (TR BI)
Ingots 249,191 25.58/kg A fr 181,082 26.26/kgA fr
Wafers it/ 26,388 0.12/piece /i 24,844 0.17/piece ¥
Solar cells &t 18,302 94.0/kW T K 18,195 75.8/kWF E,
Modules #8 46,926 28.0/kW T & 38,159 27.5/kWF E
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Water

We are committed to using water in a responsible manner and have
developed relevant strategies to reduce raw water consumption and
meanwhile to review the relevant processes and perform regular
monitoring. The Group’s production plants use municipal water as
their primary water source. The use of water is regulated in
accordance with the prevailing energy management rules.
Management of second-tier energy consumption is rationalized and
measuring devices are installed to save water. The Group had no
issue in sourcing water during the year. Concentrated water
produced by ultrapure water equipment for production purpose is
reused, with the annual reuse volume reaching 120,000 tonnes. Both
ultrapure water production techniques and equipment are refined to
increase pure water output and reduce consumption of raw water.
During the year, the Group consumed a total of 1,774,814 tonnes
(2018: 1,341,085 tonnes) of raw water. Water consumption density
was 439.4 tonnes/MW (2018: 404.6 tonnes/MW).

Packing material

The main packaging material consumed by the Group is carton
boxes. These are in line with main customers’ standard packaging
requirements. The total weight of carton boxes used in 2019 was
approximately 3,108 tonnes (2018: approximately 4,036 tonnes).
Packaging material consumption density is 0.75 tonnes/MW (2018:
1.46 tonnes/MW).

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

There is no material impact to the environment and natural
resources from our operation activities, yet to minimise the
aforementioned impact on the environment from our business
operations, the Group implements measures for environmental
protection, including using energy-efficient equipment to achieve
additional energy savings and reduce waste. To reduce energy use,
circulating water instead of coal boiler is used to provide heating in
winter seasons. Further, sewage treatment stations, acid mist
treatment towers, purification towers and so on have been
developed to achieve environmental sustainability. In future, we will
continuously contribute to environmental protection and strive for a
greener environment, in an effort to fulfill our duties as part of a
sharing community.

Social
Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are the important value of our Group. In 2019, the
Group has complied with all relevant labour laws and regulations in
respective countries and regions. The Group offers competitive
remuneration, promotional opportunities, compensation and benefit
packages to attract and retain talents. Salaries are reviewed regularly
in reference to performance appraisals and market trends.
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All employments are based on personal capabilities and qualifications
regardless of race, religion, sex, age, national origin, citizenship or
any other grounds of discrimination. The Group strictly prohibits
discrimination among the employees in all business operations and
also provides equal opportunity to all employees. Stringent and
cautious measures such as training have been implemented by our
human resources department in order to prevent cases of
discrimination.

Total number of employees by age group

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 4,036 (31
December 2018: 3,669) employees as categorized below:

MEREHBERAEREATEMERES Y TF
EEMAER  R# - M5 Fik BE 2RFMHD
SEMEMEANER AEEEREMBEBZ
EMEEZHAEMAKE 2RBEEHEEATLSH
e - LMW ANERBY CETERERE(F
) - AR H BB -

EFRAENEDHEEBRH
R-ZZE—hFE+_A=+—H AEBEEETA
HRA4036A(ZFE—\F+ZH=+—H : 3,669
AN) FEEASMT -

56 or
Under 25 26-35 36-45 46-55 above
565% &
2555 BL N 26-358%  36-45B%  46-555% Bk
2019
Number of employees A& 509 1,576 1,340 547 64
2018
Number of employees ANE 444 1,400 1,274 486 65

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
respective countries, especially those related to its production
processes. A series of health and safety policies is in place to ensure
the overall safety of our working environment. All employees strictly
comply with all the health and safety codes and manuals of their
production processes and departments. The Group also inspects its
plants regularly to monitor and enhance the safety levels inside.
During the year, the Group did not have any non-compliance with
any laws and regulations in respect of employees’ health and safety.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

Training and development always serve as the key factors for
business success. The Group has provided various tailor-made
training programs covering corporate culture, occupational safety,
laws and regulations, professional skills and other aspects for
employees from different departments to cope with their business
needs. The training programs are evaluated regularly to review the
effectiveness and compared to the business needs. The Group also
updates its employees from time to time on the latest information of
the industry and laws and regulations which is essential to the
Group's operations and their job responsibilities.
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group has complied with all relevant local labour laws and
regulations in respective countries. In PRC, the Group regularly keeps
track of the latest laws and regulations such as the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China (2 A K LM Bl &5 &)%) and the Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (FF Z A R 2L 713 45
&) & [FJX). The Group strictly prohibits the use of child or forced
labour in its business operations.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to effectively managing its supply chain and
providing customers with premium products and services, in an
effort to meet and even exceed customers’ expectations. When
purchasing products and services, the Group complies with all
applicable environmental laws, regulations and rules. Comprehensive
assessment of suppliers is performed on an ad hoc basis to
benchmark against customers’ expectations of product quality. Most
of the key suppliers maintain a close and long-term partnership with
the Group. During the year, the Group maintained good and stable
relationships with its suppliers.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

The quality of products is the important key to customers’ loyalty.
The Group performs high quality controls in every production
operation. Procedures and policies are established to govern all sorts
of claims and complaints. If the Group receives any claims or
complaints regarding its products and services, it will conduct
investigation in order to provide immediate and appropriate
responses to customers. This strengthens product quality and
consequently enables us to stay competitive in the market.

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to achieving the highest possible standards
of openness and integrity. Hence, it strictly implements various
operating procedures and codes of conduct to regulate the work
ethic of the Group’s senior management and general staff.
Employees are required to declare potential conflicts of interest.
Further, a whistle-blowing policy is also in place to minimise the risk
of fraudulent acts or criminal offences occurring in the workplace.
During the year, the Group did not find any cases in breach of the
relevant laws and regulations relating to corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud or money laundering.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

Over the years, the Group has focused on community activities and
placed great emphasis on both physical and mental health of
employees. The Group continuously organizes activities such as
badminton, billiards, basketball and table tennis, to enrich
employees’ health and cultural life and building a good corporate
culture.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B M % BAD ¥

Ernst & Young
/ 22nd Floor
CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
EY Central, Hong Kong
&k

To the shareholders of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 78 to 204, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
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accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Key audit matter

Impairment of prepayment to a supplier and provision
for an onerous contract

HRETER

BN T RER K EREREEE R

A subsidiary of the Group entered into a long-term supply
contract (the “Supply Contract”) with one of its suppliers to
purchase polysilicon material in 2011. On 27 April 2018, the
supplier filed a complaint and a claim of a sum totalling
approximately US$391,000,000 against the subsidiary for
alleged breach of the Supply Contract. The supplier has
alleged that under the Supply Contract, the subsidiary shall
need to pay a total of non-refundable advance payment of
US$34,500,000 and to purchase the quantities of polysilicon
for the period from 2012 to 2020 with a total amount of
Us$348,000,000.

The subsidiary has elected to suspend the procurement
under the Supply Contract in June 2012. At that time, the
remaining prepayment balance at the supplier was
US$11,500,000. By the end of 2014, as management
considered the subsidiary would never resume its purchase
under the Supply Contract and be unable to recover the
remaining prepayment balance with the supplier, the Group
recognised a full impairment loss for the aforementioned
prepayment balance and an additional provision of
US$7,122,375 for its remaining payment obligation
according to the Supply Contract in year of 2014. As at 31
December 2019, the Group remained the full impairment
provision of US$11,500,000 (equivalent to RMB80,266,000)
for the prepayment and US$7,122,375 (equivalent to
RMB49,687,000) for the payment obligation.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of prepayment to a supplier and provision
for an onerous contract (continued)

FEREETEE®
MEEHEE

BN FHREBNKXERERGESEEE)

The case is unsettled and currently in litigation. In early
2020, the subsidiary and the supplier, in principle, agreed to
settle the matter through negotiation, the terms of which
are confidential and yet to be finalised. Going forward, the
subsidiary and the supplier will be engaged in the
negotiation and drafting of the terms of a settlement
agreement. The potential impact of the lawsuit and relevant
provision balances were material to the consolidated
financial statements and the recognition and measurement
of the relevant provisions involved significant management
judgements and estimates.

The accounting policies and disclosures of the impairment

and provision are included in note 2.4 “Summary of
significant accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant
accounting judgements and estimates”, note 18

"Prepayments for raw materials” and note 32 “Provisions”
to the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We obtained and reviewed the relevant documents involved
in management’s analysis and judgement, including the
Supply Contract and its amendments, the memorandum
signed by the subsidiary and its supplier and the relevant
files of the lawsuit. We also reviewed management’s
analysis on the cost of fulfilling the onerous contract, and
communicated with the Company’s lawyers regarding the
progress of the lawsuit and related legal issues, and

obtained written confirmation from them. Based on the
documents reviewed, the analysis made on management’s
judgement, together with the confirmation from the
lawyers, we assessed whether the relevant provisions are
made appropriately and whether the matter is properly
disclosed

statements.

in the notes to the consolidated financial
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group had property, plant
and equipment of RMB1,407,159,000, which accounted for
a significant portion of the Group’s assets. Certain
subsidiaries of the Group suffered loss in year 2019 and
there was an indication of impairment for property, plant
and equipment of these subsidiaries due to the uncertainty
in the future.

Management performed impairment test accordingly by
comparing the net present value of the forecasted future
cash flows with the carrying amounts of identified cash-
generating units as at 31 December 2019, and recognised a
net impairment of RMB15,167,000 during this year.
Estimating the recoverable amount requires significant
management judgements and estimates of future sales,
gross margins, operating costs, terminal values, growth rates
and the discount rates.

The accounting policies and disclosure of the provision are
included in note 2.4 “Summary of significant accounting
policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting judgements and
estimates” and note 14 “Property, plant and equipment” to
the consolidated financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated management’s assessment on the impairment
indicators for property, plant and equipment and
management’s identification of cash-generating units.

We reviewed management’s valuation model and assessed
the key assumptions used, such as estimates of future sales,
gross margins, operating costs, terminal values, growth rates
and the discount rates by comparing them to the related
subsidiaries’ historical performance, financial budgets, and
development plans, and the analysis on industry and market
trend. We also involved our valuation specialists to assist us
in assessing the valuation methodology and some key model
parameters.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of
property, plant and equipment in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

FARETEE

MEEGEE
JEWE 5 5B R 8 1

The amount of trade receivables and contract assets
accounted for a significant portion of the Group’s assets. As
at 31 December 2019, the book value and the impairment
provision are RMB1,286,963,000 and RMB92,669,000 for
trade receivables, and RMB362,000 and RMB49,000 for
contract assets and impairment.

The Group applied the simplified approach to the provision
and recorded lifetime expected losses for trade receivables
and contract assets. The expected credit loss model is based
on the Group's historical debtors’ default rate and other
specific factors, including classification of trade debtors,
ageing of the ending balance, historical recovery, amount
written off as uncollectible, and etc. At the same time,
management also considers forward-looking information,
including the anticipation of the customers’ operation, the
forecast of industry situation, overall economic conditions,
and etc. Estimating the expected credit loss requires
significant management judgements and estimates.

The accounting policies and disclosure of the provision are
included in note 2.4 “Summary of significant accounting
policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting judgements and
estimates”, note 23 “Trade and bills receivable” and note
24 "Contract assets” to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We discussed with management on the estimation involved
in determining the expected credit loss allowance regarding
trade receivables and contract assets, and assessed
management’s processes and controls relating to the
estimation of the expected credit loss allowance.

We assessed the appropriateness of simplified approach,
tested the provision matrix prepared by management to
calculate the expected credit loss, and checked the
information included in the provision matrix which is based
on the Group's historical observed default rates and other
specific factors. We corroborated whether the ageing
analysis for groupings of trade debtors which have similar
patterns of credit loss, historical payment patterns and
historical loss data are complete and accurate. We evaluated
the appropriateness of the forward-looking information
which the Group used to calibrate the matrix, such as the
anticipation of the customers’ operation, the forecast of
industry situation, overall economic conditions, and etc.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of trade
receivables and contract assets in the consolidated financial

statements.
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Other information included in the Annual
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’'s report thereon. The Annual Report is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to the Group’s Audit Committee.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related

disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Ka Yan, Augustine.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

] = N7/
,%/T/El\ Efﬁ%z

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HEZE=ZT—NEF+=-A=+—HILEFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R 5II&)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT % AR¥T T AR T
Revenue U = 5 4,425,552 4,022,452
Cost of sales §H & B AR (4,084,184) (3,624,902)
Gross profit ER 341,368 397,550
Other income and gains, net HEmg A KW F5E 6 15,970 53,752
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (84,583) (77,447)
Administrative expenses TR X (409,458) (377,609)
Impairment losses on financial and M RENEERE  F58
contract assets, net 7 (5.262) (44,497)
Impairment of property, plant and ME - BEREERE
equipment 14 (15,167) (47,020)
Impairment losses on prepayment TEAS FRIE R B 1B K 7 (26,975) —
Loss from operations KEEE (184,107) (95,271)
Share of losses of associates BB E DA B8 (1,330) (1,461)
Impairment of associate Bt R A E A (4,104) —
Other investment loss H s &R A (379) —
Finance costs RPN 8 (123,130) (136,012)
Loss before tax BB AT 18 7 (313,050) (232,744)
Income tax (expense)/credit FiEfR(BHE), K% 1 (41,308) 12,157
Loss for the year FEBHE (354,358) (220,587)
Attributable to: BT ALHEMR:
Equity holders of the Company RABIRE=FEEA (355,492) (222,402)
Non-controlling interests FE 28 ) 1% 2 1,134 1,815
Loss for the year FEBE (354,358) (220,587)
Basic and diluted loss per share ARalEBREREE ARS
attributable to ordinary equity holders ERERARBEEERE
of the Company (RMB cents) (ANE®EH) 13 (11.07) (6.92)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
e EEWAR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZEZE=ZT—NEF+=-A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R %I&)

2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARET T
Loss for the year FEES (354,358) (220,587)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHM2EER (BREER
(after tax and reclassification adjustments): EfERAER)
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently to AR ENHEEERN
profit or loss: EA
- Currency translation differences -ERER (83) (14,659)
Total comprehensive loss for the year, FEXEHEBRARH
after tax (BRI &) (354,441) (235,246)
Attributable to: BN AL R4S :
Equity holders of the Company ZIN/NISIE - SR =N (355,575) (237,061)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 ) 14 2 1,134 1,815
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXEHEBRAH (354,441) (235,246)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A R &

At 31 December2019 R=T—h&E+=-A=+—A1
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R 5II&)

2019 2018
—E—hE —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 14 1,407,159 1,517,027
Prepayments for acquisitions of BEWE BERZENEN
property, plant and equipment KIA 29,447 62,451
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 151,136 —
Land lease prepayments + A8 & B FRIE 17 = 141,989
Prepayments for raw materials R4 kA T8 5 3008 18 — 33,557
Investments in associates REEZ QA E’]Txﬁ 19 157 5,591
Equity investments designated at fair A “fﬁf’iﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ A
value through other comprehensive Htra MmO EmRE
income 20 1,800 2,430
Deferred tax assets ELEFIBE E 21 16,573 48,009
Total non-current assets kRBEEHTE 1,606,272 1,811,054
Current assets REBEE
Inventories BE 22 394,110 347,368
Trade and bills receivables EWEZERRERE 23 1,274,604 1,483,723
Contract assets EHMEE 24 313 15,205
Prepayments, other receivables and TEfTFRIE - H R IE R
other assets Hih&E 25 350,476 240,935
Current tax recoverable BN HA AT Y [0 F% 18 3,360 2,695
Pledged deposits EEAFR 26 403,191 425,309
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEED 27 396,854 239,712
Total current assets MEEEMARE 2,822,908 2,754,947
Current liabilities REBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings AFEEE 28 1,680,914 1,773,140
Trade and bills payables ENEZIERRER 29 1,502,624 1,441,065
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNREREFHAS 30 68,736 104,025
Contract liabilities aRatE 31 265,979 64,466
Current tax payable BV B & < B 18 10,476 193
Provision for inventory purchase GFEBESERERE
commitments 32 49,687 48,883
Current portion of lease payables —FRIEHMNEEAE 17 376 —
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 3,578,792 3,431,772
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (755,884) (676,825)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBERS 850,388 1,134,229
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBAARR

At 31 December2019 R=T—hE+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R %I&)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5% AR® Tt AR F T
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings SFREBE 28 129,325 17,317
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEE 21 2,564 2,678
Deferred income IEE WA 33 134,509 197,225
Lease liabilities HEAE 17 1,012 —
Other non-current liabilities HtIEmReSBE 32 127,412 109,018
Total non-current liabilities kRBEBERE 394,822 326,238
Net assets EEFE 455,566 807,991
Equity Em
Equity attributable to equity EATERFEAEGESR
holders of the Company
Share capital [N 35 276,727 276,727
Reserves *E 36 156,967 438,999
433,694 715,726
Non-controlling interests GRS 21,872 92,265

Total equity ERBE 455,566 807,991




82 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED & X &ERIZREMRA 7

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A e 3L 44
mMEERE

B x

Year ended 31 December 2019 HZE=-FT— A F+-_A=1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R 5II&)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARARERFELGRSR
General Non-
Share Share  reserve Capital  Exchange Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium fund reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
Re  REEE -RERE EREE EXRE  EpEE  ZiEE B3 FEHMER BREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARET ARETT ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT AR%Tn ARETR
As at 1 January 2018 R=E-N5-H-H 206,721 1,731,645 218 564 42,768 (36,106) (67,111) (1,216,148 950,339 85,090 1,035,429
(Loss)profit for the year ER(EE)/HE = = = = = — 4 (2240 1815 (220,587)
Other comprehensive loss FRENRE
for the year: B
Bichange differences BEEEHH
related to foreign MEZE
operations = = = = (14,659) = = (14,659) = (14,659)
Total comprehensive ([oss)/ ERRE(EB)/
income for the year hALE - - - - (14659) — ) ) 1815 (35246)
Capttal contribution from FEHERETE
non-controlling interests = = = = = = = = 31,819 31819
Acquisiton of non-controlling ~ WEFEH 1R
nterests - - - - - 2448 - 2448 (18733) (16,285)
Appropriation to reserves ALERE = = 3826 = = = (3,826) = = =
Dividends paid to WA R BRA
non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - (7.726) (7.726)
As at 31 December 2018 HZB-N%
tZB=1-H 206,721 1,731,645 222390 42,768 (50,765) (64,663 (1.442376) 715,726 92,265 807,991
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-hE-R-B 206,721 1,731,645 222,390 42,768 (50,765) (64,663) (1,442,376) 715,726 92,265 807,991
{Loss)fprofit for the year EE(BR)/TIE = = - — - —  (35549)  (355492) 1134 (354358)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ EEERZE
profit for the year: (B8)/HA:
Bichange differences BRMEZHH
related to foreign NEEE
operations = = = = (83) = = (83) - (83)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ ERRE(EE)/
income for the year frg% = = = = 83) — (355492  (355,575) 1134 (354441)
Capital contribution from FRHEEANE
non-controlling interests - - - - - 13,543 - 13,543 (1,521) 2,016
Appropriation to reserves ARERE = = 5971 = = - (5.97m) - - -
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-1F
tZR=1-H 216,721 1,731,645 228,367 42,768 (50,848) 8880 (1,803,845) 433,694 21,812 455,566
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SEeREMEBR

Year ended 31 December 2019 HZE=-T—AF+-_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R %I&)

2019 2018
—Z-AF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR TR ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities K& TZEHEESHE
Loss before tax Bk 750 AT A5 48 (313,050) (232,744)
Adjustments for: THEE -
Depreciation and amortisation EREE 7(0) 239,046 233,670
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE WERZE
plant and equipment ol ogi=! 7(c) 128,879 2,774
Impairment loss on disposal of an HERBE N RIRRERX
associate 6 4,104 =
Investment loss from disposal of HENARBEFEEHE
equity investments designated at Bt AR MRS K r i
fair value through other HREWKREBE
comprehensive income 6 379 —
Share of losses of associates FEAE B D E & B 1,330 1,461
(Reversal of write-down)/write-down FERORBER),HOR
of inventories 22(b) (27,005) 27,621
Impairment losses on trade ERESERRENEE
receivables and contract assets WMEB XA R 23, 24 5,262 44,497
Impairment of property, plant and M- BEREZERE
equipment 15,167 47,020
Impairment losses of prepayment AR RIBRERX 26,975 —
Finance costs Bl AR 8 123,130 136,012
Provision/(reversal) for warranties REEE (BEDE) 32 18,394 (3,621)
Interest income from bank deposits BIR1TF B F 2 U A 6 (11,740) (5,616)
Net foreign exchange loss PE W B 18 % =8 (9,412) (784)
Changes in working capital: LEESEE:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOgm,md (19,737) 28,542
Decrease in trade receivables, FEUWE SRR - BT HIE
prepayments, other receivables and H ) U BR R e ELfth B B
other assets o 183,083 211,390
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets EWEERD (M) 14,892 (15,205)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments R4 B8 T8 A F0E
for raw materials (3 n) R A (114,601) 21,741
Increase in trade and other payables FERTE 5 R & E fth JE A
FRIEIE NN 208,133 385,937
(Decrease)/increase in deferred EIEW A CRA) /8
income (62,716) 33,953
Cash generated from operations RETEFMBES 410,513 916,648
The PRC income tax (paid)/credited (D) BrhEPEMSH (370) 4,831
Net cash generated from operating KRETHFEHESFE
activities 410,143 921,479
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

,\/T\ fﬁimbii‘%

Year ended 31 December 2019 #HZE —

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR TE)

—NEF+TA=1T—BLFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt =% AR¥ TR AR T T
Cash flows from investing activities BREZEHEESHE
Payments for the purchase of property, FLEEE Y% - MR M & E S
plant and equipment B IE (204,105) (351,264)
Purchase of a shareholding in BE M E QR R
an associate — (1,800)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME  BERZBE
plant and equipment Fr 18 5018 10,350 71,516
Purchase of equity investments BEAABEFEAEEY
designated at fair value through T A AR & U a5 89 HE
other comprehensive income ®%& (1,800) =
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEAAEBEEFAZAEEF
investments designated at fair value FFAEAMARE WA E R
through other comprehensive income & P15 RIE 2,051 =
Interest received B2 U F & 11,740 5,616
Net cash used in investing activities RETFEMARSFHE (181,764) (275,932)
Cash flows from financing activities REZTEBEESHE
Placement of pledged bank deposits ERFEEMBRITER (1,000,371) (740,124)
Release of pledged bank deposits R EERRITER 1,022,490 533,912
Proceeds from bank loans and other RITERREMERFTERIE
loans 1,573,108 2,549,285
Repayment of bank loans and other EERITERAREMER
loans (1,553,326) (2,805,908)
Principal portion of lease payments/ HENRNEASIS
finance lease rental payments MEHERMAR (1,021) (9,840)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Uiz B8 JE 2 1) M 4 25 — (16,285)
Capital contribution from FEPE 1M A
non-controlling interests 1,601 31,819
Interest paid 2 F B (123,130) (136,012)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B 9E 28 i) 1 % BR 4 fic AR R
shareholders — (7,726)
Net cash used in financing activities BEFEHFTFARESFEE (80,649) (600,879)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meEREERER

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE-T—NAF+-_A=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A A R#51/1E)

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt 5 ARBT R ARBETT

Net increase in cash and cash ReREESEEYWEMFE

equivalents 147,730 44,668
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHNRERASEEY

beginning of the year 239,712 191,185
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXSBHNEETFH

changes, net 9,412 3,859
Cash and cash equivalents at the FRESRERESEEY

end of the year 27 396,854 239,712
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRECEEYERIN

cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances REeERIBITHEE 27 396,854 239,712
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% 3R 2k M AT

31 December 2019 R=—Z—hFE+=-A=+—8

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BB sER &SN » U AR ¥ 51 {E)

1. PAIREBER
BRI B RA R ((RAR] - &R M
BARMBIAEE]  EHEBMH KR : 757)

RETHEREBAKBGERBHELHER -
FA AEEZTEREUTOEEIZER:

1. Corporate and group information

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757)
is a leading supplier of upstream and downstream vertically
integrated solar energy services. During the year, the Group was
mainly engaged in the following four main businesses:

(@) the manufacture of, trading of and provision of processing (@) ABREREE HHREE BBERE
services for monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers; HAGEEREE TR MIRE

(b) the manufacture and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar by HEREBEAIMGREE RET M
cells;

(c) the manufacture and trading of photovoltaic modules; and (0 HERBEXAREAH: R

(d) the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants. (d) EERLENX KRB -

BEMBEATNER
AAREEMBATMEEMT -

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Proportion of ownership interest

FrEREELA
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest  Company subsidiary ~Principal activities Legal form
AL/ B-8
RILERAH £/ iR/ AREN  HEART WE
AR o BH/BRAER ERER K& LERE IERE EEFA
% % %

Jinzhou Rixin Silicon The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Manufacture and trading of ~ Limited liability company
Materials Co., Ltd. 9 May 2007, capital of monocrystalline ingotsr ~ AREEAF
("Rixin") Mainland China RMB190,000,000 wafers

BMABEMHER il AMRESER PEREESRER/BA
AR(THED ZET+tF AR 190,000,000

TANA
HEAXE

Jinzhou Yangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Manufacture and trading of ~ Limited liability company
Energy Co., Ltd. 15 December 2004, capital of photovoltaic modules BREAAH
("Yangquang") Mainland China RMB1,151,565,479 HEREERREH

BMEEERERRE 98 AMRESER
(TEt)) k3 AR 1,151,565, 47970

+ZA+EA

REAR




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RZZFE—-NF+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

31 December 2019

1. Corporate and group information (continued)

(BREEEBEN  AARKIE)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest
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1. PAIREBE R w)
EANBARBNER (&)

fERRRL A
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest ~ Company subsidiary Principal activities Legal form
iEL/ -
RIBERAH /iR ASEN  HELR if |
S REEHY BH/BRTER ERER KE DAKE IEXB EERR
% % %
Jinzhou Youhua The PRC Registered and paid-in capital of 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Silicon Materials 12 September 2008, RMB320,000,000 monocrystalling ingots ~ AREALH
Co., Ltd. Mainland China S RESER wafers
(*Youhua i AB%320,0000007 RERERERHE/HR
Silicon”) ZEEN\F
BMEERTH ARTZR
BRAR HEAK
(hE#)
Shanghai Jingji The PRC Registered and paid-in capital of 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Electronic 16 March 1998, 556,950,000 polysiicon and EREALA
Materials Co., Mainland China AR REGER monacrystalline ingots/
Ltd. ("Jingji") q: 6,950,000% 1T wafers
LERRETIH “MANE HEREESRER
BRART ZAtrA BRIEE /R
(1&#)) HEAK
Solar Technology Cayman Islands Authorised capital of 100 100 = Investment holding Limited liability company
Investment 15 December 2006 HK$400,000,000 of HK$0.10 RERRK EREALA
(Cayman) Cop* ~ FREEE each and issed share capital
("STIC") ZRERE of HK$167,895,494
tZATxH 8 & 75400,000,000% T
SREEIETR
BEARA167,8954948 T
Wealthy Rise Hong Kong HKS1 19 - 19 Trading of polysilicon and Limited liability company
International 21 June 2007 BT monocrystalline ingotsy  BREMAF
Limited** £ wafers/photovoltaic modules
EAEABRERAR “E54E EEZRHRERER/
ARZt-R R/ RREH
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R HI 5

31 December 2019 R=F—NAF+=-A=+—8H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A FERAE SN » LA A REEFIE)

1. 2aIREBER @
BB RATRER (&)

1. Corporate and group information (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

FrERERLA
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest  Company subsidiary Principal activities Legal form
HaL/ B-B
RIKHREH /i AEEN BEALT WE
S Ry B /BRTER ERER K8 DAKE IEXH EERR
% % %
Jinzhou Yangguang Jinmao  The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacture and trading of ~ Limited liability company
Photovoltaic Technology 17 July 2009, of RMB140,000,000 monocrystalline wafers — BREEAF
Co., Ltd. ("Jinzhou Mainland China A RELES HEREEERER
Jinmao”) G AR 140,000,000
HME R BRE R ZEENETATLE
BRAA HEXE
(M)
Solargiga Energy (Hong Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - Trading of polysilicon and Limited liability company
Kong) Company Limited 13 June 2008 18T monocrystalline ingotsy ~ ARELAA
BreR(FR)ERAT  FR wafers/photovoltaic modules
ZERN\ERATZR BEEE/BR/Z8HR
ERERAN
Silicon Solar Materials Hong Kong HKS1 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability company
Company Limited* 26 Noverber 2008 1T RERRK EREAAF
ABRENHRERRA &R
“E3RNE
+-A-tAE
Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) ~ The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 51 - 51 Manufacture and trading of ~ Limited liability company
Co., Ltd. ("Qinghai") 31 December 2008, of RMB90,000,000 monocrystalline ingots EREALA
BraR (8 ERAR Mainland China HREHES HEREEBRER
(&) il A 190,000,007
“3ENE
t=A=t-A

PN
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
ISR R B 5

31 December 2019 R=FT—AF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B A sEBAZE 4N » LA A REEFI(E)

1. PAIREBE R w)
EANBARBNER (&)

1. Corporate and group information (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

FrERERLA
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest ~ Company subsidiary Principal activities Legal form
e/ B-B
RIBYRAH R/ ER/ AREN  BALT if |
S R B /BRTER ERER KE DAKE IEXH EERR
% % %
Sino Light Investments British Virgin Islands Authorized capital of 100 100 = Investment holding Limited liability company
Limited* 2 December 2009 US§500,000 of US$0.001 REBR EREARA
ERRTEE each and issued share
ZEENETZAZH capital of US$53,920
T BAR500,000% T+
GREBIZTR
BBTRA53920% T
You Xin Investments Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability company
Limite* 29 July 2009 100,000% 7T REER BREFAF
FEREBRRA )
S YIRS
tAZThE
Jinzhou Huachang The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacture and trading of ~ Limited liability company
Photovoltaic Technology 23 October 2006, of RMB130,000,000 solar cells EREALA
Company Limited Mainland China HfRELET HEREEARHE
aMEERRA G AR 130,000,000
BRART ZEE5E
tA-t=H

hERE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R HI 5

31 December 2019 R=F—NAF+=-A=+—8H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A FERAE SN » LA A REEFIE)

1. PAIREBE R )
EANEBARNER (&)

1. Corporate and group information (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

FrERERLf
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest  Company subsidiary Principal activities Legal form
HaL/ B-B
RIKHREH e/ 2R/ AREN HRLT WE
AAER Ry B /BRTER BRER K8 DAKE IEXH EEFA
% % %

Jinzhou Xinyangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Construction of photovoltaic  Limited liability company
Photovoltaic 24 September 2007, capital of power plant EREFAF
Application Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB100,000,000 BEARES
("Xinyangguang”) Gl AMRESER

BMHE L RER It &3 AR 100,000,007
ERRA(HEL]) hAZtmA

hEAE

Jinzhou Xinlin Solargiga The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Trading of solar cells and solar  Limited liability company
Industrial and 26 June 2014, capital of modules EREFAF
Trading Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB20,000,000 BEAGEENRARHAS
("Jinzhou Xinlin") PE HfRELES

BHEHBELIEAR k3 AR 20,000,007
PEEHE ) ABZTAR

hERE

Jinzhou Jiuxin Solargiga The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Trading of solar cells and solar  Limited fiability company
Technology and 26 June 2014, capital of modules EREALA
Trading Co., Ltd. Mainland China RMB20,000,000 BEAGEENRARHAS
(*Jinzhou Jiuxin”) Gk AMRESER

BHRERANEAR “I-mE AR 20,000,007
Ra(snnzl) ABZTAH

hEAE

Jinzhou Yangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Manufacture of monocrystalline - Limited liability company
Motech Renewable 26 October 2015, capital of ingots G
Energy Co,, Ltd Mainland China RMB64,040,000 HEERER
("Motech”) Gl AMRESER

BHE KRR “E-n% AR 64,040,007
BRAR(RE)) tA=17H

REAR
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ISR R B 5

31 December 2019 R=FT—AF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B A sEBAZE 4N » LA A REEFI(E)

1. Corporate and group information (continved) 1. AT REEBE # (@)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

BB R A6 E R (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

ikt 4 -4
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a

Name of company place of operation issued capital interest  Company subsidiary Principal activities Legal form
AL/ H-H
RILEREH EE/ iR/ A5EH  AKAR e
NAEH REERE B /BRAER EREs K% LRRE IEEH EERA
% % %

Jinzhou Chuanghui The PRC Registered and paid-in 100 - 100 Manufacture of photovoltaic  Limited liability company
New Energy Co. Ltd. 17 December 2010, capital of modules ERELAA
("Chuanghui") Mainland China RMB200,000,000 HEkREs

Bz R i AMRELER
ARAR(EE) “2-%f A 200,000,007

tZAt+tA
hERE

Jinzhou Yiyang The PRC Registered capital of 100 - 100 Manufacture and Limited liability company
New Energy Co., Ltd. 19 January 2017, RMB25,000,000 and trading of monocrystallne R EFA A
("Jinzhou Yiyang") Mainland China paid-in capital of ingots/wafers

BMERHERER i RMB5,730,000 RERREEREBER
Ra(BnEsl) ZE-tE AR

~AthE AR 25,000,0007
hEXE RE&ER
AR5,730,0007

Qujing Yangguang The PRC Registered capital of 70 - 70 Manufacture and Limited liability company
Energy Silicon 29 August 2017, RIMB73,500,000 and trading of monocrystalline R EEA
Materials Co., Ltd. Mainland China paid-in capital of ingots/wafers
("Qujing i RMB105,000,000 HERBEERERMER
Yangguang") “E-tF HfiAA

HEE R NAZthA AR 73,500,0007
BRAR hERE RESER
Ttk L)) A 105,000,007

Liaoning Zhongdianke The PRC Registered capital of 55 - 55 Manufacture and trading of ~ Limited liability company
Semiconductor 26 September 2018, RMB36,000,000 and electronic semiconductor ~ BREFAF
Material Co., Ltd. Mainland China paid-in capital of materials
("Liaoning hE RMB2,710,000 HEREESTTEENH
Semiconductor”) Z5-N\% HiEA

BEEHLER AARA AR %36,000,0007 &

BRAR hERE EHER
(MEE+Eg)) AR%2,710,0007
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IR R HI 5

31 December 2019 R=—TE—-AF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A FERAE SN » LA A REEFIE)

1. Corporate and group information (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*  Apart from investment holding, the subsidiary did not have any
operation during the year ended 31 December 2019.

** \Wealthy Rise International Limited is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary
and, accordingly, is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the
Company's control over it.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2.1Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with  Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for equity investment
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB755,884,000. The liquidity of
the Group is primarily depending on its ability to maintain
adequate cash flows from operations, to renew its short-term
bank loans and to obtain adequate external financing to support
its working capital and meet its obligations and commitments
when they become due.

AEIREBER @
EANEBARNER (&)

* BRREERIN RBE_ZT-ALF+A
=t—BLFEE- EZWJ% A AR 7 -

> EABEBRERARZ— %#1%%’&—1 2=
ARABEEEFEGE BRI FAR -

ERRBEERARIBZFEFTAXELBEBK
REBRBOFEENARBAMBEAR &
ERR - MEFINHECHBARANER &8
HREEBNILE-

A
ZEWHHRRDOBRESEEAMAS([ELR
EREAG)BEMcBAMBRSERTE
AUMBREEN] BRAMETAMBREE
Al-ZAgEAN(ERSFEND k2
B) BAAREFRAURELRRGHE
ERTFTURHE -BRUARXREEFENRER
B METRBELRAENRE - ZFW
BRENARETAREBDIER KEEiE
RN AEBECHEERROITOHM -

“E-AF+-RA=+—B AEEHOR

?ﬁb:%% B H Ok 8 & E A R 755,884,000
T AEERBESCTEREERKEET S
BEHeEResne BEERNHETER

2
EREEGISREAFELEEES IR
MR ETERENRAENRE S -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
ISR R B 5

31 December 2019 R=—Z—hF+=-A=+—8H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BB EBBE N - A AR K FIE)

2.1Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group has carried out a review of its cash flow forecast for
the twelve months ending 31 December 2020. Based on such
forecast, the directors believe that adequate sources of liquidity
exist to fund the Group’s working capital and capital
expenditure requirements, and to meet its short term debt
obligations and other liabilities and commitments as they
become due in the twelve months ending 31 December 2020.
In preparing the cash flow forecast, management has considered
historical cash requirements of the Group, as well as other key
factors, including anticipated sales in the twelve months ending
31 December 2020 and unutilised banking facilities as at 31
December 2019 from the Group’s major banks with an amount
of RMB1,674,208,000 which will expire on 31 December 2020.

Based on the above factors, the directors are confident that the
Group will have sufficient funding to enable the Group to
operate as a going concern and meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due for at least 12 months from the
reporting date. Accordingly, the financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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21 B EE (p)

REBEHHEBEE T _TF+_A=1+—
BlE+=ZEAMRESREEAEITERN &
BzBEA EFRRERHARDESERA
BNAEBNEEESREAAZFTRKER
HEZT-_ZF+=A=+—HLE+Z=EA
FHNEBTHERHERSE M RE M E & HEK
EopmEREREEAMNE  EEEEREE
AEERARSFTRREMFIEREZ  B8F
Bz -+ _A=+—HIt+=-@A
MEBEHEE RZTE-—NAN\F+ZA=+—
BRAEEXZERTESHARDHBITRE
AR#1,674,208,000C (BR=—FE=_ZFF+=
B=+—HEH -

EREXEE BFFEL ARESHEART
HWED NEREERERLE TneAEER
HBERHERD T EANMBEE - Bt
MBBRDIBEFBEEE LR -

MAlkB o EE
REUMBBRREBARPALEMNBRAR (A
(AEEDBEZE-_Z-AF+-_A=+—H1It
FEZHBRR -MBRAAARRREEX
MEZEHINER(BREBEER) - E4A5%
BH2EZEHREBNFBHEBAERR
KFRARFNAREBBHRELSRNESD (I
AEBEEBTRARNIAIBREHRIER
EBNRFREN) FEZST O ®ME - BREE
il 4 -

WARFERLAHAERABEINREHRKS
BRI BLENOER  AIAKERFG
EELRBAREREHSNENREEE 1)
HEEERBR B

() BEREHSHEMBRERFAANEGD
7

(b)) EtbAMNRBEMELNER &
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R HI 5

31 December 2019 R=—TE—-AF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5B sEBAE SN - LAA REESIE)

2.1Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received; (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained; and (iii) any resulting
surplus of deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

21 BEE )

e RE 2 EE

MEBAR UM BBREBEARR B ZE
ifﬁkﬁﬁiﬁﬁ—iﬁiﬁﬂfﬂfﬁif’ﬁ]‘é DA ZEF
AHARERSEHEE AR AGARKRE
]IT*Z’*H\ZE/\@EHJ;ZZ% HIELILEERS

1k

BEMEME2EBAZE EHAKED RSB
AEBER 72%%A&#?k%”*%@
HREEBERERAEMESR -TEER
MASBERKERAMAZR I REBARRLA
AEEERAE #z BA RAXRBEER
EENHAFTERZEENE -

WEERERETTXHEBA RS BEM
it =R %UI%Z—IE‘JZyIEijE e - A
SEEEMTHEESOEMWKRE] - L E
REBGIRZ B AR HEEEERE B AR
BRXPHAR-

fﬁlK%.%iMT%’RTZT hilRE - BlE I

ROZWBARIZEE (BREEE)REE:
(DM IEERE R < BREE - Ri)FE Az
ZERFENEE: UHRODEEMKREZA
?@ (INVEMIREBIRE 2 A FE: RiDFrE
REZERZEMBHRIEA - LAE
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DEFEEERIRBENBEER) B
ERAREBERLERAEEESIBEMTF
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ISR R B 5

31 December 2019 R=FT—AF+=-A=+—8
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B A sEBAZE 4N » LA A REEFI(E)

2.2Changes in accounting policies and 228 BEBHREE

disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs AEBERAFENMBRRAGRERT

for the first time for the current year’s financial statements. PN AT RASIER] BB M 5w & 2R o

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

BBV B REEFIREIT AR IEEENFEREFHE

BBV REELF 165 HE

BERGFTEAFE1RIEETA FTEIEIF - Rt )E1H

BB ERIE285IEET AR RBERFIREB R AR #

EH(ARVBRERBEES)— REE23% BT 15 7 B2 72 89 T~ 8 JE 1%

ZE - AFR T LT FENKE EEMEBEREERENR - EEVBERELENFNHR-

EEGHERE 2R R BB ERFE2IREET R

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19 and 28, and BrERE BB WS ERIEE - HA G AR

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are F1RFE28 R NIEFT AR BB B RE L

not relevant to the preparation of the Group's financial A12015-20174 [& B 1 5 2 2 (BN 5 [ B

statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised BMEROFERTHEE N FTHORMEETNE

HKFRSs are described below: BRI RS R E M W TR

a. HKFRS 16 Leases a. BAMBHRELENE1SREE
HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 ERVERELENBIEMREB S
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HRE17REE - BB (EREMBEHRER
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)- BZEE®)— REFIETLYHERTE
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving FHE B (ERVEREREEE
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the 2)— RBEFISHELCEHE — BERE
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation B(RABETHREZREZES)— 2ES
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for 27RAHE S R E AR A RS ZAR -
all leases under a single on-balance sheet model to ZEREIER T2 2VREERE
recognise and measure right-of-use assets and lease ZRA-WERABAEE-—EEAR
liabilities, except for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor FABRAPEEMEHEE - HEVBER
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HRAFIR T2 HBAGT ERES
HKAS 17. Lessors continue to classify leases as either EHENBI7TR T2t EEMAL T &
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in BEREH HBABEENRTES
HKAS 17. ERE17THRAZRA—2ERAEHAER

EnB -HEANEETREFEGHE
AE7TRBELUNRUBSEHED BAEE
HEXBEEE -
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

da.

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

HKFRS 16 did not have any significant impact on leases
where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the
standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019,
and the comparative information for 2018 was not restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use
of the identified asset and the right to direct the use of the
identified asset. The Group elected to use the transition
practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only
to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial
application. Contracts that were not identified as leases
under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has
been applied only to contracts entered into or changed on
or after 1 January 2019.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on
the basis of their stand-alone prices. A practical expedient
is available to a lessee, which the Group has adopted, not
to separate non-lease components and to account for the
lease and the associated non-lease components (e.g.,
property management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component at the date of initial application.

22T HEREH KRB E &)
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

d.

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property.
As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as either
finance leases or operating leases based on the assessment
of whether the lease transferred substantially all the
rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group.
Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies a single approach to
recognise and measure right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for all leases, except for two elective exemptions
for leases of low value assets (elected on a lease by lease
basis) and short-term leases (elected by class of underlying
asset). Instead of recognising rental expenses under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term
commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group recognises
depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the right-of-use
assets and interest accrued on the outstanding lease
liabilities (as finance costs).

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised based on
the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1
January 2019 and included in interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings. The right-of-use assets were measured at
the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease
recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before 1 January 2019.

All these assets were assessed for any impairment based on
HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the
right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial
position. This includes the lease assets recognised previously
under land leases prepayments of RMB141,989,000.
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2B HXREBHREE @)

2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

a. HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) a. BAMBHRESEAZ16REE (@
As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases EREMA — ZRElD AEEHERNHE
(continued) g (&)

BEHZE(E)

AEEBR-_Z—NF—-—A—BEKRAEE

MR G LR E 16500 - B Tl i) & 2

Impacts on transition (continued)

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

HE e
e Applying the short-term lease exemptions to leases with e HRMEEHSAEERNKARAKI2E

ARGERNEERAEHEER R

a lease term that ends within 12 months from the date
of initial application;

e Using hindsight in determining the lease term where the e HAERPESEMXKRIEHEEFRE
contract contains options to extend/terminate the WS AR CHABTEHEE!
lease.

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1 RZE-NF—A—BERAEEUBR

January 2019 are as follows: HEBBIRAMEEANTZENT -

Increase/
(decrease)
#n, G )
RMB’'000
ARBFIT

Assets BE
Increase in right-of-use assets ERAREEE 2N 144,399

Decrease in prepaid land lease payments TEf T & RIB 2R (141,989)
Increase in total assets wEE 2 2,410
Liabilities afE

Increase in lease liabilities HEEB 2 IE N 1,261
Increase in current portion of lease liabilities —FRIENEE B E 2N 1,149
Increase in total liabilities BEE 2 2,410

Decrease in retained earnings

B 2w
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

a. HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases
(continued)

Impacts on transition (continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 are
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2B HEREHRIBEE @

a. BAMBHRESEAFZISREE (@)
ERABEA — ZHIEID AEEHENH

50(&)
R ()

R-CZE-NAF-A-BNHEHERERR
E-E-N\FFTRA=+-—HKEHR

as follows: EAEYHERAT
RMB'000
ARBFIT
Operating lease commitments R-FE-NE+=-A=+—8BW
as at 31 December 2018 REHERE 3,354
Less: DEE
Commitments relating to short-term leases and BEHEANEENRERR-_Z—NF
those leases with a remaining lease term ended F+TZ A=+t B A& R FI4E
on or before 31 December 2019 g (596)
2,758
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at RZ-ZE—NLF— A —HBHNEFHILE
1 January 2019 EE RS 5.32%
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R-EBE-hE-A—BNHEEEE 2,410

b.  Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of
HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is applied and does not
include long-term interests that in substance form part of
the net investment in the associate or joint venture, to
which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including
the impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting
for such long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the
net investment, which includes the long-term interests, only
in the context of recognising losses of an associate or joint
venture and impairment of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture. The Group assessed its business
model for its long-term interests in associates and joint
ventures upon adoption of the amendments on 1 January
2019 and concluded that the long-term interests in
associates and joint ventures continued to be measured at
amortised cost in accordance with HKFRS 9. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.2Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

C.  HK(FRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses (i)
whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii)
how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates;
and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation, the
Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax
positions arising from the transfer pricing on its intergroup
sales. Based on the Group’s tax compliance and transfer
pricing study, the Group determined that it is probable that
its transfer pricing policy will be accepted by the tax
authorities. Accordingly, the interpretation did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

2.3Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements.

2B HXREBHREE @)
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BRI EF1 2RO T HEE M (FEH
RITHEEBRBM R B - BT 55 (B
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Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
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BV BRELNETRET A

BRI RELERNE105E R E L &5 ER 285
(BFTA)(20114)

BRMBHRELRNETR

BEGHENFIRLB LG ERBREFT X

Definition of a Business'’

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Insurance Contracts?

Definition of Material’
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2.3Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong  2.3B B #{B 1 K& N 2 & 8 B 1 3],
financial reporting standards (continued) & E B )
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 g RZEZTF-A—HRZERBNFEHAR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 2 RZEZ - A B zERBNEEEHR
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 2 i K 58 7E 5% 1l 45 20 B HA M AT AR AN
adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for
an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions or
other events that occur on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In
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addition, the amendments require companies to provide RS HE o AN - ZBEFTARE R RIAMEK
additional information to investors about their hedging BEREEHEESZETHTREVEY

relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020. Early application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will
depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting
policies
Investments in associates and Olﬂt ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate or joint ventures, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting
policies
Investments in associates and Olﬂt ventures (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint ventures upon loss of
significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in
profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties and non-current assets/a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies 24X EE€FBERBE &)

(continued)

Related parties 8 B
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: A TG A T ERENE A S B 2 B
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@ ERATATHRATHSFATRALTZ
family and that person BRHE
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) A5 B 9 75 0 I A ko £ R 8 I
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) BAEEHREERTE N X
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) RAEBEXAEEARAANEEE
Group or of a parent of the Group; or BAE K
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) BEAALRERTIERMIGKHE2ELS:
applies:
() the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBEAEESR-—SENKE
group; NG
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) ZERBAS—HERB(S—HEE
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of MEAF -MEBARKRARZMEAR
the other entity); A)MBEARNEE AR
(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (il ZEBRASERA—F=7MH%&
third party; SN
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy ZEBAE=-_HFNEE QA"
other entity is an associate of the third entity; ME—BEBAZBE=ZTNH=Z2A
Al
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) ZEEA MRS B AN & E
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity EEMEIENZRKENTEF
related to the Group; H—7
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) FZE BB (a)ER Pl A 4 A sk H
identified in (a); (] 22 1
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over (vii) (@Rt z ALT¥ZE %Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ
the entity or is a member of the key management ?&%ﬁ:ﬁz%hﬁﬁ“(jﬁia ERSNC)!
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); MNEEEEAE X
and
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (Vi) ZERE S —HEBENTAXKERF
part, provides key management personnel services to (BEBEZz—HMD RArEESIARE

the Group or to the parent of the Group. ERAAREZTEEEAERS -
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years after
the date of completion.

- Plant and machinery 10 to 25 years

—  Other fixed assets 3 to 5 years
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives as follows:

- Patents 9 years
= Customer relationship 10 years
- Customer contracts 1 year

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component and non-lease component, the Group adopts
the practical expedient not to separate non-lease component
and to account for the lease component and the associated
non-lease component (e.g., property management services for
leases of properties) as a single lease component.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold lands 20 to 30 years
Office buildings 2 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise

of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019) (continued)

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by
the Group under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease
in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
"Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair
value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the statement of
profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as
a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the
terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows
that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to
be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At
each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In
addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain industrial products and the provision of construction
services for general repairs of defects occurring during the
warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are recognised based on sales volume and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to
their present values as appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and staff welfare costs are accrued
in the period in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant to the
relevant labour rules and regulations in Mainland China,
Taiwan and Hong Kong are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred, except to the extent that they are
included in the cost of inventories not yet recognised as an
expense.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving
the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

[ncome tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued))
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued))

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i) Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on acceptance of the industrial
products by customers.

(i) Processing services

Revenue from the processing services rendered is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure progress
towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the
Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date. The input
method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the processing services.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued))
(i) Construction services

Revenue from the construction services is recognised over
time, using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’'s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the construction services.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a
contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research and development is charged to profit or
loss as an expense when incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
However, the consolidated financial statements of the Group are
presented in RMB, as the directors of the Company consider
that the major subsidiaries of the Company are all presented in
RMB and meanwhile this presentation is more useful for its
current and potential investors. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4Summary of significant accounting policies
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on
which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of comprehensive income
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each
asset, after taking into account the estimated residual
value. Management reviews annually the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any. Both the period and
methods of depreciation are reviewed annually. The
depreciation expenses for future periods are adjusted if
there are significant changes from previous estimates.

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

Management assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. Further details are given
in note 14 to the financial statements.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually even if
there is no indication of impairment.
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3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(0)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are
based on ageing for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography,
product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by
letters of credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the manufacture
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in note 23 and note 24 to the
financial statements, respectively.
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3. EXEBAFRAE @

3. Significant accounting judgments and

estimates (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued) A BABA A =&t (&)
(d HE — HEESERF =X

AR E SRS ST E RS R E
U 758 0 B R ([
SRR FEBRERE - BEERFE

(d) Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR

is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”,
which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(e)

Impairment of prepayments to suppliers and provision for
onerous contract

The Group makes non-cancellable advance payments to raw
material suppliers under purchase agreements which are to
be offset against future purchases. In the event when the
economic benefits expected to be received under these
purchase agreements are less than the unavoidable costs of
meeting the contractual obligations; or the financial
conditions of suppliers deteriorate, management will
consider whether such advance payments to suppliers are
impaired and make necessary provision for the present
obligations under the agreements. The Group does not
require collateral or other security against its prepayments
to suppliers. Management performs ongoing evaluations of
impairment of prepayments to suppliers and provisions for
commitments that may become onerous due to a change of
market conditions and the financial conditions of its
suppliers. The evaluations take into account the projected
revenue, related expenses and other costs. When the
prepayments are not likely to be settled as expected, the
Group will make necessary provisions for the present
obligations under the agreements. Meanwhile, provision for
onerous contract will also be made when the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the purchase
agreements exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under it. An increase or decrease in the above
provisions would affect the Group’s profit or loss and net
assets value. Further details of the provision for impairment
of prepayments to suppliers and the provision for inventory
purchase commitment are given in note 18 and note 32 to
the financial statements, respectively.
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3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(f)

Write-down of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of manufacture and selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in technique and competitors’ actions in response
to adverse industry cycles. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period. As at 31
December 2019, the Group provided for write-down of

inventories amounting to RMB15,818,000 (2018:
RMB42,823,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various

jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
transactions during the ordinary course of business, for
which calculation of the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
would affect profit or loss in future years.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which is related to tax
losses and deductible temporary differences, depends on
management'’s expectation of future taxable profits that will
be available against which the tax losses or the asset can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses and deductible temporary differences
at 31 December 2019 was RMB16,573,000 (2018:
RMB48,009,000). Further details are disclosed in note 21 to
the financial statements.
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Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(h) Provision for warranties

The Group provides warranties for its photovoltaic modules
for up to 25 years after sales have taken place. Due to
limited warranty claims history, management estimates
warranty based on the Group’s historical cost data, industry
data and an assessment of the history of warranty claims of
the Group’s competitors. The warranty obligation of the
Group will be affected not only by the product failure
rates, but also by costs incurred to repair or replace failed
products. If the actual product failure rates and the costs of
replacement or repairing of failed products differ from the
estimates, the Group will need to prospectively revise the
provision for warranties which would affect profit or loss in
future years. Further details of the Group’s provision for
warranties are given in note 32 to the financial statements.

Operating segment information

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has identified four
reportable segments: (i) the manufacture of, trading of, and
provision of processing services for polysilicon and
monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers (“Segment A"); (ii) the
manufacture and trading of photovoltaic modules (“Segment
B”); (iii) the manufacture and trading of monocrystalline silicon
solar cells (“Segment C”); and (iv) the construction and
operation of photovoltaic power plants (“Segment D”). No
operating segments have been aggregated to form these
reportable segments. Comparative figures have been provided
on a basis consistent with the current year’s segment analysis.
Revenue, costs and expenses are allocated to those reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the costs and expenses incurred by those segments.
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4. Operating segment information (continued) 4, BREFIMER @)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (@) PHEE BEEKAE
For the purpose of assessing segment performance and RITEDHBRERR S HHH @Eﬁﬁ
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most $%Em?& THEEBABSEREZA
senior executive management monitors the results, assets WEDEEMGCEE ﬁ@&ﬁfﬁ(ﬁm

and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the basis as they are presented in the Group’s financial

statements.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with

$%IE¢%#&%§1§IJE’\J%£) g

DEEANEERBRI2ENSE =77

reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third EMAMNEBRERBITMEETRS
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as HE-_Z-—NWEFER=-ZT-NF+=A

provided to the Group’s most senior executive management
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is set out

:+—E¢¢F£Fﬂ$%l%%’%&ﬁﬁ%
BABRENABASENHRE D A

below: BERENWT :
Segment A Segment B Segment C Segment D Total
2 HA 2B 2EC 2D @
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
= SN T )\F BRI —T-\F Bkl —T— )\ Rk —T—)\F ey T )\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSTR PNSEM ARETT PN ARETT PNCLEwl AR T T PNLREA ARYE T NS
Revenue from external customers RENREFERE 1,154,836 808,499 3,199,102 3,070,648 45,173 85,123 26,441 58,182 4425552 4,022,452
Intersegment revenue 5 E AR 297,787 1,070,901 1,227,628 2,241,010 383,001 340,326 2,827 849 1,911,243 3,653,086
Reportable segment revenue AHED DU 1,452,623 1,879,400 4,426,730 5,311,658 428,174 425,449 29,268 59,031 6,336,795 7,675,538
Reportable segment (loss)/profit AREH B (EE)/
filbed (324,732) (221,124) 21,434 70,488 (39,139) (52,893) (11,921) (17,058) (354,358) (220,587)
Reportable segment assets ARENHEE 1,697,870 3,159,913 2,019,642 544,437 521,575 672,223 190,093 189,428 4,429,180 4,566,001
Reportable segment liabilities AREHBAE 1,712,727 2,649,294 1,885,913 636,327 270,664 373,507 104,310 98,882 3,973,614 3,758,010
Other segment information: 5 Bk s
Interest income from bank deposits E BIIEROF L
WA 6,516 1,293 5,172 3,354 6 927 46 42 11,740 5,616
Finance costs BAKAE (64,816) (55,191) (39,166) (57,816) (13,396) (16,501) (5,752) (6,504)  (123,130) (136,012
Depreciation and amortisation HEREY (134,172) (179,872) (73,726) (44,512) (30,755) (9,040) (393) (246) (239,046) (233,670)
Impairment of property, plant and ¥ BERERE
equipment RE (15,167) (35,100) - — C (11,920 C — (15,167) (47,020)
Share of losses of associates EiaBeRaEE - (1,461) (1,330) - - - - - (1,330) (1,461)
Impairment losses on financial and HBRAEHEE
contract assets, net AEFE (11,918) (17,577) 5,776 (14,887) 2,016 (2,321) (1,136) 9,712 (5,262) (44,497)
Impairment losses on prepayment BRFERERE (26,975) — — — — — — — (26,975) —
Reversal of write-down of FEBKERN/
inventories (MR 13,520 (21,771) 15,019 (7,803) (1,534) 1,973 = (20) 27,005 (27,621)
Capital expenditure* AXRRL 335,591 166,431 71,391 164,605 1,024 5,623 2 5 408,008 336,664
Investments in associates BEARNERE = 5,591 157 = — — — — 157 5,591

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets.

* AAHXBRERBYE  BERREARETY
BE-
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4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. BREFHER =

(b) Geographic information (b) ib[@ & *}
Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and RNEBYE BEREKE HEEMRK
equipment, lease prepayments, goodwill, intangible assets H mE EREAERRBEARNER
and interests in associates are located or operated in the URFBRERPELZEE - TRIEMEH
Mainland China. The following table sets out information FIHAEBERBEIART P B RIER
about the Group’s revenue from external customers and the TR RIBAIE K o B P TR 4 LA R A
Group's non-current prepayments by geographical location. & oh sk 1R AR TS A 3 B R AR R o

The geographical location of a customer is based on the
location to which the goods were delivered or the services
were provided.

(i) Revenue from external customers () KEMNATFHKE

2019 2018

S Il -\«
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARmFr NS

Mainland China R K P 3,273,758 2,963,496
Export sales HOEE
- Japan - B 783,353 662,962
- Taiwan - /& — 6,621
— Other Asian Regions - Ef i@ 349,266 377,267
- Europe - BOM 17,060 12,106
- Mexico - = 2,115 —
Sub-total e 1,151,794 1,058,956

Total a5t 4,425,552 4,022,452
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4. Operating segment information (continued) 4. BREFHER =

(b) Geographic information (continued) (b) b[% & ¥} (&)
(i) Non-current prepayments (i) FERBTE FKIA

2019 2018
—E—-hF —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T N

Mainland China A K R 29,447 62,451
Overseas 8 o
- Taiwan - /& = 33,557
Sub-total 1N — 33,557
Total Bt 29,447 96,008
(c) Information about major customers (0 TEXFWEFR
For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue from major HE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HLFE"
customers, each of whom contributed 10% or more to the REFTERFHOKZDS  SEAEEBYW
Group'’s total revenue, is set out below: #=10% s A EFEHFI T ¢

2019 2018
s — T \F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T N

Customer A BEPA
- From Segment A - R85 HA = 12,428
- From Segment B - R85 B 482,736 587,202
- From Segment C .= e = 6
Customer B ®FB
- From Segment A - KRB DA 9,276 109,262
— From Segment B - KRB BB 146,833 512,387

- From Segment C - KRB »EC = 11,993
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5. Revenue 5. Wz
2019 2018
—E-AfF ZZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Revenue from contracts with customers K ZEETE R AHRA
Sales of monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/ HEKGRESEE A
wafers 1,106,209 703,802
Sales of monocrystalline and multicrystalline HEAGREERRZREEL
silicon solar cells 45,173 83,004
Sales of photovoltaic modules HE X IKAH 2,898,479 2,489,290
Construction and operation of photovoltaic P2 I A8 S R B
power plants 26,441 58,182
Rendering of services 12 AR 7% 349,250 688,174

4,425,552 4,022,452
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5. Revenue (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(@)

RZZE-—NAF+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2019

(BREBEBEN -

AAR¥SIE)

5. K
£

(i)

= ()
ERERFARMIEA

DBEBAE

=)

7y

BE-_Z-hFE+=-A=+—HLEFE

Construction and
operation of

Silicon solar Photovoltaic photovoltaic
ingots/wafers modules Silicon solar cells power plants Total
AGEER/ BER
ER EREH ABRHEESY BERREW @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%TR ARETR ARET R AR%TR
Types of goods and service BRAREHEL
Sales of industrial products HEIXER 1,106,209 2,898,479 45,173 - 4,049,861
Processing service RIRE 39,338 300,623 9,289 — 349,250
Construction services BRERHB = = — 26,441 26,441
Total @it 1,145,547 3,199,102 54,462 26,441 4,425,552
Geographic market BB TS
Mainland China & 1,145,038 2,079,587 22,692 26,441 3,273,758
Japan BA 12 751,571 31,770 = 783,353
South Asia [ = 349,266 = = 349,266
Other Asian regions A EMmE 497 16,563 = = 17,060
Others it = 2,115 = = 2,115
Total @it 1,145,547 3,199,102 54,462 26,441 4,425,552
Timing of revenue recognition WABZRH
Goods transferred at a point of ENEEERHE
time g% 1,106,209 2,898,479 45,173 — 4,049,861
Service transferred over time RERERER 39,338 300,623 9,289 26,441 375,691
Total @t 1,145,547 3,199,102 54,462 26,441 4,425,552
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3¢
5. Revenue (continued) 5. W= @)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) HEFEITERAKA (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) () DERAEE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZ-Z-N\E+=ZA=+—-HLt
FE
Construction and
operation of
Silicon solar Photovoltaic photovoltaic
ingots/wafers modules  Silicon solar cells power plants Total
AB# Apkige
EE/ TR KR A AB&ESN KREH @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Types of goods and service BRARENER
Sales of industrial products HET£ER 703,802 2,489,290 83,004 = 3,276,096
Processing service RIMRE 104,697 581,358 2,19 — 688,174
Construction services HERH% = = — 58,182 58,182
Total st 808,499 3,070,648 85,123 58,182 4,022,452
Geographic market HEM TS
Mainland China H 759,554 2,082,448 63,312 58,182 2,963,496
Japan BA 12,708 628,443 21,811 — 662,962
Taiwan = 6,621 — - - 6,621
Other Asian regions E B E 29,616 347,651 — — 377,267
Others Eft - 12,106 - - 12,106
Total @it 808,499 3,070,648 85,123 58,182 4,022,452
Timing of revenue recognition AR Z R
Goods transferred at a point of ENEEERHE
time v 703,802 2,489,290 83,004 — 3,276,096
Service transferred over time R RER 104,697 581,358 2,119 58,182 746,356
Total st 808,499 3,070,648 85,123 58,182 4,022,452

TRERAREDNEROBRASHE -
EERERSBINEGHNEED Wi
RmBARHENEOR

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
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5. Revenue (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

2019 2018
ZB-hF —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®BT ARBTFT
Revenue recognised that was included in BREBREERE BT
contract liabilities at the beginning of the EREaEMIBA
reporting period:
Sales of industrial products HETEEMN 64,466 43,850
(i) Performance obligations (i) BAOEME

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of industrial products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the acceptance
of industrial products by customers and payment is
generally due within 30 to 90 days from delivery, except for
new customers and small-sized customers, where payment
in advance is normally required.

Processing service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 30 to 90
days after customer acceptance.

Construction service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 30 to 90
days from the date of billing.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December are as follows:

BERASEROEENERBANT :

HET 2Zm7

EEPERIXERSRTEXEBENEL
RTRETFTERAMNROFELNNE
P 3B EERMNE30EI0RAIH] -

TR

R—BREEANRRREREKEBEOEE
il wER P EXZ30E90KRAEIH] -

M2 R

N—BERREEREATKBEHST
iR & Wk 2B B %30290K W28 -

BET-_A=1t—"8 ®HOENKNHE
WBEECREREC KD EEER

—FR

Within one year

M|
2019 2018
= — T \F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T N R
265,979 64,466
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6. Other income and gains, net 6. HttWg A Rz - B

2019 2018

S Nl -z \#
RMB’000 RMB’000
INLEP M AR%TR

Other income Hfth tr A

Government grants (note 33) RS #5 Bk (BT #E33) 166,152 46,184

Interest income from bank deposits RITHEREF B WA 11,740 5,616
177,892 51,800

Other gains/(losses), net Hihz (&8)  F8

Net foreign exchange gain HNE UL 25 F BB 9,412 787

Net loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE BEREEHERE

and equipment )i (128,879) (2,774)

Gain from sales of other materials S8 H AR 216 1,021

Others Hity (42,671) 2,918
(161,922) 1,952

7. Loss before tax 7. BRBIAIES 18
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBBRBABESHR:
(crediting):

2019 2018
—E—-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR T

(a) Staff costs* (including directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(note 9))
BIRA(BIEESEREZITHAEFH (K F9))

Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe IEBENEMEF 256,061 201,374
Contributions to retirement schemes BRORET &8 3K 27,663 20,273

283,724 221,647
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7. Loss before tax (continued) 7. BRBATE 8 ()

2019 2018
Sl ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
L EEN ) =rT

(b) Auditors’ remuneration

% SR B 2

Audit services ZE R 3,070 2,791
Tax services 7% AR 7% 23 —
Other services B AR 75 272 272

3,365 3,063

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T N R

(c) Other items

HE g
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2018: TREEENTE

amortization of land lease payments) (2018 - M EFE T FIBEH)

(note 17) (MF5£17) 5,715 4,244
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - REREEHITE

equipment? (note 14) (M 3E14) 233,331 229,426
Provision/(reversal) for warranties* R AE A (BEAER )

(note 32) (MF5£32) 18,394 (3,621)
Operating lease charges — properties LEHES L — W% = 1,914
Research and development costs i 78 K& B 3 A AR 230,289 210,252
Impairment losses on financial and contract @ @MN&EHEERE  F5B

assets, net (note 23 and 24) (M 7523 %24) 5,262 44,497
Impairment of property, plant and ME - BEREERE

equipment (note 14) (M 5E14) 15,167 47,020
Impairment losses on prepayment TS FRIE R B 1B K 26,975 —
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and  HEWE - BE L& FEHEIE

equipment P 128,879 2,774
Cost of inventories sold* (note 22(b)) BEEFERA (FiF22(b)) 3,747,724 2,953,556
Cost of services rendered? 2 52 4 AR 75 B AR 336,460 671,346

#  Cost of inventories sold and cost of services rendered include, in tOBEE-NAFT_A=T—HILEFEMNEE
aggregate, RMB457,668,000 (2018: RMB364,086,000) for the year FERARERHRBKRABEEBE TK
ended 31 December 2019, relating to staff costs, depreciation and N HTE RIRARES L ARKA57,668,0007T
provision for warranties which amounts are also included in the (ZZ—N\F : AR™364,086,0007T) * &% 58

respective total amounts disclosed separately above. Mt AR EX S FRABRENSEFIERE-
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8. Finance costs

8. BMME KA
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2019 2018
—ZE—-hF —E—N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Interest on bank and other loans wholly ARAFAZEEBNRITR
repayable within five years H A B ZF B 123,003 135,469
Interest on lease liabilities HEAE 127 —
Interest on finance leases BEREF B — 543
Total interest expenses on financial liabilities FERANTFERBZEY RV
not at fair value through profit or loss BEMNMNEREYAE 123,130 136,012

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the vyear,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

9.

EERBSITHRAENE

B4R £ AR R R BB A A %E383(1)(a)
©) OROEARAR(KEEENDER)
ROIE2HEATRENFAEERRSTERA
ST

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2019 2018

—E—-hE —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T AR F T

Fees biakeoy 4,050 3,708
Other emoluments: H B

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RBREMIE 257 253

Retirement scheme contributions IRRET B3R 35 33

292 286

4,342 3,994
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9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EERBSITHAEHME @
remuneration (continued)

2019
Sk
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme

in kind contributions
2K
a2
we REYFE RBRIRcHEIMR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®T R AR¥®T T AR¥ TR AR¥T R

Executive directors HITESE

Tan Wenhua B EE 860 — — 860
Tan Xin (chief executive) EE(THRER) 1,612 — 16 1,628
Wang Junze T892 553 257 19 829
Non-executive director FHITESE

Hsu You Yuan Ry 699 — — 699
Independent non- BYFBTES

executive directors

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert T ok 107 = = 107
Fu Shuangye S 107 — — 107
Zhang Chun A& 54 = = 54
Feng Wenli X B 58 = = 58

Total 1B Et 4,050 257 35 4,342
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9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EERESITHAEME @
remuneration (continued)
2018
—E-N\F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
BN
e EA
e REDHMZE BIRGHEIHER BEt
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARBTRET AR¥TT AR®TR

Executive directors HITES

Tan Wenhua B EE 873 — — 873
Tan Xin (chief executive) BE(THRER) 1,368 — 15 1,383
Wang Junze T 8% 507 253 18 778
Non-executive director FHITESE

Hsu You Yuan ERays 657 — — 657
Independent non- BYKETES

executive directors

Wong Wing Kuen, Albert T ok HE 101 — — 101
Fu Shuangye R 101 — — 101
Zhang Chun iR A& 101 — — 101
Total #Et 3,708 253 33 3,994
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief RERN TEREZHIGRRITHRABTZEM

executive waived any remuneration during the year. ZHMESRBEREEMME -
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10.Five highest paid employees 10. 28R FMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included four FANhEGRRTHEERENEZ(ZT—N
(2018: four) directors including the chief executive whose FNZ)ERRERSTHRALR)  FEHN
remuneration are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the A FOME - A T — R (ZF—\F : —
remuneration in respect of the remaining one (2018: one) ZI)WIARREELF=THABNFK= I
highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief MESHMERRT :

executive of the Company is as follows:

2019 2018
=l - \F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T N

Basic salaries, allowances and benefits in kind EAH 2R AEYH = 699 615
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B R — 15
699 630

The remuneration of the remaining one (2018: one) highest paid BRT—2(ZE-N\F: —R)EaFHNESE

employee is within the following band: Y & B A AR B ¢

2018
—E-N\F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE ANE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T 1 1
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M.FrB8%H
(@) BABRENFERAE

11.Income tax
(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:
2019
—E-AfF
RMB’000
AR TR
Current tax — the PRC BIEAEiE - &
Provision for the year FEEB 9,104 177
Under-provision in respect of prior years MAEFERETR 882 1,015
9,986 1,192
Deferred tax (note 21) PEIE T IE (KT aE21) 31,322 (13,349)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FEMGBHER/(EE) 41,308 (12,157)
(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before (b) AR A EE KD M B E M E

R(AAEER)EEREMTENGRB
AIBENHRERS  BREERKXG

tax at the statutory rates for the countries (or jurisdictions)
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries

are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, ERHIERZEENT
is as follows:
2019 2018
S Sl = 7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AR T

Loss before taxation B % Al & 18 (313,050) (232,744)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEMEFTERNTIE (78,263) (58,186)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBEENREE 2,563 1,373
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEEMBMANTEF L (958) —
Effect of differential tax rates (note (i) TR R 2 (K aEG)) 5,805 518
Effect of tax concessions obtained FrEREEERNZE (FREG))

(note (ii)) (1,181) (1,926)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and MAERIARBHRIEREE X

temporary Eis
differences not recognised EBNBRGEEE 81,615 73,902
Utilisation of unused tax loss and FABTFERMARERDN

temporary RE)ATIE
differences not recognised in EERERER

previous years (603) (28,853)
Write-off of unrecoverable deferred 58 5T B A R A S AT U [ AY

tax assets previously recognised RIERIBEE 31,448 i
Under-provision in respect of prior years BREFEREBETRE 882 1,015
Tax charge at the Group effective rate BEASEEBRRETEN

MIBEHAX 41,308 (12,157)
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NnNE+=—A=+—H
(BREBEBEN -

Q—?

AARIE)

11.Income tax (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Notes:

)

(if)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%)
of the estimated assessable profits of the Company’s
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong during the year. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong either did not have
any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax or had
accumulated tax losses brought forward from previous years to
offset the assessable profits for the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands are not subject to any
income tax pursuant to the local rules and regulations of their
respective countries of incorporation.

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary
incorporated in Germany is 15% for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 15%). No provision for the German
income tax has been made as the subsidiary incorporated in
Germany did not have any taxable profits for the year ended
31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s subsidiary
incorporated in Ghana was 35% for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 35%). No provision for the Ghana
income tax has been made as the subsidiary incorporated in
Ghana did not have any taxable profits for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: Nil).

The income tax rate of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries is 25%
except for the subsidiaries mentioned below:

Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (“Yangguang”) was
accredited as “High and New Technology Enterprise” by the
relevant government authority in 2012 for a term of three
years, and has been registered with the local tax authority to
be eligible for a reduced income tax rate of 15%. Yangguang
has renewed the “High and New Technology Enterprise”
certificate in 2018 effective for the three years from 2018 to
2020. Accordingly, Yangguang was entitled to the 15%
income tax rate for 2019 and 2018.

Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Ltd (“Jinzhou
Huachang”) was accredited as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” by the relevant government authority in 2014 for
a term of three years, and has been registered with the local
tax authority to be eligible for a reduced income tax rate of
15%. Jinzhou Huachang has renewed the “High and New
Technology Enterprise” certificate in 2017 effective for the
three years from 2017 to 2019. Accordingly, Jinzhou

Huachang was entitled to the 15% income tax rate for 2019
and 2018.

M.AEHR®

(b)

(#&)

GEX

)

(ii)

FRBEBNEBRIZA QAR BB FEMK
4%%%@7mﬁﬁ%£ﬁﬂﬁmm5%
ZE—)\F :165% )it E - AN BBt
10 A 32 69 B B 2 7 I 4 AT o] FE B 4N & B
FEHRNERTANEIBEFE AR

sHIRIRE R R RS F AR RBAE - ML
EELBENSHERB -
AARRERRAESHE R RABEZEHS

Ak 32 &9 BT B R AR B EL % B R K

B E AR R e AR 0 B B SR AR
PR -
BE"Z-NF+-_A=+—HLFE"

AR BREE MK E R FER
BEERERI5% (ZF—\F : 15%) °
H 70 5% ) E 18 B R 11 RS2 8 B A 2 A

BE-T—AF+-A=+—AILFE
45 ] 7O SRS - #8030 48 8 B R A
BREECE-N\T 8

HE_ZE-hE+-_A=+—HIEE -
KA ﬂ#m%?ﬁ&jmwgﬂﬂﬁ%
HEER KR BIS% (ZF— \F :35%) °
ﬁﬂ&ﬁEMMﬁﬁﬁlmWEQW\
HE-_ZT—NF+_A=+—BILtEE
I AT FE R AE - R EAE R IR ET
BREBHE(ZE—NF: &)

N AR R B E 2 R R FT R
HET BB A BRSO

MMER
25% -

BMEBEERAERARTEEDR _F
——HEEWUBNERKTIBMB KD

(If REI=F U REMBBEE
BERL  TaEMRIEI5% BN
B —E—N\F BREHISHE]
e,

FBE - BUBAR=F E*Zfﬂiti
ZEZTF A BINBERXRZ
—NERZZT—NFAR15%MEHE @
A

WHMEES KRR ERARAR ([HBMEE])
R-ZF-—NFEEERARFERE TS
ﬂ&m%ﬂ%iﬁ%:i'ﬁEméﬁ
MBEEAERL  TAEBBRIRIS%RHT X
BNREH —T—tF SWMESEH

[BHMEIEE ARMRr=F 8%
—tEFRE-T-AFIL B WINE

ER-_ZE-NEFER-F—
B R -

J\E R 15% FT
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11.Income tax (continued)

(b)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)
(i) (continued)

Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) Co., Ltd. (“Qinghai”) was
accredited as “High and New Technology Enterprise” by the
relevant government authority in 2016 for a term of three
years, and has been registered with the local tax authority to
be eligible for a reduced income tax rate of 15%. Qinghai
renewed the “High and New Technology Enterprise” certificate
in 2019 effective for the three years from 2019 to 2021.
Accordingly, Qinghai was entitled to the 15% income tax rate
for 2019 and 2018.

Jinzhou Yangguang Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd.
(BRINBE K WA KX AE AR AR (“Jinzhou Jinmao”), was
accredited as “High and New Technology Enterprise” by the
relevant government authority in 2016 for a term of three
years, and has been registered with the local tax authority to
be eligible to a reduced income tax rate of 15%. Jinmao
renewed the “High and New Technology Enterprise” certificate
in 2019 effective for the three years from 2019 to 2021.
Accordingly, Jinzhou Jinmao was entitled to the 15% income
tax rate for 2019 and 2018.

Jinzhou Yangguang Motech Renewable Energy Co., Ltd
("Jinzhou Motech”) was accredited as “High and New
Technology Enterprise” by the relevant government authority
in 2017 for a term of three years, and has been registered
with the local tax authority to be eligible to a reduced income
tax rate of 15%. Accordingly, Jinzhou Motech was entitled to
the 15% income tax rate for 2019 and 2018.

12.Dividends

The board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

13.Loss per share attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the company

(a)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company
of RMB355,492,000 (2018: loss of RMB222,402,000) and
the weighted average of 3,211,780,566 (2018:
3,211,780,566) ordinary shares of the Company in issue
during the year.

Diluted loss per share

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no
dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 £% 155

1.1 8% @

(b)

(%)
BYeE - ()
@iy (&)

BHreER(BEBRARABESED
R ANFEEERNERETI&H
BEReEIMA BH=F YEREi
TBHEATRT  FEEBRIKIS% TR
HATFRER  —E—NE - BRB BT
(EFERIBFE BafSA=F =%
—NWERE-_ZS-_—FIt-FHit BrE
BRZE—NFRZF—N\FAIRI5%F
BB -

5 M 5 5t 87 8 IR BB R 2 Rl(Jinzhou
Yangguang Jinmao Photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd.)([#8 M 88 ]) R =
Z-RNFEEHEBMNERK T IE# R
EIMAL - RBA=F YEREMRB
R - 8 EBIRIRI5%H 5 X H
FEH - —T—NF BMNBEEFI&
MMRIEE BERHAR=F A%
—NFREZTZ—FIE- At S\BIMB
BR-_B-NFR-ZZ-NFAIKIS%H
BB R -

8% M B e 1% i T 8e R A PR 2 A (M85 1 %
MR- T +FREEUBNFERET
(EHERCEI MM BH=F TER
BRI ERL  FAEERRIEIS%H
BEGMER - Bt BN EBER T
—NFERZZT—\FARI15% S5 X5
Rt

12.18 B
EFEgTREREE 2 -NF+_RA=+—
BLEEFEERRARE(ZTE-NF &) -

BALAAEERERFEARGES
K& R

(a)

ERELREE
BREAEBRDREAQA L BREZ
HE ARMLEERAR355,492,0007 (=
T —)\F : EiE AR ®222,402,0007T) BA
RFERNARNAR D EIT @R MNEF SR’
#3,211,780,566f% ( = & — J\ F:
3,211,780,5660% ) 5T & o

BREEEIE

REBEE-_Z—NWEFER-_TE—-N\F+=A
S+ BHLFE AEETEBEEES
MERTEAR AT EYEE=-F
—NER-F-NF+t-A=+—B1L
FEZINEBRELAEBEBREELES

Ae -
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14.Property, plant and equipment

1MYE- -BERKE

Plant,
machinery
Construction and Motor Furniture
in progress Buildings  equipment vehicles and fittings Total
BE - #E RARBEE
HEIR S R&RE "E $£E Fy
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR%Tr AR%TR AR¥Tr AR%BTrR AR%BTxR
Cost: 22
At 1 January 2019 R=ZZ—hLE—A—H 253,354 635,784 1,969,122 28,552 14,683 2,901,495
Exchange adjustments I 5 /B = = = = 48 48
Additions NE 261,831 10,562 104,357 733 15,429 392,912
Disposals HE = = (401,982) (763) (1,584) (404,329)
Transfer A (429,874) 96,998 332,265 — 611 —
At 31 December 2019 RZB-NF
+=ZA=+—H 85,311 743,344 2,003,762 28,522 29,187 2,890,126
Accumulated depreciation R FERAMERSE:
and impairment losses:
At 1 January 2019 R=ZFT—hE—A—H (71,483) (161,751)  (1,116,740) (22,917) (11,577)  (1,384,468)
Exchange adjustments VE 4 = = = — (54) (54)
Depreciation for the year FEFE = (20,009) (198,283) (1,533) (13,506) (233,331)
Written back on disposals HERER — — 148,044 697 1,312 150,053
Provision for impairment losses REEE = = (15,167) - — (15,167)
Transfer in/(out) BA/(8H) (739) 739 — — — —
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—NF
+-A=+—H (72,222) (181,021) (1,182,146) (23,753) (23,825) (1,482,967)
Net book value: REEE:
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF
+ZA=+—8 13,089 562,323 821,616 4,769 5,362 1,407,159
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(BB BEBEIN

14.Property, plant and equipment (continued)

AARESIE)
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1MMYNE-BERKE®®

Plant,
machinery
Construction and Motor Furniture
in progress Buildings equipment vehicles  and fittings Total
5 - e ER KA K EE
ERIR BF R TR B FEE
RMB’000 RMB‘000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®FTT ARBTRT ARETT ARETT ARBTR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2018 R=ZF—NE—A—H 117,916 629,162 1,959,349 26,342 19,568 2,752,337
Exchange adjustments ME N R — — = = 33 33
Additions NE 290,325 831 39,065 2,387 4,056 336,664
Disposals & — — (178,388) (177) (8,974) (187,539)
Transfer B (154,887) 5,791 149,096 = = =
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F
+=-—A=+—8 253,354 635,784 1,969,122 28,552 14,683 2,901,495
Accumulated depreciation R FERAMERSE:
and impairment losses:
At 1 January 2018 RZF—NE—A—H (71,483) (136,810) (974,325) (21,352) (17,268) (1,221,238)
Exchange adjustments TE XA = — — — (33) (33)
Depreciation for the year FEHE — (24,941) (200,023) (1,733) (2,729) (229,426)
Written back on disposals & B — — 104,628 168 8,453 113,249
Provision for impairment losses EEE — — (47,020) — — (47,020)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—-N\F
+=-A=+—H (71,483) (161,751) (1,116,740) (22,917) (11,577) (1,384,468)
Net book value: SREVEE:
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=—A=+—8 181,871 474,033 852,382 5,635 3,106 1,517,027
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14.Property, plant and equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings were secured by certain of the
Group's property, plant and equipment (note 28), which had an
aggregate net book value of RMB749,463,000 (31 December
2018: RMB454,831,000).

Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
are located in Mainland China.

The Group has yet to obtain property ownership certificates for
certain buildings included in property, plant and equipment with
an aggregate net book value of RMB256,842,000 as at 31
December 2019 (31 December 2018: RMB283,974,000).
Notwithstanding this, the directors are of the opinion that the
Group owned the beneficial title to these buildings as at 31
December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount
of property, plant and equipment of certain subsidiaries’ of the
Group in the silicon solar ingots/wafers segment was lower than
the carrying amount according to the negative expectation for
the photovoltaic industry. The Group assessed the recoverable
amount and as a result, the carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment of these subsidiaries in the silicon solar
ingots/wafers segment was written down to the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss of RMB15,167,000 was recognised
in “Impairment of property, plant and equipment”. The
estimates of recoverable amount of the silicon solar ingots/
wafers segment were based on value in use. The after-tax
discount rate is 14.50%. Management believes any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying
amount to exceed their recoverable amount. The key
assumptions used for the value in use calculations are the
revenue and operating costs.

1MME- -BERRKREE

E—NE+-_A=+—08 AEEET
AERITEENUASEREFERAEAR
#749,463,000c(— T —N\NF+=-_A=+—
H: AR#454,831,000C) & THWE  BE

BB E AR (M 7528) ©

AEFBBRBOYVE  BFERREHLRF
B K o

ZIS%@WH%%%%%Wr)\%% W= & %
NEFHNEEMERE R-_T—NLF+=
A=+—H ZSEFNEREFELEAA
R 256,842,000t (=T —\F+_-_A=+—
H: A R #283,974,0007T) - AT & £ R
H AEBR-_ZTE—NFE+-_A=+—8#%
EZEEFNEREE-

HEZT-—NF+ZA=+—AHLFE R
BXRITENEERY  AEEKRGEEE
EROHNETHBARME BERRE
MO RESEERNEREE ASEFGH
WEl S5 AL - KBREErERE B 93
ETWBARIMNYE  BEAKRENREE
EREEHATRESRE - UE  WEERER
BEERREEEBAREI5,167,0007T ° XI5 4E
ﬁi%/ﬁi)#"*BE@TH&Z@@%EE’JH.#%W%
HEE HETHEEEI450% - ERER
B AREBSEMERENERERBERNENE
BR8N RkHeBmEAH K
e -ARHFECTHEENBERREZNR
AFNBE A ©
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15.Intangible assets 15. 8L EE

Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total

EF@% BEFEN =3 HE

RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®TRT AR®TR

Cost: A
At 1 January and RZE—NF—HA—H
31 December 2019 E+=ZA=+—H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869

Accumulated amortisation R EHERREERE
and impairment losses:

At 1 January and RZE—-—NF—HA—H

31 December 2019 E+—HA=+—H (185,230) (2,411) (67,228) (254,869)
Net book value: REFME:
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF

+=A=+-= — — — —
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15.Intangible assets (continued) 15.8F&E @
Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total
B PR BEREH B A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTE ARBTT AR®BTRT

Cost: XN
At 1 January and RZZE-N\F—-—H—H
31 December 2018 Y+=ZA=+—8H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869

Accumulated amortisation EFEEREHEES :

and impairment losses:

At 1 January and RZZ2—-—NF—H—H
31 December 2018 E+ZAR=+—H (185,230) (2,411) (67,228) (254,869)
Net book value: BREFE:
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=-—A=+—8 o o o -
The intangible assets were fully impaired during the year ended BEEECRBE_ZT——-F+A=+—
31 December 2012. B ERERE -
16.Goodwill 16.F &
2019 2018
ZEB-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBFIT
Cost: B
At 1 January and 31 December WN—A—BEK+ZAR=+—H 208,237 208,237
Accumulated impairment losses: ZEtREEE:
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BE+ZA=+—H (208,237) (208,237)
Carrying amount: BRTEE :
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H = —
The goodwill was fully impaired during the year ended 31 HEEREBEZE_T——F+=-A=+—8H1L

December 2012. FETBHRE-
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17.Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office rental. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 20 to 30 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 January 2019)
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17.78 &
AEBEEREREA
AEBEHAZHEHESR - — X ERE
2 EHIBLE TR TESTE Y A20E30%
WHAE T - BIBEELMBEENER BT
ERFENK - —BME AEETEEAEE
MO ERREEE -

(@) ERNEIHEER(CE-AF-—A—BZ

Al)
RMB’000
ARBTIT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 —E-N\F-A-B8KREHE 146,233
Recognised in profit or loss during the year FRERER (4,244)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 —E-N\F+ZA=1+T—BXEHEHE 141,989

(b) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

(b)) EREEE
ARENEREEENRESBMFEE

the movements during the year are as follows: 2HUT

Leasehold Office
lands buildings Total
HE L moRE AT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®TFRT AR®TE
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE—-—NAF—H—H 143,154 1,245 144,399
Additions N 12,452 — 12,452
Depreciation charge WEEH (4,719) (996) (5,715)
As at 31 December 2019 RZEBE-—NF+ZA=+—H 150,887 249 151,136
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17.Leases (continued) 17. & @
The Group as a lessee (continued) N E B 1EAAME A (E)
(c) Lease liabilities (c MEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FAHEEENREASBEMESHNT

during the year are as follows:

2019 2018
s —T N\F
-EHI Finance lease

liabilities payables

MmEMRE
HEAE J& 1~ R I8
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T N R

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZHRE#E 2,410 9,840
New leases EE = =
Accretion of interest recognised FRAWRZ MBI M
during the year 127 543
Payments NES (1,149) (10,383)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-—BA=+—HBHzEHAE 1,388 —
Analysed into: ST
Current portion BN AR &R 7 376 —
Non-current portion FE B B &6 5 1,012 —
(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases d EEa+EREHEE@EMNSTENT

are as follows:

2019

—E-hE

RMB’000

AR® Tt

Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 127
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets TREEENERA

lease liabilities (included in cost of sales) HEaE(BEREEHEXNAF) 5,715

Total amount recognised in profit or loss FAFABmAEE 5,842
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18. R M B FR YRR

18.Prepayments for raw materials

In order to secure a stable supply of polysilicon materials, the
Group entered into short-term and long-term contracts with
certain raw material suppliers and made advance payments to
these suppliers which are to be offset against future purchases.
Prepayments for raw materials where the Group expects to
receive the raw materials more than twelve months after the
end of the reporting period are classified as non-current assets
and to receive within one year are classified as current assets.
There was no prepayment for raw materials made to a related
party as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2014, management reassessed the
prepayments for potential impairment and identified one of the
suppliers, from which the Group allegedly failed to purchase the
quantities of polysilicon under the long-term supply contract,
and therefore made a full impairment provision of
US$11,500,000. As at 31 December 2019, the amount of
impairment provision remained the same which was equivalent
to RMB80,266,000.

Based on the updated assessment by management for the year
ended 31 December 2019, no further impairment or reversal of
impairment was made during the year ended 31 December
2019. The movement in the impairment provision during the
year merely represented exchange adjustments.

19.Investments in associates

ARREBTZRERMEERE Ae@EE
ETEMBHEEIICERAREREHTE
ZEHREEIHEMRE  ZEREBRA
BEBEPESE AEEEHNBREHMES
B+ =18 B LA £ A BEUS R R EE
NRESBERIERDEE Wi —FRAME
EMHOEMBBENRESBEARBEE -
R-ZE—-hAE+-_A=+—8 HWEXNT
B AEMBEMNRE(CE-\F+=A
=t+—H:&)-

R-ZE—MNWFE+-_A=+—H EEBEZH
ENRENEBEREEF TG XE®
REFP—ZEER AEEEBREREER

2R 711,500,000 TR BEE - B E =
T-—NWF+-_A=+—H BEESBEHEEZTT
# . Jr& AR #80,266,0007T °

BEEEERBE-_ZE—NF+=ZA=+—
BILFEEHNFMG REE-_T-NF+=
A=+ —RUEFEBERBEE - TiHER
BRBLQRE - FAREREEZDE/ERL

B

PDREBEEQXTANRE

EHEEFE

Share of net assets

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt NS -RWH
157 5,591
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19.RBERNTINKRE #)
TEBIBMLATNEE  EAELTAT

= e .
B g -

19.Investments in associates (continued)

The following list contains the particular of the associates,
which are unlisted corporate entities:

Form of business

Place of
establishment

Registered and

Percentage of
ownership
interest
attributable

Name of associate structure and business paid-in capital to the Group Principal activities
AEBEEN
BENR AR EBEBEA E3IZRAE S 3 AMRESAELX BEEEBIL TEXK
Jinzhou Chengguang New Incorporated The PRC/ Registered capital of 49 Construction of photovoltaic
Energy Technology Co., EERiigAva Mainland China RMB10,000,000 and power plants
Ltd. (“Chengguang”) HE B KR paid-in capital of BEARER
570388 5 7 88 IR B RMB10,000,000
BRAR(HEKD AMERARE
10,000,0007T &
BEHERA
R #10,000,0007C
Jiangsu Oriental Huida New Incorporated The PRC/ Registered capital of 30 Construction of photovoltaic
Energy Technology Co., ERiigAva Mainland China  RMB20,000,000 and paid- power plants
Ltd. (“Huida"”) AR B K in capital of BENKE
IHRTEERRRNRE RMB4,700,000
Rra ([EE]) AMERARE
20,000,000t X EH & A
AR #4,700,0007T
Liaoning Little Giant Energy Incorporated The PRC/Mainland Registered capital of 30 Construction of photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd. E3iigAva China RMB10,000,000 and paid- power plants

("Little Giant") K BE in capital of BENXKER
BEENEAFERMNE RMB2,000,000
BRAR(/NEAD AMERAARYE

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity

method in the consolidated financial statements.

10,000,0007C & & # & A&
A B #2,000,0007C

BERAAR -

bt =R S AR E AR AR RS B S



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
ISR R B 5

31 December 2019 R=—Z—hFE+=-A=+—8H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B A sEBAZE 4N » LA A REEFI(E)

19.Investments in associates (continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associates,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and
reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements, is disclosed below:
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19.RBEQNTNERE @
IEMEATINMEEREEREAEHRK
FERRRRREANERENEEEYE
BEWENT :

Share of the associates’ loss for the year
(kL]
Share of the associates’ total
comprehensive loss
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's

investments in the associates IREARE

AEFERIGHEDREERN
BEBERTEHEERER

AEERBERTZKE

2019 2018
= —T N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T N
1,330 1,461
1,330 1,461

157 5,591

In June 2019, the Group provided a full impairment for its
investment in 49% equity interest of Jinzhou Chengguang New
Energy Technology Co., Ltd. which was unable to commence
production as expected and unable to generate expected returns
to recover the carrying amount of the investment as at 30 June
2019. The impairment loss recognised was RMB4,104,000.

RZZ-NFERA AEEFERSB ML
MR AR AB49%MENRERE S
FBE  ZAREEREYRE  TEEEL
BHERAKODEEHERE —T—-LFER
R=+ENREE -CHANREEBEIRA
R #4,104,0007T °
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20.Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
income/available-for-sale investments

Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value
Jinzhou Xincheng Yangguang Power Plants
Co., Ltd.
Jiangsu Yueyang Photovoltaic Technology
Co., Ltd.

UARBEFEEEZBFA
Htp e WENEERE
FETHRERE ROFE
BMERE LB BR A A

20. A AEEGBELBEH AR
EERBENERRE A
ERE

2018

—E—N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T N R
— 2,430

TERRE S KRB B R A A

1,800 —

In February 2019, The Group withdraw its investment in 19%
equity interest of Jinzhou Xincheng Yangguang Power Plants
Co., Ltd. (“Xincheng Power Plant”) as this investment no longer
coincide with the Group's investment strategy. Xincheng Power
Plant was deregistered with Jinzhou Municipal Administration of
Industry and Commerce according to common decision of the
Group and other shareholders of Xincheng Power Plant. The
Group had proceeds of RMB2,051,000 in cash from this
investment withdrawal.

In July 2019, the Group invested RMB1,800,000 in cash for
15% equity interest of Jiangsu Yueyang Photovoltaic Technology
Co., Ltd., a photovoltaic product manufacturer which
commenced production in November of 2019.

b for identification only

ZE-NFZA AEEEE T HBMNEMR
BHEBEHARARATEBEEHE W]
19%REMKRE BRAZRETHEFEASE
ERRERE BEASEE REHEuH A
BROEBEARE EREHCABNTIE
RHEE AEERZERLIRETESRES
Iz B AR 2,051,000 °

RZZE—NFLtA AEEUBRSARE
1,800,000 T & B L& LG K AR AR A A
5% TaEE Rt REEARA AR
—HARERRERTIR _T—NLF+— A
RE -
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21.Deferred tax 21. 3R FE B 18
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in RIFEMBRRERERNEEHIEELEE (8
the consolidated statement of financial position and the B)WEERFRAEHNT :

movements during the year are as follows:

Losses

available for

Depreciation offsetting

Fair value Provision allowance in against

adjustment on for doubtful excess of Provision future

Deferred business debt and related for taxable
income  combination inventories depreciation warranties profits Others Total

A%

EBAHH RER HERE FE BRI
BERA ATE FERE BAEBFE RARE BE#ENER Hity EE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTE ARBTT ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 R=Z—-N\F—A—H 739 (2,710 3,038 (71) 21,879 8,475 632 31,982
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss MBE (1B /FE A (B 1)

(note 11) (739) 72 2,031 31 (704) 13,290 (632) 13,349
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZ-NF+=ZA=+—-H - (2,638) 5,069 (40) 21,175 21,765 45,331
At 1 January 2019 R-T-NE—A—H - (2,638) 5,069 (40) 21,175 21,765 £ 45,331
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss R Bz (1K) /5 A (BH&11)

(note 11) o 74 (4,898) 40 (15,377) (11,161) £ (31,322)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-AF+-A=+—H = (2,564) 17 = 5,798 10,604 = 14,009
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21.Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 December 2019, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of RMB1,189,560,000
(31 December 2018: RMB695,958,000) and RMB209,192,000 (31
December 2018: RMB158,443,000) attributable to its subsidiaries
in Mainland China and Hong Kong, respectively, and certain
deductible temporary differences of RMB190,748,000 (31
December 2018: RMB331,402,000), as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses or deductible
temporary differences can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdictions and entities.

Included in the unrecognised tax losses, RMB209,192,000 (31
December 2018: RMB158,443,000) may be carried forward
indefinitely and the remaining balance will expire at various
dates up to 2023.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2019, taxable temporary differences relating to
the undistributed profits of certain subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC amounted to RMB9,962,000 (2018:
RMB10,281,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised in respect of the withholding tax that would be
payable on distribution of these retained profits as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that profits from these
subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

21 EERH E (@)

HMABRELEHIBEE

N-EBE-NAE+-_A=+—B K"EELE
HOBRPRREREBHHE QR ARE
1,189,560,000c (= E — N F+ = A=+ —
H: A R #695958,000T) & A R #&
209,192,000 (ZZE—N\F+=-_A=+—8:
AR #158,443,0007T) H) FE(G R E) B B 1E 5 18
& F o] 008 R = 58 A R #190,748,0007T
(ZZE—"NHF+-_A=+—"H: AR¥
331,402,0007T) RIELER B A E - REAAE
BHEREREREETIATESEARAKRE
RBF A IS A B AT NIRRT RELE -

RIERBHIBREFR A AR209,192,0007T (=
Z - N+ -_A=Z=+—H: AR
158,443,0007T) I] R EA 45828 - AR R E R
—E_=FWMTRBHER -

HMAERELEHIERE

RZZE—NANF+_A=+—H0 BXAEER
FERINETHBRAR A KA BEERAN
ERBEREZE A ARKI62,000T (= F
— N\ & AR¥10,281,0007T) ° # & 5 5 &
ZERBFEE MBI B I8 R AR
REEE RERARRIEHZENEBR A
MR EHE MEEBRATEZEMBRARRKA
RARDIEFBEORE DK -
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22.Inventories 2.7 8
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position (a) MEUBRARIBGFERE
comprise:
2019 2018
s — T N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR F T
Materials and supplies R R L & 248,263 133,977
Finished goods UK 161,665 256,214
Less: Write-down of inventories to net B FERRER#REE
realisable value (15,818) (42,823)
394,110 347,368
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories sold is as follows: b)) EEMNHFESEINOT :
2019 2018
—ZE-h#F —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFTERNERHEE 3,774,729 2,925,935
Write-down of inventories FE M — 27,621
Reversal of write-down of inventories F & MUm, 3 (27,005) —
3,747,724 2,953,556
23.Trade and bills receivables .ERESZRAREE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR T
Trade receivables FEUE 5 KRR 1,286,963 1,387,746
Bills receivable B E & 80,310 213,893
Less: Impairment B ORE (92,669) (117,916)
1,274,604 1,483,723

B 07,0 70N
P S e

®@@mv’
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23.Trade and bills receivables (continued) BEREZRERRERE®
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the REEHBEEER  HKREREERNERK
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net BORFERERNEREEZBHSMAT ¢

of loss allowance, is as follows:

2019 2018

= s — T \F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T N

Within 1 month —MEAR 410,124 546,396
1 to 3 months —Z=@A 109,485 349,844
4 to 6 months /= 75 & A 73,823 164,867
7 to 12 months tE+ @R 377,952 339,784
Over 1 year HiE—F 303,220 82,832
1,274,604 1,483,723
The Group normally allows a credit period of 30-90 days to its REE—MGETERFI0E0BMEEH - B
customers. However, regarding domestic photovoltaic module HEAZAMHEE  BoEREERZRN @ KT
sales, some trade receivables are granted longer credit periods BARARBMERNIREBER RREEHR
of up to 180 days depending on the construction period of R E18 0K I NEBERKIRRARE
photovoltaic power plants. In addition, 10% of the total amount HI0%ER —EBRNERZERE WER
of receivables are retained as deposits in some domestic S—MAELHN —FRUE - Hut - BUEEEZE
contracts, and will generally be recovered in approximately one KB SEFEEHEA —RRE -

year. As a result, the trade receivables turnover days of module
sales are generally longer.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade BSRWARERERFEBREEZSHOT
receivables are as follows:

2019 2018
—E—-hEF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T N R

At beginning of year RET) 117,916 73,350
Exchange adjustments PE 3 38 — 1,248
Impairment losses (note 7) BRERREE KL (H:E7) 5,213 44,211
Amount written off as uncollectible W 5E & A A Y B 2 BOR (30,460) (893)

At end of year RER 92,669 117,916
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23.Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

The decrease (2018: increase) in the loss allowance was due to
the significant decrease in the gross carrying amount of loss
allowance of RMB30,460,000 (2018: RMB893,000) as a result of
the write-off of trade receivables due from a customer.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if the Group is
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote.

The Group sells its products to China’s large-scale state-owned
and multinational enterprises, which have been maintaining
good credit ratings with high reputations all over the world. The
Group traded with such enterprises and never had any
receivables that could not be recovered. Therefore, the directors
were of the opinion that no impairment allowance was
necessary for China’s large-scale state-owned enterprises and
multinational enterprises.

The Group applies the simplified approach to the provision for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of lifetime expected loss provision for all trade debtors. To
measure the expected credit loss on trade debtors excluding
receivables from China’s large-scale State-owned and
multinational enterprises, trade debtors have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the ageing.
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23.ENESRAREE »

BEEUBRELERFIRTEHET
—N\E+_A=+—HBLEFENRE
BEEERL(ZE—NF  EIDE2HRAE
HAETHEFNERE SRR BBUSIE
EAHFENEEBSERBERD T ARE
30,460,000t (20184 : A K #893,0007T) °

REREARRARBREEETRED T
N ERHEEBE Kt ERRB X2
R BEEEMMBSAMUSNARB
EE2R EARARRKLEFERERANE
BRASEER - —RME  WAKERAZESR
B B U R BB - B UE B R BRI T LA -

AEEREEFERHFYBEEZHRAERTR
BNANBEECEURBERAREEER
AEEEZBECLENRZREHRBRER
e RER - Hih ERERREFTHRILE
BEEENMBEARNRERERER -

BEVBRELNERERNAFHMEES
BEBHERBEAFKBERARERERD
IE ARAEERAT BT A IRES
EREX - RTEHERKRAEAELEXNER
RAINNESEB M BEREREBL R
MERREERREBMEREESERAL

T
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23.Trade and bills receivables (continued) . EWESRIAREEE @
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TRENANEBEFABEEBTENEKE
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: SRERNEERRBRER :
As at 31 December 2019 RZFE-—NFF+ZA=1+—H
Large-scale
Chinese state-
owned and
multinational Between  Between  Between
composite Within 1 and 2 and 3 and Over
enterprises 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years
-Fp -FEZF Zf ZEEME  BARE
Expected credit loss rates BREERRE - 1398%  4537%  6143%  68.37% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEBEARETT) 1,029,665 154,455 24,918 6,634 49,313 21,978 1,286,963
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER
(ARETT) = 21,595 11,304 4,076 33,716 21,978 92,669
As at 31 December 2018 RZFE-NF+ZA=4+—H
Large-scale
Chinese state-
owned and
multinational Between Between Between
composite Within 1 and 2 and 3and QOver
enterprises 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
REREBAEN

BEEALLR —Ef —HE-F —EE-E CEENE O BANF @it

Expected credit loss rates BHEEEEE - 1346%  4403%  64.12%  89.76% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEBEARETT) 1,122,979 152,140 5,663 24,567 30,410 51,987 1,387,746
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER

(ARBTT) - 20,478 2,493 15,752 27,29 51897 117916
As at 31 December 2019, bills receivable amounting to RZTE—NFF+ZA=+—8 BEREEA
RMB52,828,000 (31 December 2018: RMB141,283,000), together K #52,828,000L (ZE—NF+_A=1T—
with pledged deposits amounting to RMB298,489,000 (31 B AK®141,283,0000) A R EEBFRA
December 2018: RMB196,300,000) had been pledged as security R#298,489,000t (ZE—N\F+ZA=+—
to banks for issuing bills payable to suppliers amounting to H : AR#%196,300,0007T) fE &R 1T A AR &
RMB377,194,000 (31 December 2018: RMB661,518,000). FERT L E R ) BB A R %377,194,0007T (=&

—NEF+=-A=+—8: AR#¥661,518,000)
TCEAT A o
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24.Contract assets 2.5 EE

31 December 31 December 1 January
2019 2018 2018
—E-AF AN —T-N\%F
+=HA=+—8H —A=+—H —H—HR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT AR®TT

Contract assets arising from: AREEEAR

Processing services 0 I AR 7 351 13,364 35,125
Construction services EE R 11 2,127 —
Impairment BB (49) (286) —
313 15,205 35,125
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to EREEFEHEAEEEZEED TKMALEE
consideration for work completed and not billed because the MIEER AAEZSHEMNIAAREAEER
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance in WREBHERTNIERBESOREITSE
satisfying the respective performance obligations at the BABENRREKE - ERFP KRB FE
reporting date on processing and construction contracts. Upon g HRARAGRHNEENHEBENRSEAR
completion of service and acceptance by the customer, the EORKFIE BEZTE-—NF+ZA=1+—
amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade HEFAE bt a B ERFE—F RO
receivables. All above contract assets as at 31 December 2019 HAEE o

are expected to be recovered or settled within one year.
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24.Contract assets (continued) 2.8 HEE W

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract ARNEEREBERENESHUT
assets are as follows:

2019 2018
LN - \&
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET 7 NSRS

At beginning of year REH) 286 —
Impairment losses, net (note 7) EEEK - FEE(KE7) 49 286
Reversal of impairment BB [E (286) —
At end of year RER 49 286
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date BEKSANEREBREELETRED T
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The Nt ERMGERBLX - EREGNEERES
provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit RUEFBERER-—FFER HAEANEE
losses of the contract assets are based on those of the trade MERERBRANBEAEXDREE S BEX
receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are BT °

from the same customer bases.

The Group provides processing services and construction services REE SR FEBEAECERENIREAN
to China’s large-scale state-owned enterprises, which have been HERY ELEE-BERBRENEEFN
maintaining good credit ratings with high reputations. RAZEREHBRE - Ait EFTRREFIR
Therefore, the directors were of the opinion that no impairment PR E R -

allowance was needed.

Large-scale
state-owned
enterprises  Within 1 year Total
KBEEELE -FR At
Expected credit loss rates EHEABLE — 14%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) BEBLB(ARET L) — 351 351

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) BEHEREX(ARETT) — 49 49
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25.Prepayments, other receivables and other
assets
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BB NRE -REREMEWR

IE

2019 2018

—E-NE —E—N\F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T AR F T

Prepayments for raw materials R B8 TE A 5RIB 262,112 174,486
Deductible value-added tax A HR B 61,198 53,146
Other receivables H h & U 3R IE 33,966 20,103
Impairment allowance DRI (6,800) (6,800)
350,476 240,935

The other receivables mainly represent deposits and staff
advances, and an impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting date by considering the probability of default. Except
the separate item of prepayments already impaired, as the
financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default, no
impairment was provided during the year.

26.Pledged deposits

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits were pledged to secure
bank loans and other banking facilities granted to the Group as

HtEWRBT2AERRE I BT IR
EREDMBBEERENMTETREDN -
HRERKRENEBRBEMNREN AR LA
BEANEREBEURENTHEEOHI ERR
o8k M BN FRREIRE -

26.CIEBER

AEEETROTGFARERAEEREEORT
ERREMBITREFELER  SHIWT

follows:
2019 2018
—z-ns EEEEE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T NS -RWH
Pledged as security for bank loans ERERRITERMER R 63,426 182,025
Others H 339,765 243,284
403,191 425,309

The effective annual interest rate for pledged deposits with
banks was 1.22% for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
1.2%).

HE—_T—NE+-_A=+—HIEEE B
IR FRITOTRNEEFFEE122E (=
T—N\FE:12E)-

!@i@@’

@%’
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27.Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances

Be RIRITHEH

Cash and bank balances totalling RMB146,637,000 (31
December 2018: RMB134,887,000) as at 31 December 2019 are
denominated in RMB. The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

27. B8 SRBELEZEEY
2019 2018

Sl - \F

RMB’000 RMB’000

IN-LEH AR T

396,854 239,712
R-B-AFTA=+—-HMNRERRT
A H AR %146,637,000C (= —\F

—“A=+—H: AR%134,887,0007T) LA A
REDE ARETTEHIBRAEME -
SAT - ARIR A BISNE S B R A R AEE - BE R
NEEEAT A5EEH EEBRERTT
AR S BIEINE DAETTINE 275 -

RITHESRERBERITEFERNELRFHH =
MEBAME -EHREHRERBR R - RE={E
A BFAEENRFRSHERKME - WA
EREHERFRAERNAE - RITHEH
REeBREREF ALY ERRLEHAE
A RIFEERTT -
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28.Interest-bearing borrowings and Other 28.5T EEE
Borrowings
2018
“E-N\F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
(%) (%)
Notes G EE S VETT BB & Maturity  RMB’000
i (%) 08 AR%®TrR (%) I8 AR¥ETR
Current: ik
Bank loans — secured RITER — FER (@  5.655-9.000 2020 862,881 7.14-8.3075 2019 794,500
Bank loans — guaranteed ROIER — BER (b)  4.440-7.140 2020 799,615 5.02-8.3075 2019 851,630
Other loans — guaranteed HER — BER 5.475 2020 10,464 — — —
Current portion of long-term REEENFTBHIF S
borrowings:
Other loans — guaranteed HMER — BER (b) 1.6-7.5 2020 7,954 1.6-7.5 2019 127,010
Total = 1,680,914 1,773,140
Non-current: ¥R :
Other loans — guaranteed HEMER — BER (b) 1.6-7.5 2021-2023 129,325 1.6-7.5 2020-2023 17,317
Total CE 129,325 17,317
(@) The bank borrowings are secured by: (@) SRITEEMNU T A AR -

()  The Group's property, plant and equipment with the net () SEMETWE  BELSEE BT
book value of RMB749,463,000 (2018: FE A AR 749,463,000 (= &
RMB454,831,000). — \F : AR¥454,831,0007T) °

(i) The Group’s leasehold lands amounting to (i EEMTHHAEBNREBELARYE
RMB69,843,000 (2018: RMB51,809,000). 69,843,000 (ZZE—\F: AR

51,809,0007T) °

(i) The Group’s deposits amounting to RMB63,426,000 (i) EE®MFHAARME3,426,0007T

(2018: RMB182,025,000). (ZZ — \F: AR %182,025,000
JT) °
(b) Certain subsidiaries’ borrowings are guaranteed by the other by ETHEARNERE REEE B

subsidiaries of the Group. NAER o
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28.Interest-bearing borrowings and Other 28.:tE B &)

Borrowings (continued)

2019 2018
s — T \F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T N

Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: ATEENRITER:
Within one year or on demand —FANIEEK 1,662,496 1,646,130
Other borrowings repayable: BTEENEMESR:
Within one year —F R 18,418 127,010
In the second year F_F 126,689 4,700
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EZRTF BRE
BEEME 2,636 12,617
147,743 144,327
1,810,239 1,790,457
29.Trade and bills payables 9. EHESRAEEE
2019 2018
s —T N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T BNGL RS
Trade payables ERE ZER 694,660 546,547
Bills payable FE R 807,964 894,518

1,502,624 1,441,065
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29.Trade and bills payables (continued)

(a)

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:
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9. EBENESRAREE®

(a)

REBEHREER BNESRARERE
BORKZEZAHOMAT

2019 2018
—g-he RIS
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET NS

Within 1 month — @A AR 263,656 449,254
1 to 3 months —Z=@A 470,864 319,128
4 to 6 months MEREA 604,466 267,889
7 to 12 months +tE=+=@A 137,950 365,662
Over 1 year ik —F 25,688 39,132

1,502,624 1,441,065

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bills payable of
RMB377,194,000 (31 December 2018: RMB661,518,000)
were secured by Group's bills receivable of RMB52,828,000
(31 December 2018: RMB141,283,000) (note 23) and by
Group’s pledged deposits of RMB298,489,000 (31
December 2018: RMB196,300,000).

R_ZE—h&E+_A=+—H A&H
AR #377,194,000t (ZZE—\F+=A
=+—H: AR%661,518,0007T) K J& {-f
FHRUAREE ARK®S52,828000L (ZF
—NF+_A=Z+—H:ARK
141,283,0007T) (M1 5E23) B9 JE WL 4R DA K2
AR #298,489,000t (ZZE—\F+=A
=+—8: AR%196,300,000) t 2 & ¥
FRIEEA -

!@i@@’

@%’
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30.0ther payables and accruals 30.HMENRERENEX

2019 2018
a5l —F\F

RMB’000 RMB’000
IN-L Bl ARETT

Other payables and accrued expenses HiENREREGSHAE 38,548 82,730
Other tax payables H b fE B E 30,036 21,147
Dividends payable FEAST AR B 152 148

68,736 104,025
The above amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no FiemEARER 2 EEETEERE-

fixed terms of repayment.

31.Contract liabilities 31.6WERE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: AEHEBEFBOT

31 December 31 December 1 January
2019 2018 2018
—E-AF —F-N\F —TN\F
TZA=+—H eiisiaal= —HA—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥®T R ARETT ARETT

Sale of industrial products HETXEEMN 265,979 64,466 43,850
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to EHNEEREREIXEERNEHEBERR
deliver industrial products. The increase in contract liabilities in —E-NEFREGRHNEBENEERHNEF
2019 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances ErRAEFPHEEIXERMESNGIELK
received from customers in relation to the sale of industrial FRIBANFTEL -

products at the end of the year.
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32.Provisions 32.%1E
Provision for
inventory
Provision for purchase
warranties commitment Total
FERE
RARE AERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARBTTT

At 1 January 2018 RZE—-N\FE—H—H 112,639 46,539 159,178

Provisions made FT {5 % 185 (3,621) = (3,621)
Exchange adjustments BE 3, S 2 = 2,344 2,344

At 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+_A=+—H 109,018 48,883 157,901

At 1 January 2019 RZE—NF—HF—H 109,018 48,883 157,901

Provisions made PT1E R £ 18,394 — 18,394

Exchange adjustments DE 3,5 B = 804 804

At 31 December 2019 RZFE-NF+-A=1+—H 127,412 49,687 177,099

The Group’s photovoltaic modules were typically sold with a REBMAREAGLER —RITERNH
2-year or 5-year warranty for defects in materials and HR2FSSFMRIIBERALRA - LRI10F
workmanship, and a 10-year or 25-year minimum power output R2BSFEHFEENHERE  DARFE &
warranty against declines of initial power generation capacity of ETERENG SRS EEELIONR
more than 10% and 20%, respectively from the date of 20% - IRIBRABEEGR  AEEEEEY
delivery. The Group has the obligation to repair or replace solar KNGRAHFETHIERXER - AEBRBR
modules, under the terms of the warranty policy. The Group RREENEEZSRAEBETHELAE -

maintains warranty reserves to cover potential liabilities that
could arise under these warranties.
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32.Provisions (continued)

The Group has adopted the estimation where the warranty
obligation is the equivalent of 1% of photovoltaic modules’
revenues, which is consistent with the practice of the solar
industry. In light of the historical sharp decline and anticipated
long-term decreasing trend of module prices, the Group
reassessed and updated the estimation of future warranty costs
with effect from 1 January 2019. The accrual basis still stays at
1% as prior assumptions, and based on the historical experience
and best estimation, the Group believes that the average selling
price of solar modules over the past two years would reflect the
estimated warranty cost liability more precisely, as opposed to
the current and past spot prices.

A subsidiary of the Group entered into a long-term supply
contract (the “Supply Contract”) with one of its suppliers in
2011, and made a non-refundable prepayment of
US$11,500,000 in 2012. As at 31 December 2014, the
subsidiary recognised an impairment of US$11,500,000
(equivalent to RMB70,369,000 on 31 December 2014) for the
non-refundable prepayment and recognised a provision of
US$7,122,375 (equivalent to RMB43,582,000 on 31 December
2014) for the onerous contract. The balance of provision for
impairment of the non-refundable prepayment as of 2019 was
RMB80,266,000 (31 December 2018: RMB78,927,000) and the
provision for the onerous contract as of 2019 was
RMB49,687,000 (31 December 2018: RMB48,883,000).

On 27 April 2018, the supplier filed a complaint and a claim of
a sum totalling approximately US$391,000,000 against the
subsidiary for the above alleged breach of the Supply Contract.
The case is unsettled and currently in litigation. In early 2020,
the subsidiary and the supplier, in principle, agreed to settle the
matter through negotiation, the terms of which are confidential
and yet to be finalised. Going forward, the subsidiary and the
supplier will be engaged in the negotiation and drafting of the
terms of a settlement agreement. Based on information
currently available to the Group, the directors determined that it
was not necessary to make any further provision for the
contingent losses from the Supply Contract for the year ended
31 December 2019.

32.8HEm®

AEE B A EE R % K8 4 K s A
NEBERBER BN ABREITENMRE -
ERAFERESL ER B T R ME SR
TRNBY AEER-_FT-NF—F—H
HEHFAMER T ERKERARANEE
HES ERDIERMNREARFTN1% @ LR
BRELERNKEGE  AEERAR  BAEA
REMBENREEBRASEE  WBEMF
KEGEATMFHEEERSERE REE
BRREERBRARE-

AEB-—HMNBAREEHER, —RN=2F
——FAIURAHEAN((HESNDIEA
EFZE—ZFXNTAAEENENK
11,500,000FE 7T c R E—WME+ - =+—
B #ZMBEAR BRI RERMNZERE
11,500,000 L (HE R =T —MUF+=A
=+—H AR%70,369,0007T) T L BEAE L
HREBE7122375FT(HER S —WF
+=A=+—H AR%43,582,0007T) - 1A =
T—NF - AR BHIENRIEREEH R
% A AR #80,266,0000t (Z T — N\F+ = A
=+—H: AR¥78,927,0007T) &I 5 B &
AHERERE B AR 49,687,000 (= F
—NF+=ZHA=+—H: AK%48,883,000
TT) e

RZZT—NFHA-++tA #EmH L
HREREEANONMBRAREL T HFAM
4B FE %) 5391,000,0003 T H R B - =14 &
R BAIEEFRDBZF - ZE_FF ¥ %
BB ARz HEERRA RS @B K HE
R RHANBERRERENMERER -
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33.Deferred income

Various government grants have been received by the Group for
generating export sales, participating in high-tech industry and
constructing various manufacture and photovoltaic power plants
in Jinzhou, Liaoning Province, Xining, Qinghai Province and
Qujing, Yunnan Province, the PRC.

Those government grants related to assets are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position initially as deferred
income and are amortised to profit or loss as other income over
the useful lives of the assets.

34.Retirement benefit schemes

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries were required to make
contributions to the scheme at 20% of the employees’ salaries
per annum to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group is required to participate in defined contribution
retirement schemes administered and operated by Bureau of
Labour Insurance of Taiwan for employees employed in Taiwan.
Under the schemes, the employer is required to make
contributions to the schemes at 6% of the employees’ relevant
income. Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the MPF scheme vest immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with the schemes beyond the
contributions described above.
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35.Share capital 35. R A&
Authorised and issued share capital AERBBETRA

2019 2018
—2-ng “E-0F

No. of shares No. of shares ‘000

Ko BE hqrx :4= T

Authorised: EE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ~ EEEAE0. 1B LK

el 5,000,000,000 HK$500,000  5,000,000,000 HK$500,000
Equivalent to HER RMB450,000 RMB450,000

Ordinary shares, issued and ERTRBEEBR:
fully paid:

At 1 January and R—A—BEk
31 December +-A=+-H 3,211,780,566 RMB276,727 3,211,780,566 RMB276,727




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BT ¥R IR

31 December 2019 H =
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

NFT=F ==
(BB BEBEIN

Q—?

AARESIE)

36.Reserves

(1)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share
premium is distributable.

General reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC, these PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer a
minimum of 10% of their distributable profits after taxation
based on their PRC statutory financial statements to the
general reserve fund until the balance of the fund is at
least half of the paid-in capital of the relevant subsidiaries.
The amounts allocated to this reserve are determined by the
respective boards of directors with reference to the
minimum requirement.

For the entities concerned, the general reserve fund can be
converted into capital in proportion to the equity holders’
existing equity holdings, provided that the balance after
such conversion is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of shares
allotted and issued over the subscription costs and share
options granted to employees of the Group.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
Group companies into the presentation currency. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2.4.

Other reserve

Other reserve mainly represents the differences between
considerations of acquisitions of equity interests from non-
controlling equity owners and the carrying amount of the
proportionate net assets.
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37.Notes to the consolidated statement of 3V.ZEEERERME

cash flows
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) BEXFRERH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to FRAEEREE  RELLHOEE
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,410,000 and ZHSREEREMERAEEE XA
RMB2,410,000, respectively, in respect of lease g8 E AR ¥2410000T & A R #
arrangements for plant and equipment and land (2018: 2,410,0007T (=& — N\ 4F : #&) -
Nil).
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEBELENEEEZE L
activities
Financial lease
Interest-bearing payables/Lease
borrowings liabilities
mEHEEN
FFEER NEHEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBF T
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NFt+-_HA=+—H 1,790,457 =
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 EMBE B EREERE 165
0 & = 2,410
At 1 January 2019 (restated) RZZT—hF—A—B((FF)) 1,790,457 2,410
Changes from financing cash flows MERESREMNEL 21,171 (1,149)
Interest expense MEEH — 127
At 31 December 2019 R-ZB-hF+-A=+—H 1,811,628 1,388
Interest-bearing Financial lease
Borrowings payables
FTREER HEAEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBEFIT
At 1 January 2018 R-T—NF—A—H 2,047,080 9,840
Changes from financing cash flows BERERENE (256,623) (9,840)

At 31 December 2018 —E-NFE+ZR=+—H 1,790,457 —
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37.Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
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3V.ZEBEERERMET @

R

(o HERSRHAER
2

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement HeREXRTPERENHERS TLAE
of cash flows is as follows: (N
2019
—E-AF
RMB’'000
AR®F T
Within financing activities REEEHH 1,149
38.Capital commitments 38. E AR

Capital commitments that relate to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment outstanding at 31 December 2019 and
2018 not provided for in the financial statements are as

ERBENE BEERRBR_-_ZF-—NLFR
“TE-N\FFT_A=+—HHABEAYR
EMBHREABENEAAFZNT

follows:
2019 2018
—z-ns EEEEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFT
Contracted but not provided for BRI A E R IR B 9,907 91,341
39.0perating lease commitments 39. X EHE AL

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payables
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

RZBE-NFE+ZA=+—H BRETAH
HEREEE ARASEENNREEEN
RABFIS

2018
—E-N\F
RMB’000
ARET T

Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 5 years

After 5 years hFi&

1,745

—FRERFA 745

864

3,354




188 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED & 85/R 2R AR A =

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R HI 5

31 December 2019 R=—ZE—AFE+=-HA=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A FERAE SN » LA A REEFIE)

40.Related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the financial statements, the Group had the following
material related party transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel receive compensation in the form
of salaries, housing and other allowances, benefits in kind,
discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions.
Details of key management personnel remuneration are
disclosed in note 9. Total remuneration is included in “staff
costs” as disclosed in note 7(a).

(b) Transactions with associates and entities controlled
by directors of the Company

40.F B H R 5
MR R EMED TR BENR S RAEHRIN
AEBENTERBAHB IS :

() TEEIEAB
TEEBABUFS  EEREMER -
EW A - BB TEA ROR RE &4 5
FRKEDEME T EZEBASHBMFE
Mo BB - Fr B AR B ATE T X
ZIXJ u$|EE B’ﬁu£7( ?&?Ec’

(b) EREE R B KRR R ESEPATIE I
ERZHEHNXS

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T N

Sales of goods to: HESm
the associates of the Group AN SE )R /N = 213
the entities controlled by the directors of RABEENEZNLRM
the Company or close family members EHIE R
of the directors 77 —
77 213
Purchases of goods and services from: MTINETBESER &R :
the entities controlled by the directors of RAREENESZHIIMARM
the Company or close family members PRl E A
of the directors 3,925 487

Note:

In the opinion of the directors, the transactions between the Group
and the related parties were conducted in the ordinary and usual
course of business and on normal commercial terms, and the
pricing terms were based on the prevailing market prices.

M RE -

E=RR/ AEEEAB T ZENRSEE
BEAEEBBRETREFTHEGIET  F
BIRFTDIRRERNTISER -
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40.Related party transactions (continued)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

(BR=HEBEN -
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AARESIE)

40.F B B R B (m)

2019 2018
- SR — T — \F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Trade and bills receivables: KRB SERIRE :
the associates of the Group NEBEBE QA 103 109
the entities controlled by the directors of RAAREZHNESHILBN
the Company or close family members = BB 88
of the directors 17 =
120 109
Prepayment and other receivables: A A RRIA e E Ath 8 Us FROE
the entities controlled by the directors of ARAREEXNESHIMBAN
the Company or close family members R E
of the directors 3,000 4,207
Trade payables: ENE SRR :
the entities controlled by the directors of RABIEENEZNLRM
the Company or close family members EHIE R
of the directors’ 340 32
Receipt in advance: B RIE
the entities controlled by the directors of RARABEEHNEETNAR
the Company or close family members Friz e B 48
of the directors = 6
Note: M aE
The above balances were unsecured, non-interest-bearing and LR AEERF - 2ERERERKEE &
repayable on demand. Trade receivables from and trade payables to Wk ENBBTNEZRFEREANEER

related parties were repayable or to be settled on the respective

credit terms.

REENKEME -
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41.Financial instruments by category MNEERETHNMBE IR
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RREPHEER  SEMBIEMNKEARE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as N
follows:
2019 —E-hEF
Financial assets MBEE

Financial assets

fair value
through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income amortised cost

AREEEB B H

Hin#R & Wk i B 7 51 R B9
MM BEEE MBEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR® TR AR®T R

Equity investments designated at BBEMES K=

fair value through other LARBEEEN
comprehensive income iR & 1,800 = 1,800
Trade and bills receivables EBWRESERRER 80,310 1,194,294 1,274,604
Financial assets included in FPATER IR - HAi
prepayments, other receivables JE U R 1B I Eth & BE
and other assets BB T & E = 33,966 33,966
Pledged deposits [RELEEREE N = 403,191 403,191
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEY — 396,854 396,854
82,110 2,028,305 2,110,415
Financial liabilities MEAaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
LA $8 5H BR 2K 5 iR
HWE I & & Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®B T
Trade and bills payables ERNEZERREE 1,502,624 1,502,624
Financial liabilities included in other &t A H #b & {f 7018 & E &t B X #9
payables and accruals (note 30) 5 7% & & (K #E30) 21,787 21,787
Interest-bearing borrowings ERITRAMEER 1,810,239 1,810,239

3,334,650 3,334,650
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41.Financial instruments by category (continued)

2018

Financial assets

(BB BEBEIN

AARESIE)

—E-N\F

M5 EE

Financial assets
fair value
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MEZEFRIATNTBITR@W

through other Financial
comprehensive assets at
income  amortised cost Total
ARBEBBR LA 88
HAib 4R & Wz B B R Y
BB TS & B MBEE HEt
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB‘000
ARBFT ARBTFT ARBFT
Equity investments designated at BB EMAR S W=
fair value through other A EEEER
comprehensive income & 7 1% & 2,430 — 2,430
Trade and bills receivables EWEZERRRE 213,893 1,269,830 1,483,723
Financial assets included in SFAFEREE - Ei
prepayments, other receivables FEUWGRIBE R H & &=
and other assets BB EE = 20,103 20,103
Pledged deposits [REEEREE = 425,309 425,309
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEY — 239,712 239,712
216,323 1,954,954 2,171,277
Financial liabilities MBaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
VA AR B 1R
WU BEE 4@t
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETTT AREF T
Trade and bills payables ENESERRER 1,441,065 1,441,065
Financial liabilities included in other & A B 4 & 1+ 30 T8 K JE 51 B X 49
payables and accruals (note 30) 7% & & (Mt 5E30) 68,685 68,685
Interest-bearing borrowings ERITRAMEBEER 1,790,457 1,790,457
3,300,207 3,300,207
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42.Fair value and fair value hierarchy of NRAFERAFEER

financial instruments

(a) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value
Measurement”. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs, i.e., unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs, i.e., observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available.

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs.

At 31 December 2019, the financial instruments of the
Group carried at fair value were equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and bills receivable.

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

AAREBEFENUHEERAE

N EER

TRINE T EREARIELEENE
®F - REBEFAVBRELENFEI3RQ
AREBEFAEIMAENDR=ZENATE
BEANemITANAIAEBE - AAEBE
STENRANDEEL2E L ERMF A
RN AENTHEEENES2ME  m
T

~
N\,

(a

o E—ERME: AnEBENGEEE
FAE—EREAME BN A HER
z;%fﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁé’w@*ﬁﬁﬁ

e BERME: AnBEMNEEMA
FE_ERBAE AELREE B
A BEGAE LETEAEX
NHBRNBAE - TAIERNEA
BERLEMSEHENBAE-

e BEERMEE: ARBENSER
REATABEENBAE-

HE_ZT-NWF+-_A=+—H &%
BELAAABEFENS BT AZRER
B UIHAETRARABEFELHE
Pt ARMGARENERMT A -ZF
@@?E%%Lﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ@@¢%%
-

TERREBTEEERTANRAAEER
EEAR:

Fair value measurements as at 31 December 2019 categorised into

R-ZB-AF+ZA=Z+-BWAAEESEDIER

Quoted prices in

Fair value at  active markets Significant other Significant
31 December for identical observable unobservable
2019 assets (Level 1) inputs (Level 2) inputs (Level 3)
R=ZB-N1& HEEEMN BEEWN EX
+t=ZBA=+-H EBTSEE HtUBEHA Gk 23PN
WRREE (BE—B&R) (B=EB&) (R=ZEB®R)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBEFT ARBEFTT ARBEFT ARBEFT
Financial assets HBEEE
Equity investments NRAREEFEEH
designated at fair value B RPN F
through other W R R E
comprehensive income 1,800 . — 1,800
Bills receivable e 80,310 — 80,310 —
82,110 — 80,310 1,800




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
ISR R B 5

31 December 2019 R=—T—AF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B A sEBAZE 4N » LA A REEFI(E)

42 Fair value and fair value hierarchy of
financial instruments (continued)

(b) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried
at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018.

43.Financial risk management objectives and
policies
The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s businesses. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’'s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
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43.Financial risk management objectives and 43.M K EREEE N REEX @

policies (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)

(@) FEERRE
&= B R & R B ()
R-F-—NFT-A=+—H

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2019

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 B
HHEE
18 2HEHCERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach
Bk B SE2M B EIWE  WLEE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR¥TR ARETnR ARETR AR%ETrR
Trade receivables* fEW B 5 B> = = — 1,286,963 1,286,963
Bills receivable et 2 %
— Not yet past due — I K 8 80,310 — — - 80,310
Financial assets included in MBEEERERN
prepayments and other BIE - REMTE
current assets BE
— Normal** — EFE** 350,476 == == C 350,476
— Doubtful** — REE** 6,800 — — — 6,800
Restricted deposits B #1147 5K
— Not yet past due — I AR 58 Hf 403,191 — — - 403,191
Cash and cash equivalents RekBES5EIER
— Not yet past due — 3 K #1 Hf 396,854 == == C 396,854
1,237,631 = = 1,286,963 2,524,594
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43.Financial risk management objectives and 43.Ff ¥ EMREEEH W RBE @

policies (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERK (&)
== A & F R (&)

R=ZF—NF+=-A=+—H

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2018

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
BEHEE
&8 >HEHEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
BB R FL2AE R EIER BEAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTRT ARBTRT
Trade receivables* &I E 5 BR = = — 1,387,746 1,387,746
Bills receivable e E &
— Not yet past due — W AR EH 213,893 = — = 213,893
Financial assets included in MBEED BIERN
prepayments and other FIE - RH R B
current assets BE
— Normal** — [EE** 240,935 — — — 240,935
— Doubtful** — RER** 6,800 — — — 6,800
Restricted deposits 2 1 77 5%
— Not yet past due — f AR g HY 425,309 — — — 425,309
Cash and cash equivalents RekAEEEEE
— Not yet past due — K@ H 239,712 — — — 239,712
1,126,649 — — 1,387,746 2,514,395

**

For trade receivables included in trade and bills receivable, to
which the Group applies the simplified impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note
23 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments and other current assets and financial assets
included in other non-current assets is considered to be
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills
receivable, and prepayments and other current assets are
set out in notes 23 and 25.

*x

RAREEAREBLCTEZZERES
R (BEEKESERERR ME R
IEBERRE Z BRI B B RS M 23R

Zo

ERARMNRIEA ERBEERMBEE
ExUBEEYESRBIEERET
MBEEBNSIERARZEERRD
Rig L - EEEEZWBERIER] -
BRI -MBEEZEREEZEBAAR/IR
Bl -

AEEEEEEREESEARER B

NRBEREMARBEEMELEZFER

S HER 2 E— S TEEED BRI BR
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43.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

As detailed in note 2.1, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB755,884,000 as at 31
December 2019. The liquidity of the Group is primarily
depending on its ability to maintain adequate cash flows
from operations, to renew its short-term bank loans and to
obtain adequate external financing to support its working
capital and meet its obligations and commitments when
they become due. Management is taking certain actions to
address these conditions in accordance with the Group's
policy of regularly monitoring its current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. These actions
include negotiating with banks to renew the short term
loans and to explore the availability of alternative sources of
financing. Further details of these actions and bank loans
concerned are set out in note 2.1.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group'’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

B EBEREERNREEE®

(b) MEBE 2R

B2l AEBR T —NF
T+ A=+ HMRDHABEBEERD
& N R ¥£755,884,0007T © 4~ £ B i &
BT EREENKCETHERBENEE
Rene BEEHRHETERERSE
HANBRENZFEELELES RRE
HEEITHEESERAENE D - BEX
EETHEREEHMBHERHESH
ERHBE EREBEEMRZSERFER
EFT1T78 UBRHEABTAWRESHEE
kASREMUEBNES AR ALEESR
B AENREHORBDEST K - %E
THREEBTETEIUENCHE
HEABEMRERE ZSETHRE
TEFNE—THFBRRKE2.1 -

TR AEEFHABERREMMEE
HEANBRTANER AHEMBEED
UMAFBRANRSRE (BRREADHT
XF(MBFRIRERSHRAEERE
ARG ENFENF) U RAEEEE
R RFAMELSER -
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43.Financial risk management objectives and 43.BM K EREEE N REEX @)
policies (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) mENE & E bR (45)

2019
“E-4
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AFREARER

More than More than
Carrying Within 1year but 2 years but

amount at 1 year or less than CRE More than
31 December on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
R+=A
=t-HHE —ERg Ba-% BBmE
KEE BE RERNR  EOREmE  BORIE BRLF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR AR%Txn

Short-term bank loans RHRTER 1,680,914 1,723,827 1,723,821 = = =
Long-term bank and other loans RAFTREMER 129,325 151,205 8,317 140,127 2,761 -
Trade and other payables ENEAERRAMERTE 1,524,562 1,524,562 1,524,562 - - -
3,334,801 3,399,594 3,256,706 140,127 2,761 =
2018
—Z-N
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ATBANTER

More than More than

Carrying Within 1 year but 2 years but
amount at 1 year or less than less than More than
31 December Total on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years

R+=A

=88 —ER BE-F BRME

BHE B%  RERAR  BORBE  BORIF BRLE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARBTRT ARETT ARETT  ARETX

Short-term bank loans BHRTER 1,773,140 1,835,383 1,835,383 — — —
Long-term bank and other loans REROTREMER 17317 18,385 — 7434 10,951 —
Trade and other payables ERESEARAMERFE 1,509,750 1,509,750 1,509,750 = = =

3,300,207 3,363,518 3,345,133 7434 10,951 -
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43.Financial risk management objectives and 43.Ff ¥ EMREEE W RBE @)

policies (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (c) F =&

Except for bank deposits and RMB wealth management
products with stable interest rates, the Group has no other
significant interest-bearing assets. Accordingly, the Group's
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. Details of
the effective interest rates for bank deposits are disclosed in
notes 26. The Group's interest rate risk arises mainly from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest rate risk, respectively. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its
interest rate risk.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

BREMNENRITFARAREENE
mih  AEEW BEMEKRGFEREE °
o REBNKRARKELHESREANK
ETEMENXEHTE - BRRITH
REBRMENFBRH 26 KE - A%
EWMNEREBREIEREEE - FERE
EREEEAEEDRAERSRAERE
@R A TFEMXERR A KB EES
TEMB T AL AN KEE

(i) FIEBER
TRFAVAEENRESHMEEDR
fEEFENF R -

2019 2018
“E-hE —Z-0\%
Effective Effective
interest rate GBS interest rate RMB'000
BERF= AR%TR ERME ARBTT
% %
Variable rate borrowings BEEE
Short-term bank and other loans EHRHMRITER 5.06 110,332 3.64 166,631
Fixed rate borrowings EEfEE
Short-term bank and other loans RHRHEBRTER 6.96 1,570,582 6.75 1,606,509
Long-term bank and other loans RRROREMER 2.26 129,325 3.86 17,317
1,699,907 1,623,826
Total borrowings REAR 1,810,239 1,790,457
Fixed rate borrowings as a EEEELEEARN
percentage of total borrowings Bl 93.9% 90.7%
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43.Financial risk management objectives and 43.Ff ¥ EMREEEH W RBE @
policies (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued) (o) =& = bz (48)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BREREDHN
The Group
xEH
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease) in

interest rate profit equity interest rate profit equity

MEEH/ HEEFER) HER Fl=t#,/ HEE(EE)/ HiEm

(F &) fEnge i (F&) MENTE -2

% RMB’'000 RMB’000 % RMB'000 RMB'000

AR%ETR INEL ARETFTT ARBEFTT

1 (1,103) (1,103) 1 (1,666) (1,666)

(1) 1,103 1,103 (1) 1,666 1,666
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the A EBRESTBT - RERF E 2
corresponding effects for the year and equity that REHREEREE WA XS
would have arisen assuming that the change in interest BEANE RTFENM KT A A
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period EOFERERN  AEBAXTER
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate BmrBIREgs  —E-N\FHM

risk for the financial instruments in existence at that EAERAEEHETT o

date. The analysis has been performed on the same
basis as 2018.

(d) Currency risk (d) ~INEE = fe

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through REBRZAIINERE - £ ZE R E KA
sales and purchases, bank loans and cash and bank H(NEZSHHENEBDEE B AN
deposits that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a EE)TEOHEE RRE  RITERAR
currency other than the functional currency of the RERBOHER - ELEZRABRHER X
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies ERET B B BERFET-
giving rise to this risk are primarily the United States Dollar, EREWAEHEREHSEKRTME
Euros, the Hong Kong Dollar, the Japanese Yen and the YE REAREBEFEABRP W
Chinese Yuan. Management does not expect any significant ) JINEE T (B FE 4 FE TS RIE o

impact from movements in exchange rates since the Group
uses the foreign currencies collected from customers to
settle the amounts due to suppliers.
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43.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(i)  Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position (after elimination of
intercompany receivables and payables) denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

B EBERREEENREBE®

(d) HMEE R B ()

(i) HMER R
TERFVAGEENBEHEEER
AYEEIME R - HME R R A E R
EREEBUIINEERENER
AR B MO R (R 35 2 B A 8 MoK
ARENFRAR) ERANEELRE
mEL -

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)

2019
“Z-AF

United
States Hong Kong Japanese
Dollars Euros Dollars Yens
N B7n it A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB*000

HERBAARBIIE)
2018
2N\
United
Chinese States Hong Kong Japanese Chinese
Yuan Dollars Euros Dollars Yens Yuan
AR®TR N BT % BE  ARER

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARMTZ ARETE ARBTR ARETZ PNGKSOHUN:ESANNSSSNPN:L S OANPN:L S

Trade and other ERESEAR
receivables LGS - 80,399 29 - - 4183 6,953 — — —

Coshathanksandon ~ HARFERSE
hand 1,147 16,966 1,001 643 34,985 19,192 1,834 1,309 6 479
Bank and other loans RORERER (179,292) (13,939) - = (120,000) (195,999) (10,124) - - (120,000

Trade and other ERESEAR
payables Ehfefsa (212) (1,324) - - - (207) (459) — (749) —
(178,357) 82,102 1,030 643 (85,015) (172,871) (1,796) 1,309 (743) (119,521)
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43.Financial risk management objectives and 43.Ff ¥ EMREEEH W RBE @
policies (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d) &NEE = B ()
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BREREDHN
The following table indicates the instantaneous change TRETAEERNNREHHEAEH
in the Group’s profit/(loss) for the year and HEAEZESEXNRERBOEZTEHRE
accumulated losses in equity in response to reasonably BEE MBAEEFEENBE (5
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to BIhEmZBEEELRENAIREZ
which the Group has significant exposure at the end of g o

the reporting period.

2019 2018
—g-h& EF My
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in foreign Increase/ Increase/ in foreign Increase/ Increase/

exchange (decrease) (decrease) exchange (decrease) (decrease)

[E1C] in profit in equity rates in profit in equity

ExL# HEEFNE/ HER EBx 7 HEEHE/ R

(T (BRIKNXE o7 (T®)/ (BBR)HFE %

% RMB’'000 RMB'000 % RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR®BTxR ARBTT ARBTT

United States Dollars E 10 (17,898) (17,898) 10 (17,287) (17,287)

(10) 17,844 17,844 (10) 17,287 17,287

Euros BT 10 8,343 8,343 10 (35) (35)

(10) (8,343) (8,343) (10) 35 35

Hong Kong Dollars Vet 10 66 66 10 131 131
(10) (66) (66) (10) (131) (131)

Japanese Yens =RE] 10 (68) (68) 10 (74) (74)

(10) 68 68 (10) 74 74

Chinese Yuans ARETL 10 (8,502) (8,502) 10 (11,952) (11,952)

(10) 8,502 8,502 (10) 11,952 11,952
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in BREREIMIIBREE KRB EBESE
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure BEENTEAEEMBESHER
those financial instruments (excluding intercompany s BRI A E B AR SMNE R /Y %
receivables and payables which are eliminated in the EHMBITECIRREReNBEHRESP
consolidated financial statements) held by the Group 8 8~ A RE UK IE ROFE R
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the BH) DM TRERASBEYBHRE
end of the reporting period. The analysis excludes RELREMEKMEEANERE - =T
differences that would result from the translation of —N\ENDIT R AER B EEET

the financial statements of Group companies into the
presentation currency. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis as 2018.
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43.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing
ratio as total borrowings to the total of share capital and
reserves.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were as

BEBERESERNREBE®

(e) E2EIE

A B R R A A
1 BT T A B 7 K PSR I 9
B TR AR B 3 AR T 4R 4 0 (B 9% AR
7% o B BLS T4 - 3 AT R 9
CUELY -V

AEBNEEABLREREERERE -
RUME ARESEERBLEES
RIEERBRTEERARFEREOL X -

RZE—NEFER_E—NF+_A=+—

follows: HOWEEAGBLERWDOT :
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-NEF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B & AR®T T AR F T
Current liabilities: REBAE:
Bank and other loans RITREMER 28 1,680,914 1,773,140
1,680,914 1,773,140
Non-current liabilities: IEREBEE:
Bank and other loans RITREMER 28 129,325 17,317
129,325 17,317
Total borrowings EEHRE 1,810,239 1,790,457
Share capital & AR 276,727 276,727
Reserves B 156,967 438,999
433,694 715,726
Gearing ratio EERELE 417.4% 250.2%

AREREARKER B HBAETI
SN EARBRE °

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.
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44.Events after the reporting period 44 EBREIER
Given the dynamic circumstances and uncertainties across the BB 37 AL AR R B ([ COVID-191) 1% 3 A A ik
global markets to be recovered from the outbreak of the EHZEMSNBEBEARTEEL  BE
coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19"), as of the reporting HERAWAREAEEEERESATNZE -
date, there was no material adverse effect on the financial EAEBBEEZY B TEERBITEES
statement as a result of the outbreak. However, the Group will BHERARRANTE  URBENAEEE
continue to closely monitor the development of the situation BT _ZFHNPHARFEMBHRRS -

and accordingly evaluate the impact on the financial position
and performance, which will be reflected in the Group’s 2020
interim and annual financial statements.

45.Statement of financial position of the 45.7 1 7] B 3 AR R &
Company
Information about the statement of financial position of the RBESHHEEBARARARPBRIROER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: m
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%®T T ARBTFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBARMEE 1,479,472 1,437,513
1,479,472 1,437,513
Current assets REBEE
Cash at banks and on hand WITRFHERE 1,631 872
1,631 872
Current liabilities RENEE
Other payables H b fE A FRIE 16,820 9,894
16,820 9,894
Net current liabilities REEETFE (15,189) (9,022)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERABEE 1,464,283 1,428,491
Net assets EEZEE 1,464,283 1,428,491
Capital and reserves EXRf#E
Share capital % < 276,727 276,727
Reserves (note) fr# & (P =2) 1,187,556 1,151,764

Total equity EREE 1,464,283 1,428,491
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45.Statement of financial position of the 45. 7 A Bl BF B AR R &k (@)
Company (continued)
Note: B 5
Share Exchange Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
B 42 5 8 R RitEE ERAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Balance at 1 January 2018 R=—Z-NF¥—-—A—H

HY 45 8% 1,731,645 (64,978) (594,666) 1,072,001
Changes in equity for 2018: —E-N\FHEZEE:
Loss for the year FEBE — — (5,491) (5,491)
Other comprehensive income Htz2mKA = 85,254 = 85,254
Total comprehensive income 2HEHKAERE — 85,254 (5,491) 79,763
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-ZZB-NE

+TZA=t+—-HHWER 1,731,645 20,276 (600,157) 1,151,764
Balance at 1 January 2019 R=-ZE-N&E—-HB—H

iy &5 88 1,731,645 20,276 (600,157) 1,151,764
Changes in equity for 2019: “E-hFHEREE:
Loss for the year FEEE = = (5,506) (5,506)
Other comprehensive income Hip2mBA — 41,298 — 41,298
Total comprehensive income 2HEHRABE = 41,298 (5,506) 35,792
Balance at 31 December 2019 R-ZZB-1E

+tZA=+—-BH&EH 1,731,645 61,574 (605,663) 1,187,556

46.Approval of the financial statements 46. 1t B 7 ) &

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue EECeOR T EF A=+ —BREL

by the board of directors on 31 March 2020. AT WK -
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